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Company Profile
AT EN

BYD Company Limited (“BYD” or “the Company” together with its  thand@ RO ER ARG ([thips k[ A AR ] - ERE
subsidiaries, “the Group”; stock code: 01211.HK, 002594.S7) is principally ~ HiE@ 2 Rl [ 13k f
engaged in automobile business which mainly includes new energy 01211 : Ajg : O
vehicles, handset components and assembly services, rechargeable B % - F#E
batteries and photovoltaics business. Meanwhile, with its technological %5 ' R FIH &
superiority, the Group actively develops urban rail transportation business ~ #%81 °

segment.

As a pioneer and leader in the global new energy vehicle industry, relying  {EAZ BRI AEITELITEMBEES  EEEHEA
on its strong technological accumulation in the fields of power batteries, ~ B &M - B - EE%%WE’W&T&VME% @i@&
motors and electronic control and through continuous technological  flTEVIFEAIFT @ ITEH RS « AIHENZLRFEDS -
innovation, the Group has developed its long-term and sustainable core  BE7F 7 AREE R 2 ER¥TALIR T H T T%E’]vé%ﬁﬂu - hnER
competitive advantages which established the leading position of the — &) ERTEFEEERIFHHER -

Group in the global new energy vehicle industry and accelerated the

transformation and upgrade of the global automobile industry.

BYD is one of the leading rechargeable battery manufacturers in the global ~ AREE AR IRELN X T BEWEER 2 — ° B
arena. As to the field of consumer batteries, the Group’s li-ion batteries are B8, - AEEEEMER TEHEZEARS
widely used in various consumer electronics products and new intelligent BiEETER LT EEERAL  TE2E2FH
products, major clients of which include leading consumer electronics 2  Dell & BB E 7 & MBS - L REHIRHTE
manufacturers such as Samsung and Dell, as well as global leading fﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁ@#&%%/\?}%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&% g E LA,
professional robot brands such as Ecovacs. As to the field of power S£EMZE T HELTEMBREESH - [ B -
batteries, the Group has developed “Blade Batteries”, the highly safe LFP  {F @R mis L 2 Eeh - R EENELFH NS
batteries, to better meet the urgent demand of safety in the market, and T REE  FAEEMBLE  AEBEEHEFHE - TE:
to speed up the pace of LFP batteries returning to the mainstream market &gt * RERMESEAEEHE N - ARFPIRHEEINE)
of power batteries. As to the field of energy storage batteries, the Group — AJ3FERRREEEIR TR ©

focuses on applications such as power grid energy storage, industrial
and commercial energy storage and household energy storage to provide
cleaner and more sustainable energy storage solutions to customers.

As an important move of the Group in the field of clean energy, the  HXREBIEAREBEEREFRATNERHBEZ —
photovoltaics business has a complete industrial chain layout covering AW A -« i f -« SREMH - ¢ k??ﬁfrﬁﬁﬁigﬁ
silicon wafer, solar cells, photovoltaic modules and photovoltaic system — $## /5 » ST@EREBU - TR ER H‘JXWE&EE o 7K
application, etc. It connects all processes from energy collection, storage £ BTG BEHlT - HBE R TEF AL

to application. The Group will proactively develop new technologies to

promote the continuous upgrade of its products.

As a global leading high-end platform-based manufacturing enterprise, {EAZ BN F AR SmEEEBRmE  AEE A
the Group provides world-renowned customers with one-stop services BB EFIREFM LB « ERRHEFE  THM
including new materials development, product design, research and MBS HEEEE Rk EES RS
development, components and machine manufacturing, supply chain  EMEESEEFHE - FIREK - HeERF - EEEEMSF -
management, logistics, after-sales and other etc. The Group engages in  #EA# - WG4 - A - BERK  BEEERES
diversified market segments, such as smart phones, tablet computers,  ZJL{LHMTHEE - RElNREEEEAENFEE QA
smart home devices, game hardware, drones, Internet of Things, robots,  AIAAZRFIRHE2EHRYE - EHRMEH R RO ET
communication equipment and medical and health equipment. The IS TEIE{HFTER -

competence of the Company in highly vertical integration enhances its

ability to provide customers with a full range of services, and quickly and

efficiently respond to changing demands.

Urban rail transportation business is an important area for the Group’s T8 E R B ES R A E B AR RERAEKEE 72— ©
future development. With its technology and cost advantages in the area  BFEEFAEREB B E S E T R A EZ -
of new energy, the Group has successfully developed medium-capacity — BRI HSBCE - KA P ES[EH]FEE
“SkyRail” and low-capacity “SkyShuttle” with high efficiency and low cost, E[ZEIEM @ AR TEZFHER T ALRAEN
which, together with new energy vehicles, achieves the three-dimensional 7 E{LEZ - EE B M AR BHEE N ZER )52 A
coverage of urban public transportation, and drives the long-term and B » EHEEMNRELAFEERE -

sustainable development of the Group while helping alleviate urban traffic
jam and air pollution.
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BYD Company Limited
LeEER B BRA R

Financial Highlights

MBERE

FIVE-YEAR COMPARISON OF KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES I H&IXEBHEIE L&

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—-BLHEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-- T —F ZZTZTF ZE-NEF ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT ARETRT ARETRT AR%TT
Revenue e 424,060,635 216,142,395 156,597,691 127,738,523 130,054,707
Gross profit Sl 72,244,955 28,144,706 30,346,311 20,814,235 21,329,364
Gross profit margin (%) EHME(%) 17 13 19 16 16
Profit attributable to owners [SYNEIEZ PPN
of the parent FEE =T 16,622,448 3,045,188 4,234,267 1,614,450 2,780,194
Net profit margin (%) SEFE R (%) 3.9 1.4 2.7 1.3 2.1
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—%=-= —F=— —EIFFE —E-NF ZF-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR
Net assets (less non- FEAEE
controlling interests) (FOBRIEIERRAERS) 111,029,299 95,069,671 56,874,274 56,762,289 55,198,289
Total assets BERE 493,860,646 295,780,147 201,017,321 195,641,593 194,571,077
Gearing ratio (%) (Note) BERAELE(%)
(Htaz) -26 -15 69 124 104
Current ratio (times) &b R (%) 0.72 0.97 1.05 0.99 0.99
Receivables turnover JFE SHE SR T 3 B R
(days) (Note) (B) (bt5) 53 95 135 175 172
Inventory turnover (days) FEREXE(H) 64 73 83 89 78

Note:

Gearing ratio = Total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents/

net assets (less minority interests)

Receivables include trade receivables, contract assets and
receivables financing.

ERE -

Hiat: BRABLE-REEHNRESLREEEE
W),/ FEEER DB R ER)

EUREFEBSREER - AREE - BUK



Annual Report 2022
SECCEER

Financial Highlights
MBERE

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY PRODUCT CATEGORIES RERERBINEXR

@ Mobile handset components, assembly service and \. 23.30% \. 40.00%
other products
FHERM - AERHMER

@ Automobiles and related products, and other products 20 2021
A TEMEERRAMESR

76.57%" 59.66%"

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY LOCATIONS OF REFEMEI S HNE X

CUSTOMERS

21.57% , —m 295
/ \ 78.43% o 70.43%
@ PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan)
PR (BEERAME)

@ Overseas
RN

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
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BYD Company Limited
LeEER B BRA R

Corporate Information

DNEEH
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Wang Chuan-fu
Li Qian

LEGAL ADDRESS

No. 1 Yan’an Road
Kuichong Sub-district
Dapeng New District
Shenzhen
Guangdong Province
The PRC

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1712, 17th Floor

Tower 2 Grand Central Plaza

No. 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road
New Territories

Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR AND MEDIA RELATIONS CONSULTANT

iPR Ogilvy Ltd.

Tel: (852) 2136 6185

Fax: (852) 3170 6606
Email: byd@iprogilvy.com

WEBSITE

www.bydglobal.com

STOCK CODE

H Shares: 01211 (The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Hong Kong Stock Exchange”))
A Shares: 002594 (Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“SZSE”))
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BYD Company Limited
LeEER B BRA R

Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
BYD Company Limited (“BYD” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”,
the “Reporting Period” or the “Period”) to you.

In 2022, the global economy faced severe challenges due to the
turbulent international geopolitical landscape. With increased volatility
of commodity markets, rising energy price, as well as constant
inflationary pressures, there was a significant volatility in the global
economy and financial markets. China was also affected by the
complex external environment, and saw slight rebound in its economy
with the annual GDP only growing 3% year-on-year under the “triple
pressures” of shrinking demand, supply shock and weakening
expectations, as well as “black swan” events such as power rationing
due to high temperatures.

The automobile industry in China encountered a number of difficulties
and challenges. A structural shortage of chips, high price of raw
materials slowed down the supply of automobiles, and the automobile
consumption demand was also suppressed. To deal with the
difficulties, a series of policies were introduced by the government
to stimulate automobile consumption, and the whole industry
guaranteed the production and delivery of automobile with joint
efforts. The automobile market gradually recovered month by month
amid adversity, demonstrating strong resilience. The sales volume of
automobiles had reached 26.864 million units throughout the year,
representing a year-on-year increase of 2.1%. In particular, the new
energy vehicle continued to achieve an explosive growth with a sales
volume of 6.887 million units throughout the year, representing a
year-on-year increase of 93.4%. China has ranked first in the world
in terms of the sales volume of new energy vehicle for eight years in
a row, with penetration rate of new energy vehicles during the year
reaching 25.6%, representing a significant year-on-year increase
of 12.1 percentage points. This marked that China’s new energy
vehicles have entered a period of full market expansion. In terms
of rechargeable batteries, the demand for traditional consumer
electronics products saw a significant slowdown, which affected
the demand for upstream batteries. The energy storage industry
experienced a rapid development due to a strong market demand.
As for the photovoltaics industry, under the backdrop of achieving the
“dual carbon” goal and global energy transformation, and driven by
the scale development of the industry, there was an explosive growth
in demand for photovoltaics, which drove the rapid development
of the industry. In terms of smart terminals, the development of
global smartphone industry was still sluggish, the demand for
laptops declined significantly, and there was also a slight decline
in the shipments of tablet computers. However, with the increasing
popularity of 5G and artificial intelligence technologies, the bright
prospect of application will drive the fast growth of the market scale of
new intelligent products.

BEAIRR -

AABRER LA ABRAR (@] AR
ADRAEMBAR GBI ARE] TSENEFER
EURRRERNEEHBEZE T __F+_A=+—
BIEFETEA]  IREHAIKIERD) 2 F5H -

ZECF  BEHERBEE  EREELTER
ke - KRmmmBEE A - sEREREF -
FEEEBREENFE  SIB2HEENSRT S AR
WE) o MBI EIEAINTIREZE - (FRERNE
SoRkUHE - MAEHE  TEHESNIZERN NS
BREEEIBRIBIEH  PRLAEBRE 20K
NEELER L EEK3.0% °

FRABETEmMRESZRNERE  SHREBER
BB RERESTT  RERGIHHERE
AEEEBEERIAZENES c BHEE  HFH AR
PIREE - RIBUAEEE 27X HRAZ T REA
BAEEMRZNM  REMBESE T EABERALT
BIRE @AM 2FTHEIHEE2,686.45H
BEER2.1% - Hih - FaeR/ABEFE RS
K 2FH2E0688.78H @ RILLIEREIZI 4% -
BEN\FMAUERRE— 2F2FERE256% ' [
LERERA1ABE DS - ZHEP BRI TE
PEEATEMESHEER - AT EEMWHE - &
REBEETERMRRBERE - EHFEMTFIIN
RHE MBS MG HEREE  (TERRE
ReHdRFE EIEHRIBEEREHREREANNE
ST IETERELCBREHES  XREREE
BEEEEREEAREE  SRmELSIE - 2
REREFMITERE RN SR AEIFE KM IRA

BRPIMEMRABE R - EAMERATRSIEHE
BREEMMZRRMRIER -



For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group realized an
operating revenue of RMB424,061 million, representing an increase
of 96.20%. The earnings attributable to the owners of the parent
company were RMB16,622 million, up 445.86%, with the earnings
per share of RMB5.71. The Board suggested to distribute an ending
dividend of RMB1.142 per share (tax-inclusive).

As a pioneer and leader in the global new energy vehicle industry,
the Group actively responded to the national call for “Dual-Carbon”.
During the year, the Group has announced the suspension of the
production of fuel-engine vehicles and focused on the development of
new energy vehicle business. At the same time, the Group achieved
a comprehensive explosive development in the new energy vehicle
business due to its precise strategic layout and profound technology
advancement, returning to the No. 1 position in the global sales of
new energy vehicles, and taking the first place in China’s new energy
vehicle sales for ten consecutive years.

In the field of new energy passenger vehicles, relying on technology
innovation and application, during the year, the Group’s sales volume
of new energy passenger vehicles continued to rise and secured the
leading position in terms of the sales volume of passenger vehicles
in China, achieving a record high. The Group adheres to developing
battery electric vehicles and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles at the
same time, and has successively launched disruptive technologies
such as “Blade Batteries”, “DM-i Super Hybrid”, “e-Platform 3.0",
“CTB Cell-to-Body Integration” and “DM-p Hybrid” to achieve leapfrog
business development and promote technology reform in the new
energy vehicle industry.

Annual Report 2022
SECCEER

Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

BE-_Z-—F+-_A=1+—BLLEE Xx&£H
BEE A ANREA24 061BE T L7196.20% °
REHAEANEREFNABARK16,622HB8 L - £F
445.86% F ERBFMAARKES 71T - EFEEE
IR B R ARE11427T(BFH) »

AEBER/ZIRIERTETELATEMNRES
EREREREHRIFE  RFASMELMEE
EELE BEMERAIBEEHTER - AR B
BENBEGBERENSMER  NEBEERHA
RERAEXEBNEEBRE  BRESZHMERA
EHERE  MEBTFRETEMERIEHE
E—BE-

FEX SRR M SR A o B4 B A T
B ERHEHTEA  URATERAEHRES
—WED - ATELHE « AEESHAEHNGE
EXRADNIFKE  BSE] - BREETIA
Bt) - [DM-IBAURS) - [eF43.0] - [CTBELE
5 — L RDM-pT & R85 A M R - B 7
AREBEREBABRE  RDNLRTETER
e -
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BYD Company Limited
LeEER B BRA R

Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

The Group’s passenger vehicle business has gradually formed
a multi-brand hierarchical deployment. The Group is constantly
expanding new paths and developing new growing momentum to
bring the Group’s new energy vehicle business to a new level. As the
Group'’s first passenger vehicle brand, the “BYD” brand has gradually
formed two series of products, including the “Dynasty” series named
after dynasties and the “Ocean” series named after “Marine Life” and
“Fleet”. The “Dynasty” series consists of five family products of “Han”,
“Tang”, “Song”, “Qin” and “Yuan”. In April, the “Han” family introduced
“DM-i Super Hybrid” and “DM-p Hybrid” versions, driving “Han”
series sales volume to record highs; the “Tang” fully upgraded its new
models during the year, with the sales volume far ahead of the sales in
the medium/large SUV market; the monthly sales of the “Song” family
continued to rise, ranking the first by the CPCA in terms of the retail
sales of the model for the year; the “Qin PLUS” sales volume topped
the A-class sedan market, which put an end to the monopoly of joint
venture brands; the “Yuan PLUS”, the first A-class SUV equipped with
the “e-Platform 3.0”, has seen rapid growth in sales since its launch.
In addition, among the “Ocean” series, “Dolphin”, first equipped with
the “e-Platform 3.0”, ranked first in the AO market in terms of sales
volume; the battery electric Sports Activity Coupé “Seal”, equipped
with the first “CTB Cell-to-Body Integration” technology, was officially
launched in July. The sales of this model have seen rapid rise,
exceeding 10,000 units for three consecutive months; “Destroyer 05”
and “Frigate 07" were also launched one after another during the year,
which further completed the Group’s product matrix.

Following the “BYD” brand, the “Denza” brand was officially renewed
in May, striving to meet the diversified needs of consumers in the
new era and comprehensively shape a new luxury product matrix.
“Denza D9”, the first model under the new “Denza” brand, secured
a great amount of orders since its launch in August. In addition,
equipped with disruptive and unique technologies, a new high-end
brand “Yangwang” was born to explore the new energy market of a
million price range. “Yangwang” will reshape the values of the high-
end brand in the new energy era and strengthen the Group’s brand
influence in the high-end market.

The Group has been actively developing the overseas markets while
securing its leading position in the domestic market. It accelerated the
development of the markets in Europe, Asia Pacific and the Americas,
ranking among the top sellers in various markets. The first overseas
passenger vehicle plant wholly invested by the Group was also
officially landed in Thailand in September, steadily rooted in the global
new energy market.

Under the guidance of the market-oriented strategy, the Group
actively carried out external cooperation, industrial investment and
capital operation, aiming to promote the long-term, sustainable and
healthy development of the Group.

AEBEFRBEEREZLVKRE REHEMRRD - TE
MERAIRIE - BRABEE - HTESKEHERAE
EBMFEE o [t miEEAAREEE ERA
B BFRT ARG R EHRZTIR A
eFEY I RIER]SRNIEFIRIEMART
Ean e [EHIRIIETHANR]  TER] - [R] - [R]
MITTIRAARGAER © [E 00 A In#EDM-iEE AR
g [DM-pEERBIMRA - BYHDE IR IKELH
ERAFS  ([BIFAFTREEAL  HEEESR
SR ARBISUVITS  [RIRKRABIBERT @ K&
KM FENTEHERE | [RPLUSHTIAR
WEMSE AR [TTPLUSHERESI[e T &
BOJHERARMSUVE LM RHEREIRR - It
S TBFIRDIF - BRI EEEHIeTFE3.0] - 13
BAQEMIZHETE « BHEICTBEMHE & — i1 Il
MAESEBRIENINECALA LT HER
HET EBE=—EAHERS - [REEE0S] - [EF
BO7TI N EFEREE LT E— P EEAREERRE
[

MTasa | migi - (2 mERN A A EA KR
BHARNBMRFIKRBBENZ TR R > 2702
EHREEMEE - 2 BE ImETHEREL
[EEDIIAN\HA EWARETEANE « I HEE
WRMOEST - 2 emm@MPEIZEmE
LA E S8 5 1) 3 T BT B h B B AR BER ™ 5 o [
ZIHELHERERTHAEEES  LaAE
BESHTISHNMETET -

AEBERANNKBEENRKGBRGRHEINTS
IRFEHREN - BX - ENZEZEMENTS @ B
BZEAMISHHERT - AEER2EREZNEEEI
FRAEIRANNAERERREN  HhREIE
B2 -

EmSCBRES T AEBBEGHESEINAE -
EXERE BEXRBEEFEITHEBER  REAKE
R 58 REER-



In terms of rechargeable batteries, product R&D and capacity
expansion went smoothly during the year, which contributed to
the steady development of the traditional battery business and the
constant expansion of the energy storage business. In addition, while
securing our own power battery supply, the Group also continued
to actively explore external customers and achieved satisfying
achievements during the year. In respect of the photovoltaic business,
under the guidance of the “dual carbon” goal, the Group accelerated
new technology R&D.

With respect to the handset components and assembly segment, the
Group is a global leading high-end platform-based manufacturing
enterprise. With industry-leading R&D and manufacturing strength,
diversified product portfolio and abundant customer resources, the
Group’s business advances steadily toward high quality development.
In terms of consumer electronics, the Group continued to deepen its
strategic cooperation with major customers to consolidate its leading
position in the industry. During the year, new intelligent product
business witnessed a good development trend.

Looking ahead, 2023 is the opening year to thoroughly implement
the spirit of the 20th CPC National Congress to insist on “pursuing
progress while ensuring stability”. China will also intensify its efforts to
boost domestic demand and stimulate consumption, thus driving the
growth of its economy. At the same time, policy support is expected
to continue to be launched, which will create a good environment
for the development of new energy vehicles. In 2023, new energy
vehicles are expected to continue its strong growth momentum. The
penetration rate is also expected to make significant breakthroughs.

With regard to the automobiles business, the Group will strengthen
the independency and controllability of its core technologies, improve
product delivery capacity, persistently promote brand construction,
launch more competitive products, maintain its leading position in the
new energy vehicle industry, and help Chinese local brands to lead
the global electrification trend.

In order to achieve market-oriented operation, the Group will proceed
to cultivate more market-competitive businesses, so as to further
unleash the development potential of each business segment and
enhance the overall value of the Group. In addition, the Group will
integrate its own business characteristics, continue to make strategic
investments to deploy in the core areas of the industry chain, empower
each other with the strategic partners at upstream and downstream
of the industry chain, push forward the Group’s marketization
process and accelerate the transformation and upgrade of the global
automobile industry.

Annual Report 2022
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BYD Company Limited
LeEER B BRA R

Chairman’s Statement

EREBRES

In terms of rechargeable batteries, the Group will actively promote the
application of the innovative technologies, further expand its customer
base and business coverage, and facilitate sustainable development
of relevant businesses. In terms of photovoltaics business, the Group
will actively grasp the development trend of the industry, focus on
technology R&D, promote product transformation and upgrading, to
usher in the explosive growth opportunities of the industry.

For the handset components and assembly business, the Group will
proactively capture market opportunities, put more efforts on the R&D
of core technologies, enhance its vertical integration advantage and
cultivate further cooperation with major customers. While maintaining
its position as the industry leader in traditional business, the Group will
expand product range, and continue to increase investment in R&D,
to empower the Group’s long-term business development. In terms of
consumer electronics business, the Group will continue to strengthen
its comprehensive competitive advantages and further consolidate
its leading position in the market. In terms of new intelligent product
business, with the advancement of 5G and artificial intelligence
technology, the market scale of new intelligent products will continue
to grow. There will be a broad development prospect in the fields
of smart home devices, game hardware and drones where we have
laid forward-looking presences. The Group will accelerate project
cooperation with domestic and overseas customers to drive the
business scale to reach a new high.

The Group will adhere to its development strategy, insist on
technological innovation and strengthen the independency and
controllability of its core technologies, launch more competitive
products, help achieve the “dual-carbon” goal, and implement the
concept of green, low-carbon and sustainable development with
diversified green transportation solutions. At the same time, the Group
will actively promote market-oriented development and build a win-win
ecosystem through industrial cooperation in an attempt to achieve the
long-term prosperity and long-lasting development of the Group and
make the Group a century-old industrial enterprise in China.
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Lastly, on behalf of the Group, | would like to express sincere gratitude
to our loyal customers for their persistent support. | also give my
heartfelt thanks to all business partners, investors and shareholders
for their trust. Besides, | would like to present my heartfelt gratitude to
all staff for their consistent hard work and contribution in the past year.
The Group will build on past achievements and keep pace with the
times, seize market opportunities and leverage its own advantages to
promote the long-term healthy development of the Group, therefore,
maximize returns for shareholders.

Wang Chuan-fu
Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC, 28 March 2023
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INDUSTRY ANALYSIS AND REVIEW
Automobiles and Batteries Business

2022 experienced a turbulent international geopolitical landscape,
increased volatility of commodity markets, rising energy price, energy
shortages in Europe and disrupted economic activities. At the same
time, constant inflationary pressures and accelerated tightening
of monetary policies of developed economies have resulted in a
significant volatility in the global economy and financial markets,
exerting an impact on emerging economies. China was also affected
by the complex external environment. China’s macro economy came
under the “triple pressures” of shrinking demand, supply shock and
weakening expectations, coupled with “black swan” events such as
power rationing due to high temperatures, which has slowed down
the economic recovery in China, exhibiting a trend of slight rebound.
According to the data released by the National Bureau of Statistics,
the annual GDP in 2022 grew at a slower pace, with a year-on-year
increase of only 3.0%.

In 2022, the automobile industry in China encountered a number of
difficulties and challenges. A structural shortage of chips, high price
of raw materials slowed down the supply of automobiles, and the
automobile consumption demand was also suppressed. In the face
of supply and demand difficulties, the government has promulgated
a series of policies to stabilize growth and promote consumption, with
the aim of stimulating automobile consumption through consumer
subsidies, halving purchase tax, and other measures. The entire
industry also made joint efforts in response to the tight supply chain
to ensure automobile production and delivery. The automobile market
gradually recovered month by month amid adversity and achieved a
positive growth throughout the year, demonstrating strong resilience
as a cornerstone to stabilize industrial economic growth. According to
the statistics from the China Association of Automobile Manufacturers,
the production and sales volume of automobiles in China were 27.021
million units and 26.864 million units in 2022, representing a year-on-
year increase of 3.4% and 2.1%, respectively. In particular, the market
of new energy vehicle continued to achieve an explosive growth. In
2022, the production and sales volume of new energy vehicles in
China were 7.058 million units and 6.887 million units, representing a
year-on-year increase of 96.9% and 93.4%, respectively. China has
ranked first in the world in terms of production and sales for eight
years in a row in the new energy vehicle market. The penetration rate
of new energy vehicles of the year amounted to 25.6%, representing a
significant year-on-year increase of 12.1 percentage points, signifying
that China’s new energy vehicles have entered a period of full market
expansion. During the Period, leveraging the rapid development of
new energy vehicles, the competitiveness of Chinese local brands
has increased significantly. A variety of products have been launched
through continuous technological innovation and breakthroughs,
attracting the attention and interest of consumers and increasing the
market share of Chinese local brands in the increasingly competitive
market.
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New energy vehicles are the main focus for the transformation and
development of the global automobile industry, and an important
driver behind sustainable growth of the world economy. In addition,
the development of new energy vehicles is one of the important ways
to achieve the objectives of the “peak carbon dioxide emissions in
2030 and carbon neutrality in 2060”". In April 2022, the State Council
issued the Opinions on Further Unleashing the Potential of Consumer
Spending and Promoting the Sustained Recovery of Consumption
(KEARE—TBIOEBE N BEBRHEMENER)), which clearly
stated the quality development of green consumption and active
promotion of green lifestyles to support the rapid development of new
energy vehicles. In May, the Ministry of Finance issued the Opinions
on Financial Support for Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality (<87
=R AR EIE R P 1 THERE R.)), which maintains the collaborative
promotion of carbon emission reduction, pollution reduction, green
expansion and growth to help achieve the “dual-carbon” goal. In
September, three government authorities including the Ministry of
Finance jointly issued the Announcement on Continuation of Policies
for Exemption of Vehicle Purchase Tax on New Energy Vehicles (%
RIEEF R AERBERBEHRBERANAE)), extending the period
of exemption of vehicle purchase tax on new energy vehicles to 31
December 2023 in an attempt to promote the consumption of new
energy vehicles and facilitate stable market growth. In November,
the Ministry of Finance issued the Notice on the Advancement of
Issuing the Budget for Energy Conservation and Emissions Reduction
Subsidies in 2023 (KB IR AT T 3E2023F e R HF BN B ©TAE R
A1), providing subsidies and incentives for the promotion and
application of new energy vehicles and the construction of charging
infrastructure to fully support the sustainable and quality development
of the new energy vehicle industry and encourage green travel.

In terms of rechargeable batteries, the continuous decline in the
traditional consumer electronics industry in 2022 resulted in a
significant slowdown in the demand for products and affected
the demand for upstream batteries. The energy storage industry
experienced a rapid development due to a strong market demand
and continuous improvement in business models. As for the
photovoltaics industry, under the guidance of the “dual carbon” goal
and global energy transformation, the industry continued to achieve
costs reduction and efficiency improvement due to the promotion of
technological innovation, product upgrade and scale development.
The explosive growth in the demand for photovoltaics contributed to a
significant year-on-year increase in installed capacity. Such booming
development has led to a strong growth in the industry.
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Handset Components and Assembly Business

In 2022, the global smart phone demand remained sluggish with
declining shipments due to the stagnant macro economy, high
inflation and weak consumer demand. According to the statistics from
IDC, a market research institute, in 2022, the shipment of global smart
phones reached 1.21 billion units, representing a year-on-year decline
of 11.3%. China’s smart phone market also continued to be sluggish
during the year as that in the previous year. According to the data
released by the China Academy of Information and Communications
Technology, in 2022, the shipment of domestic mobile phones reached
272 million units, representing a year-on-year decline of approximately
22.6%; in particular, the shipment of 5G smart phones was 214 million
units, representing a year-on-year decline of approximately 19.6%.
The demand for PC declined significantly due to the volatile global
economic environment. According to the statistics from IDC, in 2022,
global PC shipments fell 16.5% to 292 million units. The global tablet
computers shipments reached 163 million units, representing a year-
on-year decline of 3.3%. In terms of the new intelligent products
field, with the increasing popularity of 5G and artificial intelligence
technologies and the improvement in living quality of residents,
consumers have a strong demand for various personalized and smart
home devices, driving the smart home devices to become one of the
important markets in the global consumer technology sector, and has
become an emerging industry that attracted great attention in China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

BYD Company Limited (“BYD” or “the Company” together with its
subsidiaries, “the Group”) is principally engaged in automobile
business which mainly includes new energy vehicles, handset
components and assembly business, rechargeable batteries and
photovoltaic business. Meanwhile, with its technological superiority,
the Group actively develops urban rail transportation and other
business segments. In 2022, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately RMB424,061 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 96.20%, among which, the revenue from the automobiles
and related products, and other products amounted to approximately
RMB324,691 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 151.78%;
the revenue from the handset components, assembly service and
other products amounted to approximately RMB98,815 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 14.30%. These business
segments accounted for 76.57% and 23.30% of the Group’s total
revenue, respectively.
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Automobiles and Batteries Business

As a pioneer and leader in the global new energy vehicle industry,
the Group actively responded to the national call for “Dual-Carbon”.
During the year, the Group has announced the suspension of the
production of fuel-engine vehicles and focused on the development
of new energy vehicle business, becoming the world’s first automobile
enterprise to suspend the production of fuel vehicles. In the face of
the complex and severe external environment, the Group achieved
a comprehensive explosive development in the new energy vehicle
business due to its precise strategic layout and profound technology
accumulation, reclaiming the No. 1 position in the global sales of new
energy vehicles, and dominating the first place in China’s new energy
vehicle sales for ten consecutive years. According to data from the
China Automobile Association, the Group’s market share of new
energy vehicles reached 27% in 2022, representing an increase of
nearly 10 percentage points as compared to 2021, demonstrating its
leading position in the industry. At the same time, the Group achieved
two milestones which are the first Chinese brand to sell one million
new energy vehicles per year and the first to roll off its 3 millionth new
energy vehicle, facilitating China to evolve from a participant to the
industry leader.

In the field of new energy passenger vehicles, relied on technological
innovation and application, in 2022, the Group’s sales volume of new
energy passenger vehicles continued to rise and reached a record
high year-on-year growth of more than two times in sales volume, and
thus secured the leading position to become the No.1 automobile
enterprise in terms of the sales volume of passenger vehicles in China.

Technology innovation is the core driver of high-quality development.
The Group adheres to developing battery electric vehicles and plug-
in hybrid electric vehicles at the same time, and has successively
launched disruptive technologies such as “Blade Batteries”, “DM-
i Super Hybrid”, “e-Platform 3.0”, “CTB Cell-to-Body Integration”
and “DM-p Hybrid” to achieve leapfrog business development and
promote technology reform in the new energy vehicle industry. In the
field of battery electric vehicles, the Group launched the “CTB Cell-to-
Body Integration” technology in May that allows a higher integration
level of the “blade battery” and the vehicle body, makes the vehicle’s
torsional rigidity exceed 40,000 N-m/° | and contributes to upgrading
the safety standard for the whole vehicle further, so that the upper limit
for the fuel-engined vehicles becomes the lower limit of the electric
vehicles. In the field of Plug-in Hybrid Electric vehicles, the Group
launched the “DM-p Hybrid” to further solve the contradiction between
performance and efficiency, while taking into account the three
ultimate car experiences of speed, safety and efficiency so as to meet
customers’ needs in different scenarios.
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Relying on the continuous iteration and innovation of the core
technologies, the Group’s passenger vehicle business has gradually
formed a multi-brand hierarchical deployment consisting of the
“BYD” brand, the “Denza” brand, the “Yangwang” brand as well as a
professional personalized brand. The Group is constantly expanding
new paths and developing new growing momentum to bring the
Group’s new energy vehicle business to a new level.

As the Group’s first passenger vehicle brand, the “BYD” brand has
gradually formed two series of products, including the “Dynasty” series
named after dynasties and the “Ocean” series named after “Marine
Life” and “Fleet”. Among them, the “Dynasty” series perfectly integrate
the leading technology and Chinese fashion trend to create a Chinese
fashion and smart new energy vehicles, with five family products of
“Han”, “Tang”, “Song”, “Qin” and “Yuan”. As one of the signature
product’s of local brands high-end process, “Han” has continued to
be popular since its launch and has been widely recognized and well
received by the market. In April 2022, the entire product series of “Han”
family was upgraded with the introduction of “DM-i Super Hybrid” and
“DM-p Hybrid” versions, providing consumers with a wider range of
quality choices, driving “Han” series sales volume to record highs,
and further promoting its average selling price upward. The “Han”
family models were sold well all throughout the year and won the
“No.1 Annual Sales of B-class + C-class Sedans” in China, continuing
to accelerate brand’s high-end process. As the Group’s medium/
large flagship SUV, “Tang” fully upgraded its new models during
the year, and recorded rising monthly sales, which was far ahead of
the sales in the medium/large SUV market. Empowered by the “DM-
i Super Hybrid”, the monthly sales of the “Song” family continued to
rise, ranking the first by the CPCA in terms of the retail sales of the
model for the year. Among the “Qin” family, as its best-selling product,
the “Qin PLUS” sales volume topped the A-class sedan market,
which put an end to the monopoly of joint venture brands. Among the
“Yuan” family, “Yuan PLUS”, the first A-class SUV equipped with the
“e-Platform 3.0”, has seen rapid growth in sales since its official launch
in February, leading the market of A-class battery electric vehicles.
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The “Ocean” series adopt the design concept of ocean aesthetics,
with a product position aiming at younger generations, to further
satisfy the diversified needs of consumers. Among the “Marine Life”
series, the new battery electric product “Dolphin”, first equipped with
the “e-Platform 3.0”, maintained hot sales all throughout the year, and
ranked first in the AO market in terms of sales volume. The battery
electric Sports Activity Coupé “Seal” was officially launched in July,
with the first “CTB Cell-to-Body Integration” technology based on the
“e-Platform 3.0”. Its excellent maneuverability, safety and comfort
were recognized by the market. Since its launch, the sales have seen
rapid rise, exceeding 10,000 units for three consecutive months. In
addition, among the “Fleet” series, “Destroyer 05" and “Frigate 07"
were launched one after another during the year. With the support of
the “DM-i Super Hybrid” and ocean aesthetics design, the product
matrix of the Group was further improved.

Following the “BYD” brand, the “Denza” brand was officially renewed
in May. The leading new energy and safety technologies, smart and
luxurious product quality, and user eco-services system have built up
the brand’s core competitiveness and further improved the Group’s
branding. The “Denza” brand is committed to meeting the diversified
needs of consumers in the new era, comprehensively shaping a
new luxury product matrix, including vehicle design, performance
adjustments and interior and exterior detailed improvement, with
products covering MPVs, SUVs, sedans and urban sports cars. “Denza
D9”, the first model under the new “Denza” brand, integrates luxury,
intelligence, power and safety. Since its launch in August, it secured
a cumulative of over 50,000 orders during the year, setting a new
benchmark for the value of new energy luxury MPVs in China.

In addition, equipped with disruptive and unique technologies,
a new high-end brand “Yangwang” was born to explore the new
energy market of a million price range. “Yangwang” will pioneer in
applying the Group’s cutting-edge technology achievements and
innovative design concepts to provide users with the ultimate safety,
performance and experience based on extreme driving scenarios,
reshaping the values of the high-end brand in the new energy era and
strengthening the Group’s brand influence in the high-end market.
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Relying on our comprehensive strengths of “leading technology,
leading quality and leading market”, the Group has been actively
developing the overseas markets while securing its leading position in
the domestic market. Since the globalization of new energy passenger
vehicles in May 2021, the Group has accelerated the development of
the markets in Europe, Asia Pacific and the Americas in 2022, ranking
among the top sellers in various markets and gaining recognition of
consumers worldwide. In February, “Yuan PLUS” (also known as “BYD
ATTO 3”) was launched for pre-sale in Australia, and was well received
by Australian consumers, with booming orders. In July, the Group
held a brand launch event in Tokyo to announce its official entry into
the passenger vehicles market in Japan, and presented three models,
including “BYD ATTO 3", “BYD SEAL” and “BYD DOLPHIN". In
September, the Group held a launch event on new energy passenger
vehicles in Europe, and introduced three models of “Han EV”, “Tang
EV” and “BYD ATTO 3" to the European market, which were unveiled
and launched at the Paris Motor Show in October. In November,
the Group held a launch event in Sao Paulo, Brazil to introduce two
models of “Song PLUS DM-i” and “Yuan PLUS”. The Group has joined
hands with a number of global excellent dealer partners under win-
win cooperation, providing local consumers with high-quality new
energy vehicle products and services. With in-depth development in
the overseas market, the first overseas passenger vehicle plant wholly
invested by the Group was officially landed in Thailand in September,
promoting the internationalization of the passenger vehicle industry
and steadily taking root in the global new energy market.

REBRTNBHEEL - MEEL - MHAELIW
2HEEN  ERANKEENREERGDEIT
B BT —FHARBFEREAELEEHK
big  REBR -ZT - —FENEFEHEBON - 55K -
ENSZEBENTS - BEHZETSAEY
REEHCEBEESR - —A - [JLPLUSI(XAIBYD
ATTO BB AFERFFAMESE - BHXEHHEE
HEET FBAE LA AEBERZARAME
wiheg  EMENEABLRFEREMS  WEIBYD
ATTO 3] * [BYD SEAL] * [BYD DOLPHINJZE =5
R WA NEBBHABME LRI AE M
g - EEEBONTISHE L DEEV] - [BEV] » [7TPLUS]
—HER YR+ AZEERERESE LT - 1
— A AEEEERERERITHRMGS - HEHIR
PLUS DM-iJ [ JTPLUSMFRE R - KEBEFAEE
HENES  EFZEAZIMEELHEEEY  AE
WHEEERBEANTERTEEMMRERYE - BEE
IMERIFERE - AEBERERENE EFINE
BEIBMRNLAEREREEN  HEFBEEE
BRRE - HRBIEBREIR



Annual Report 2022
SECCEER

Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, in order to meet the growing market demand, the
Group actively increased its production capacity, and the speed of
delivery had doubled. Although the Group continued to increase the
delivery capacity during the year, it was still unable to cater to the
needs of booming orders and was under certain pressure of delivery.
In addition, some of the upstream raw materials were affected
by the mismatch between supply and demand, which resulted
in price fluctuations at high levels, bringing great pressure to the
downstream of the industry chain. During the year, the Group made
price adjustments for certain vehicle models in January and March
respectively, which was conducive to alleviating the costs pressure
arising from fluctuations in upstream raw material prices. The Group
also actively deployed upstream core resources to protect the Group’s
own production needs, while alleviating the uncertainties brought by
fluctuations in upstream raw material prices.

In the field of battery electric buses, the Group carried out in-
depth market development, launched quality products with leading
technology, optimized its business models, and worked with
various partners to continuously improve the quality of urban public
transportation services and lead the transformation of electrification
of the global public transportation. During the year, the Group
expanded its passenger transportation and public transportation
business coverage in Hefei, Jinan and Fuzhou, which promoted the
steady development of China’s new energy bus industry. At the same
time, the Group further explored overseas markets and officially
entered Indonesia and Mauritius to help realize the dream of green
transportation and clean energy in these countries.

In the field of urban rail transit, the Group focused on solving urban
microcirculation and last mile problems by launching the medium-
capacity “SkyRail” and low-capacity “SkyShuttle” with proprietary
intellectual property rights, providing effective solutions to traffic jams
in cities all over the world. For “SkyRail” project, in March, the car body
of “SkyRail” for Sao Paulo, Brazil officially rolled off as well, bringing
a more efficient and intelligent urban transportation experience for
Brazil. For “SkyShuttle” project, the line of Dawang mountain in Hunan
commenced trial operation in September, and the first municipal line
in Pingshan, Shenzhen was officially opened in December, providing
local citizens with new travel experience.
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Under the guidance of the market-oriented strategy, the Group actively
carried out external cooperation, industrial investment and capital
operation to facilitate the long-term, sustainable and steady growth
of the Group. In terms of external cooperation, in March, the Group
cooperated with NVIDIA, the world’s leading artificial intelligence
computing manufacturer, focusing on intelligent driving technology
to complement each other’'s advantages for joint development. The
Group also signed a global strategic cooperation agreement with
Shell to be the first company to carry out cooperation between China
and Europe, and planned to extend the partnership to the rest of
the world to jointly promote energy transformation. In December, the
Group established a joint venture with UzAuto, the largest automobile
group in Central Asia, to focus on the production of new energy
vehicles and related components in order to accelerate the promotion
and development of new energy vehicles in the region. In terms of
industrial investment, the Group further deepened its efforts in the
fields of electrification, intelligence of new energy vehicles, based on
its own business and its profound understanding of the whole industrial
chain and technological accumulation, to help the Group implement its
strategic plan, ensure the stability and safety of key parts of the supply
chain, enable each other with industrial chain partners, accelerate
the building of industrial ecology and achieve win-win cooperation.
In terms of capital operation, the Group implemented an employee
share ownership plan during the year to establish and improve the
benefit-sharing mechanism between employees and owners, and to
improve the long-term and effective incentive and restraint mechanism
of the Group, thereby enhancing the cohesion of employees and the
competitiveness of the Company, which in turn will bring more efficient
and sustainable returns to shareholders.

In terms of rechargeable batteries, the Group continued to carry out
in-depth development and maintained its leading position in domestic
technology. Product R&D and capacity expansion went smoothly
during the year, which contributed to the steady development of
the traditional battery business and the constant expansion of the
energy storage business. In addition, while protecting our own power
battery demand, the Group also continued to actively explore external
customers and achieved satisfying achievements during the year. In
respect of the photovoltaic business, under the guidance of the “dual
carbon” goal, the Group accelerated new technology R&D to further
build up its comprehensive competitive advantages and prepare for
the rapid development of the industry.
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Handset Components and Assembly Business

The Group is a global leading high-end platform-based manufacturing
enterprise, providing customers with one-stop services including
product design, research and development, components and machine
manufacturing, supply chain management, logistics, after-sales
and other etc. With a wide range of business, the Group engages in
diversified market segments, such as consumer electronics and new
intelligent products. With industry-leading R&D and manufacturing
strength, diversified product portfolio and abundant customer base,
the Group’s business shows strong resilience and advances toward
high quality development steadily.

In terms of consumer electronics business, the Group continued
to deepen its strategic cooperation with major customers to further
consolidate its industry leading position, with its outstanding
scientific research and technologies and excellent product design
and manufacturing strength. The Group further expanded business
with major customers in North America and enhanced its position in
their supply chains, owing to which the share and shipments of core
products increased continuously, and the structural components of
new product category were put into mass production successfully with
increasing business scale. The Group also continued to serve Android
customers, but the Group’s revenue from the Android business was
affected by the weak demand in the smart phone industry in general.

In terms of new intelligent product business, the Group further
deepened its layout of business segments and continued to boost
new project corporation with top customers in various industries. The
shipments of products such as smart home devices, game hardware
and drones kept increasing, and a good development trend was seen
in the business.
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PROSPECT AND STRATEGY

Looking forward to 2023, the world is undergoing profound changes
unseen in a century, with the continued geopolitical risks. The global
economy is under down-side risks, since economic cycle of various
countries has entered restructuring period and the ripple effect of the
monetary tightening continues. China’s economy will be disrupted by
a complex and volatile external environment, while facing challenges
such as shrinking domestic demand and lack of consumer confidence.
However, given the strong resilience of China’s economy with great
potential, China’s bright long-term prospects will remain unchanged.
2023 is the opening year to thoroughly implement the spirit of the 20th
CPC National Congress to insist on “pursuing progress while ensuring
stability”. China will also intensify its efforts to boost domestic demand
and stimulate consumption, thus driving the growth of its economy.
At the same time, the 20th CPC National Congress proposed that
green and low-carbon economic and social development is the key
to achieve quality development, demonstrating that the development
of new energy vehicles is a strategic and an emerging industry in the
new era and new journey. Policy support is expected to continue to be
launched, which will create a good environment for the development
of new energy vehicles. In February, eight government authorities
including the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology issued
the Notice on Organizing the Pilot Project for the Full Electrification of
Vehicles in the Public Sector (AR EHFAE AL B ERE2EEHL
SR A THERIBAN)) to boost the penetration rate of new energy
vehicles. The solid foundation, efficient, resilient and fast growth of
the new energy vehicle industry chain in China have provided strong
support for China’s and even the world’s automobile transformation,
making contributions to energy conservation and emissions reduction
worldwide as well as the “carbon neutrality” vision of major economies.
In 2023, new energy vehicles are expected to continue its strong
growth momentum. The penetration rate is also expected to make
significant breakthroughs.

Automobiles and Batteries Business

The Group will adhere to its development strategy, strengthen
the independency and controllability of its core technologies, and
continue to launch more competitive products. The Group will further
improve its delivery capacity to actively meet market demand. The
Group will sharpen its market sense and improve service level based
on consumer-oriented principle, thus improve branding and maintain
its leading position in the industry, and help Chinese local brands lead
the trend of global new energy vehicles.
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In the field of new energy passenger vehicles, the Group will continue
to deepen the R&D of core technologies for new energy vehicles, and
officially launch “e* Platform (%P975)” technology in January 2023.
Based on four-motor independent driver as the core, the “e* Platform”
technology completely reconstructs the characteristics of new energy
vehicles in three aspects of perception, control and execution,
providing consumers with a cross-era product featuring ultimate
safety, performance and experience.

With the maturity and application of core technologies such as
“e* Platform”, the Group officially launched its brand-new million-
dollar high-end brand “Yangwang” in 2023. All models under the
“Yangwang” brand will be equipped with the “e* Platform”, and will be
the pioneer in applying the Group’s various innovative technologies,
setting a new benchmark in the new energy vehicle industry. In
addition to the “Yangwang” brand, the Group will also launch a new
brand in 2023 with ultimate professionalism and personalization. By
then, the Group will form a brand matrix of “BYD” brand, “Denza”
brand, “Yangwang” brand and a brand-new professional and
personalized brand, covering from home to luxury, from mass to
personalized, fully satisfying users’ automobile needs in all scenarios.

The Group continues to launch new models to improve its product
matrix. With respect to the “BYD” brand, the 2023 champion edition of
“Qin PLUS DM-i” was officially launched, which subverted the industry
by realizing the “price parity between fuel-engine vehicle and electric
vehicle” in the A-class sedan market for the first time. Regarding the
“Denza” brand, “Denza N7”, a battery electric shooting brake SUV
was unveiled in March and will be officially launched during the year.
In terms of the “Yangwang” brand, “Yangwang U8”, a million-dollar
new energy hardcore SUV and “Yangwang U9”, a battery electric
performance supercar was unveiled in January. Leveraging on the
“e* Platform”, “Yangwang U8” is equipped with ultimate control in all
scenarios, bringing innovative driving experience to users. In addition,
the Group has also iterated and upgraded its existing models to
maintain the overall competitiveness of its products. In the future,
the Group will promote the development of smart driving assistance
through technology innovation, enhance the overall competitiveness
of our products, and bring new momentum to the development of our
brands.
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In the field of overseas passenger vehicle business, the Group has
accelerated its overseas markets expansion and advanced the
progress of going abroad. The Group will continue to work together
with its partners to develop overseas markets and provide global
consumers with differentiated, competitive products and quality
services.

In the field of battery electric buses, the Group will continue to
empower low-carbon upgrades in global public transportation
systems, provide sustainable, zero-pollution and intelligent public
transportation solutions to different countries and regions, launch
zero-emission, high quality, green and environmentally friendly public
transportation products and services recognized by the market
through efficient and leading-edge innovative technologies, and
promote rapid and healthy development of a low-carbon society.

In the field of urban rail transit, the Group will continue to innovate in
the areas of green and low-carbon, intelligent and smart, integrated
and efficient development, extend the electric vehicle industry
chain to the field of rail transit, focus on promoting low-carbon and
environmentally friendly urban rail transit products, namely “SkyRail”
and “SkyShuttle”, and continuously expand urban applications and
international cooperation to help cities build low-carbon transportation
and achieve sustainable development of green and intelligent
transportation.

In terms of market-oriented layout, the Group will proceed to cultivate
more market-competitive businesses to achieve market-oriented
operation, so as to further unleash the development potential of
each business segment and enhance the overall value of the Group.
Meanwhile, the Group will integrate its own business characteristics,
continue to make strategic investments to deploy in the core areas
of the industry chain, empower each other with the strategic partners
at upstream and downstream of the industry chain, push forward the
Group’s marketization process and accelerate the transformation and
upgrade of the global automobile industry.

In terms of rechargeable batteries, the Group will actively promote the
application of the innovative technologies, further expand its customer
base and business coverage, and facilitate sustainable development
of relevant businesses. In terms of photovoltaics business, the Group
will actively grasp the development trend of the industry, concentrate
resources, focus on technology R&D, promote product transformation
and upgrading, to usher in the explosive growth opportunities of the
industry with high-quality products.
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Handset Components and Assembly Business

The Group will proactively capture market opportunities, put more
efforts on the R&D of core technologies, enhance its vertical
integration advantage and deepen the strategy of developing
major customers. While maintaining its position as the industry
leader in traditional business, the Group will proactively explore the
development space of its business, expand product range, and
continue to increase investment in R&D, to empower the Group’s long-
term business development.

In terms of consumer electronics business, the Group will continue
to strengthen its comprehensive competitive advantages and further
consolidate its leading position in the market. The Group will deepen
its participation in the core business of major overseas customers,
keep enhancing the share of core products and explore new
categories and areas, thus expanding its business scale constantly.
Meanwhile, with a focus on the middle and high-end Android
products, the Group will intensify its efforts in technical R&D as well
as innovation, so as to further strengthen its leading position in the
Android market.

In terms of new intelligent product business, with the advancement
of 5G and artificial intelligence technology, the application scenarios
of new intelligent products are becoming increasingly refined with
growing market scale. There will be a broad development prospect
in the fields of smart home devices, game hardware and drones
where we have laid forward-looking presences. Leveraging on its
capabilities that integrate strong R&D strength, global presence and
vertical integration, the Group will accelerate project cooperation with
domestic and overseas customers to capture the opportunities in the
global new intelligent product market and create new growth drivers
for its business, thus driving the business scale to reach a new high.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Profit attributable to Owners of the Parent
Company

During the Year, revenue increased by 96.20% as compared to that
of 2021, mainly attributable to the increase in new energy vehicle
business. The profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
company increased by 445.86% as compared to the previous year,
mainly attributable to the increase due to the increase in sales volume
of new energy vehicles .

Segmental Information

The following charts set out comparisons of the Group’s revenue by
product categories for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:
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Gross Profit and Margin

During the Year, the Group’ s gross profit increased by approximately
156.69% to approximately RMB72,245 million. Gross profit margin
increased from approximately 13.02% in 2021 to approximately
17.04% during the Year. The gross profit margin increased in
comparison with 2021, mainly attributable to the increase in new
energy vehicle business.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the Year, BYD generated operating cash inflow of
approximately RMB140,838 million, compared with operating cash
inflow of approximately RMB65,467 million in 2021. Cash inflow of
the Group during the Period was mainly arising from the increase in
cash generated from the sales of goods and provision of services
in operating activities. Total borrowings as at 31 December 2022,
including all bank loans and bonds, were approximately RMB18,517
million, compared with approximately RMB33,729 million as at 31
December 2021. The maturity profile of the bank loans and bonds
thereof spreads over a period of five years, with approximately
RMB10,924 million repayable within one year, approximately
RMB7,593 million within the second to the fifth years. The Group had
adequate liquidity to meet its daily liquidity management and capital
expenditure requirements and control internal operating cash flows.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, turnover period of receivables
(including trade receivables, contract assets and receivables
financing) was approximately 53 days, as compared to approximately
95 days for the same period in 2021, which was mainly due to the
fact that the increase of trade receivables balance in average was
lower than that of sales revenue over the same period. The inventory
turnover period was approximately 64 days for the year ended 31
December 2022 as compared to approximately 73 days for the same
period in 2021, which was mainly due to the fact that the increase of
cost of sales was higher than that of inventory in average over the
same period.

Please refer to notes V.(24) and V.(36) to the financial statements for
details of financial resources.
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Capital Structure

The Group’s financial division is responsible for the Group’s financial
risk management which operates according to policies implemented
and approved by Senior Management. As at 31 December 2022,
borrowings were primarily settled in RMB, while cash and cash
equivalents were primarily held in RMB and US dollar. The Group
plans to maintain an appropriate mix of equity and debt to ensure
an efficient capital structure during the Period. As at 31 December
2022, the Group’s outstanding loans included RMB loans and
foreign currency loans and approximately 43% (2021: 58%) of such
outstanding loans were at fixed interest rates, with the remaining at
floating interest rates.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by equity. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio
as low as possible. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Equity represents equity
attributable to owners of the parent. Therefore, the gearing ratios
of the Group was -26% and -15% as at 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021, respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any long-
term pledged loans (31 December 2021: long-term loans
of RMB111,441,000 secured with land and buildings of net
carrying amount of RMB182,646,000 pledged as securities while
RMB21,304,000 of the long-term loans being due within a year). No
transit equipment (31 December 2021: nil) has been pledged as
securities for the long-term loans during the year. As at 31 December
2022, cash and bank balances with book value of RMB880,000 (31
December 2021: RMB163,178,000) were subject to restrictions as
deposits of bank acceptance bills; cash and bank balances with book
value of RMB166,291,000 (31 December 2021: RMB474,059,000)
were subject to restrictions as guarantee deposits, bid bond and
others.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group’s income and expenditure are settled in RMB
and US dollar. During the Period, the Group did not experience any
significant difficulties in or impacts on its operations or liquidity due
to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The Directors believe that
the Group has sufficient foreign exchange to meet its own foreign
exchange requirements and will adopt practical measures to prevent
exposure to exchange rate risk.
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Employment, Training and Development

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 570.1
thousand employees. During the Period, total staff cost accounted
for approximately 14.42% of the Group’s turnover. Employees’
remuneration was determined based on performance, qualifications
and prevailing industry practices, with compensation policies
being reviewed on a regular basis. Bonuses were also awarded to
employees, based on their annual performance evaluation. Incentives
were offered to encourage personal motivation.

Furthermore, the Group had also adopted the 2022 Employee Share
Ownership Plan (the “Employee Share Ownership Plan”) and the
Share Option Incentive Scheme of BYD Semiconductor Co., Ltd (the
“Subsidiary Share Option Scheme”), which were approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company on 27 May 2022 and 16 June 2021, respectively.
For further details of the Employee Share Ownership Plan and the
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme, please refer to the sections headed
“2022 Employee Share Ownership Plan” and “Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme” below of this report respectively.

2022 EMPLOYEE SHARE OWNERSHIP PLAN

Reference is made to the announcement dated 22 April 2022 and the
circular dated 5 May 2022 (the “Circular”) of the Company in relation
to, among others, the adoption of the Employee Share Ownership
Plan (Draft). The adoption was approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 27 May 2022.

The Employee Share Ownership Plan is a discretionary employee
share ownership plan of the Company and does not involve the grant
of options to issue new Shares or any other new securities of the
Company.

The Employee Share Ownership Plan is beneficial for the Company
to establish and improve the benefit sharing mechanism, enhance
the cohesion of employees and the competitiveness of the Company,
realizing its long-term sustainable development. Participants include
employee representative supervisors, senior management of the
Company, middle level management and core backbone employees
of BYD Group (other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company and their respective associates). The total number of
participants of the Employee Share Ownership Plan shall not exceed
12,000 persons. The Employee Share Ownership Plan transfers the
A Shares of the Company to be repurchased through non-trading
transfer and other methods permitted by laws and regulations. The
transfer price is RMBO per Share, and the participants do not need to
make payments.
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The 5,511,024 shares held by the designated securities repurchase
account of the Company have been granted in full on 15 July 2022,
and the closing price of the Company’s A shares was RMB322.90 per
share on the trading day immediately preceding the grant date. The A
shares granted were transferred to the designated securities account
for the Employee Share Ownership Plan in the form of non-trading
transfer, and the aforesaid number of shares transferred accounted for
approximately 0.189% of the total issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report. There is no maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Employee Share Ownership Plan. The term of
the Employee Share Ownership Plan shall be 48 months from the
date on which the Employee Share Ownership Plan is considered and
approved at the general meeting and the Company announces that
the last batch of the underlying shares is transferred to the Employee
Share Ownership Plan. Thus, the remaining life of the Employee Share
Ownership Plan is about 40 months as at 31 December 2022.

For details of the Employee Share Ownership Plan and repurchase
of A Shares of the Company, please refer to the note to the financial
statements headed “XI. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS — 2. Share-based
payment plan” and the section headed “Purchase, Sale or Redemption
of Shares” in this report, respectively.

The vesting of the shares granted is subject to the fulfillment of
relevant specific conditions. For the specific conditions for the
vesting of the shares granted, please refer to note Xl to the financial
statements

SUBSIDIARY SHARE OPTION SCHEME

References are made to the announcement dated 11 May 2021
and circular (the “Circular”) dated 31 May 2021 of the Company, in
relation to, among others, the proposed adoption of the Subsidiary
Share Option Scheme. The adoption of the Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 16 June 2021.

The purpose of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme is to, among
others, further establish and improve the incentive mechanism of BYD
Semiconductor, retain and motivate talents, and allow all participants
to focus on the long-term development of BYD Semiconductor and
jointly promote its sustainable development.

There are 36 participants in the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme,
including directors (excluding independent non-executive directors),
senior management and key personnel (excluding supervisors) of BYD
Semiconductor. The Subsidiary Share Option Scheme is tailored to be
an one-off incentive arrangement for the aforesaid 36 participants only.
None of the 36 incentive participants of the Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme is a connected person at the Company level. For details of
the identity and positions of the aforesaid participants, please refer to
the Circular.
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The number of shares of BYD Semiconductor in respect of which the
share options involved is 33,088,235 shares (representing 7.353%
of the registered share capital of BYD Semiconductor as at the date
of this report), and the cumulative total number of shares of BYD
Semiconductor involved under the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme
and all other schemes of BYD Semiconductor shall not exceed 10%
of the total share capital of BYD Semiconductor in issue on 16 June
2021, which is the date of approval of the Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme by the extraordinary general meeting of the Company. As
at the date of this report, an aggregate of 33,088,235 share options,
representing all the share options which could be granted under the
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme, were granted to 36 employees
of BYD Semiconductor pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme at the exercise price of RMB4.54 per
share (subject to a further adjustment in accordance with terms and
conditions of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme). Save for 203,824
share options which had been lapsed and cancelled as a result of the
resignation of an employee subsequent to the conditional approval of
the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme, no share option was exercised,
cancelled and/or lapsed during the twelve months ended 31
December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding
share option under the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme.

The validity period of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme shall
commence from the grant date of the share options and end on
the date on which all the share options granted to the incentive
participants have been exercised or cancelled, which shall not be
longer than 10 years. The share options granted under the Subsidiary
Share Option Scheme shall be exercised in three tranches, and the
corresponding vesting periods shall be 24 months, 36 months and 48
months respectively from the grant date. In the first, second and third
exercise periods, 30%, 30% and 40% of the share options are entitled
to be exercised under the prerequisite of meeting performance
conditions. The share options will not be exercisable when participants
fail to fulfil BYD Semiconductor’'s performance as the conditions of
exercise or those currently not exercised after the end of the exercise
period shall become null and void and be repurchased without
consideration and cancelled by BYD Semiconductor. For further
details of the exercise period, performance appraisal objectives (as
conditions of the exercise of the share options) and further details of
the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme, please refer to the Circular and
note Xl to the financial statements in this report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2022, the share capital of the Company was as
follows:

@S

RZZE-_—F+-_A=+—H AAHKRAD
T~

Number of Approximate

shares issued percentage (%)

ERTROEE KB 2 (%)

A shares Al 1,813,142,855 62.28%
H shares HA% 1,098,000,000 37.72%
Total e 2,911,142,855 100.00%

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Save as described in the section headed “Repurchase of A Shares
of the Company” below, during the Reporting Period, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased or sold any of the
Company’s shares.

REPURCHASE OF A SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
22 April 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 5 May 2022
in relation to, among other things, the repurchase of A shares of
the Company and the authorization to the Board and its authorized
persons to handle all matters relating to the repurchase of A shares of
the Company (the “Repurchase”).

The Company convened the 21st Meeting of the Seventh Session
of the Board and the 9th Meeting of the Seventh Session of the
Supervisory Committee on 22 April 2022, the 2022 First Extraordinary
General Meeting on 27 May 2022, and the 25th Meeting of the Seventh
Session of the Board on 8 June 2022, at which the relevant resolutions
in relation to the Repurchase were considered and approved,
pursuant to which the Company was approved to use its own funds
to repurchase the A Shares issued by the Company and listed on the
SZSE through the securities account designated for share repurchase
by way of centralised bidding or other methods as approved by the
CSRC. The total amount of funds for the Repurchase shall not exceed
RMB1.85 billion (inclusive), and shall not be less than RMB1.8 billion
(inclusive). The repurchase price shall not exceed RMB400 per share.
The term of the repurchase shall not exceed 12 months from the date
on which the repurchase plan is considered and approved at the
general meeting of the Company. All the repurchased shares were
intended and had been used for the implementation of the Employee
Share Ownership Plan.
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The Company announced the next day disclosure returns in relation
to the progress of the Repurchase on 1 June 2022, 2 June 2022,
10 June 2022 and 13 June 2022, respectively. During the aforesaid
four trading days, the Company repurchased a total of 5,511,024
A Shares, representing 0.189% of the total issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report. The highest and lowest
trading prices were RMB358.58 per share and RMB293.37 per share,
respectively. The total amount of funds for the Repurchase was
RMB1,809,702,398.72 (excluding transaction costs). As of 13 June
2022, the implementation of the plan for the Repurchase has been
completed.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Save as described in the section headed “Termination of Spin-off of
BYD Semiconductor” below, during the Reporting Period, there was
no significant investment held, material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Termination of Spin-off of BYD Semiconductor

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 December 2020, 16 June 2021 and 30 June 2021, as
well as the circular of the Company dated 31 May 2021, in relation
to (among others) the proposed spin-off and separate listing of a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, BYD Semiconductor
Company Limited (bt a8 52 MH AR A ) (formerly known
as “BYD Semiconductor Co., Ltd.”, hereinafter referred to as “BYD
Semiconductor”), on the ChiNext Board of the SZSE (hereinafter
referred to as the “Spin-off”).

References are also made to the announcements of the Company
dated 25 October 2021, 27 January 2022, 15 November 2022 and 30
December 2022 in relation to, among others, the latest update on the
Spin-off and its termination.

The Company held the 4th Meeting of the Seventh Session of the
Board, the 11th Meeting of the Seventh Session of the Board, the 5th
Meeting of the Seventh Session of the Supervisory Committee and the
first extraordinary general meeting of 2021 on 30 December 2020, 10
May 2021, and 16 June 2021, respectively, during which the Company
considered and approved the matters related to the Spin-off.
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On 29 June 2021, the Company received the Notice Regarding
Acceptance of the Application Documents for the Initial Public Offering
and Listing of Shares of BYD Semiconductor Company Limited on
the ChiNext Board issued by SZSE (Shen Zheng Shang Shen [2021]
No. 283). In accordance with relevant regulations, the SZSE checked
the application report and related application documents submitted
by BYD Semiconductor for the initial public offering and listing of
shares on the ChiNext Board, and determined that the documents are
complete and acceptable.

On 22 October 2021, the Company received the approval in relation
to the Spin-off and the waiver for assured entitlement from the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, confirming that the Company may conduct
the Spin-off pursuant to Practice Note 15 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and can be waived from providing assured entitlement of BYD
Semiconductor’s shares to its existing shareholders.

According to the Announcement of the Results of the 5th
Consideration Meeting of the GEM Listing Committee in 2022
announced by the SZSE on 27 January 2022, the results of the review
of the Listing Committee of SZSE in relation to the application of BYD
Semiconductor to list on the ChiNext Board of SZSE separately are
that BYD Semiconductor Company Limited (initial public offering)
complies with the issuance conditions, the conditions of listing and the
information disclosure requirements.

At the 29th Meeting of the Seventh Session of the Board and the 13th
Meeting of the Seventh Session of the Supervisory Committee held by
the Company on 15 November 2022, the Resolution in relation to the
Termination of Spin-off and Listing of BYD Semiconductor Company
Limited on the ChiNext Board (B8R4 IE D 1 ATE 72 Al tb S8
RO AR AR ZEIZER EMHEZE)) was considered and approved.
It was agreed for BYD Semiconductor to terminate the Spin-off and
listing progress as well as the spin-off and listing on the ChiNext
Board of the SZSE and withdraw the listing application materials. The
Company will, when the time is right, restart the Spin-off and listing of
BYD Semiconductor.

In order to accelerate the construction of wafer production capacity
and make overall arrangements for business development and capital
operation planning, the Company, taking into consideration of industry
development and strategic positioning of future business and after
sufficient and prudent research, decided to stop advancing the Spin-
off and listing, and agreed BYD Semiconductor to terminate the Spin-
off and listing on the ChiNext Board of the SZSE and withdraw the
listing application materials. The Company will accelerate the relevant
investment and production capacity expansion.
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On 23 November 2022, BYD Semiconductor and its sponsor, China
International Capital Corporation Limited, submitted an application to
the CSRC to withdraw the application documents for the initial public
offering of shares and listing on the ChiNext Board. Subsequently,
BYD Semiconductor received the Notice of the CSRC on the
Termination of Registration Procedures for the Issuance of Shares
on the ChiNext Board ({(FFEZEE 2 Al MR ZRTEMEF LI
BANE)) issued by the CSRC. The CSRC decided to terminate the
registration procedures for the issuance of BYD Semiconductor.

Termination of the Spin-off and listing will not have a material adverse
impact on the existing operations, business and financial position of
the Group (including BYD Semiconductor), nor will it have a material
adverse effect on the future development strategies of the Group.
When the relevant investment and production capacity expansion are
completed and the time is right, the Company may restart the Spin-off
and listing of BYD Semiconductor as and when appropriate.

In the event that the Company resolves to restart the Spin-off and
listing of BYD Semiconductor in the future, the Company will make
all necessary disclosure in accordance with all applicable laws and
regulations.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Please refer to note Xll.1 to the financial statements for details of
capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Please refer to note Xll.2 to the financial statements for details of

contingent liabilities.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND SOCIAL
SECURITY

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no significant
environmental protection or social security issues.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Wang Chuan-fu

Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, aged 57, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master's degree holder and senior engineer. Mr. Wang
graduated from Central South University of Technology (7 & T 2 K £2)
(currently known as Central South University (A FgA£2)) in 1987 with a
bachelor’'s degree majoring in metallurgy physical chemistry, and then
graduated from Beijing Non-Ferrous Research Institute in the PRC (F
it mE e BIfFER) in 1990 with a master's degree majoring
in metallurgy physical chemistry. Mr. Wang held positions as vice
supervisor in Beijing Non-Ferrous Research Institute (3t A & & B
7t 48PFt) and general manager in Shenzhen Bi Ge Battery Co. Limited
CRYNIT AR BB R AF). In February 1995, he founded Shenzhen
BYD Battery Company Limited (ZIIT Lt E 2 AR AR (“‘BYD
Battery”) (became BYD Company Limited (b8 M5 AR A R]) on
11 June 2002) with Mr. Lv Xiang-yang and took the position of general
manager. He is the Chairman, Executive Director and President
of the Company, and is responsible for the general operations of
the Company and the development of business strategies for the
Company. He is a non-executive director and the chairman of BYD
Electronic (International) Company Limited (tr 52 E 7 (BIB) AR A
a]), the Chairman of BYD Semiconductor Co., Ltd (Lt &bt a §g {5
HBRAF]), the chairman of Shenzhen DENZA New Energy Automotive
Co., Ltd. (RYIEZFaEIRTE AR A F]), and a director of Southern
University of Science and Technology of China (R85 B A E).

Mr. Wang, being a technology expert, enjoyed special allowances
from the State Council. He was awarded “The 2008 CCTV Man of the
Year China Economy Innovation Award” (ZZZ /\GFCCTVH B4
EFEAYFEAIFEE), 2014 Zayed Future Energy Prize Lifetime
Achievement Award” (ZZ — U4 AL HL{E K 2R s R 224 A 4% & Ak Bb
#%), “a founding member of the 2016 United Nations Development
Programme’s ‘Advisory Council for Sustainable Development” (== —
NEBEBEMEHEZRELEBERZEFIAIBKE) “a member
of the “13th Five Year Plan’ National Development Planning Expert
Committee” ([+=RIBIRERHREEREZEELZEL5), “an Outstanding
Builder of Socialism with Chinese Characteristics in the 5th National
Non- Public Economic Sector in 2019” (ZZE—hEFREZEIIER
AHEBEATEFPREELSERFEREZRE), “a model innovator
and entrepreneur and advanced model figure for the 40th Anniversary
of the Establishment of the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone” (ZRIIIEE
AR R 40 F R B3 A WA ST EEE A Y), “National Advanced
Person in the Private Economy for the Fight against COVID-19" (&2 &
MERTBIARELETEREAN) ete.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Lv Xiang-yang

Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, aged 61, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, economist. Mr. Lv worked at Chaohu Branch of the People’s
Bank of China (B A RIRITE B 5 77). In February 1995, he founded
BYD Battery with Mr. Wang Chuan-fu and currently is the Vice
Chairman and a non-executive Director of the Company and also the
chairman of Youngy Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. (B &5
f% =B AR A F]), chairman of Youngy Co., Ltd. (B AR A A,
chairman of Youngy Health Technology Co., Ltd. (Bt#E#E R (5
APBRA A, chairman of Onyx International Inc. (BN A 1E BRI AR
‘A H]), chairman of Nanjing Regenecore Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (F8 3
B R AR AR A A]), chairman of Youngy Education Technology
Co., Ltd. (B EHB R AR A R]), a director of Anhua Agricultural
Insurance Company Limited (ZZE 2 ERE% 17D AR A 7]), honorary
chairman of Guangdong Manufacturers Association (&R % & iE %13
&), honorary chairman of Guangdong Association for the Promotion of
Industrial Development (ER & EX£ERITEE) and so on.

Xia Zuo-quan

Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, aged 60, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master’s degree holder. Mr. Xia studied computer science
in Beijing Institute of Iron and Steel Engineering (3t F M E287) (now
known as University of Science & Technology Beijing (3t ®EHE K
£)) from 1985 to 1987 and he graduated from Guanghua School of
Management of Peking University (It R A2} EE IR ELT) with an
EMBA in 2007. Mr. Xia worked in the Hubei branch of The People’s
Insurance Company (B A Ef&kg A &1L 2 F]) and joined
BYD Battery in 1997 and held positions as an executive Director
and Vice President of the Company. He is a non-executive director
of the Company and chairman of Shenzhen Zhengxuan Investment
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. (&I EEF R E B R 2 F]), Shenzhen Zhengxuan
Qianhai Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (ZYII E&F A
BRIEREESEIE AR AA) and Beijing Zhengxuan Investment
Co., Ltd. (It RIEEKEABRETAR]), a director of Shenzhen
UBTECH Robotics Co., Ltd. (&I E 4 3&E EBHE B R A 7)), a director of
Shenzhen Uni-Fortune Supply Chain Service Co., Ltd. (RYIITHEE A FI
Lt rEgEE IR AR A A]), chairman of Annuo Youda Gene Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (ZeaEEE AR L R)BR A F]), an independent
director of China Yuhua Education Corporation Limited (f R FEHE
£ E AR AF]), vice chairman of Shenzhen Lianxia Charity Foundation
(RYMEEZRZESS).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Cai Hong-ping

Mr. Cai Hong-ping, aged 69, Chinese (Hong Kong) national,
bachelor's degree holder. Mr. Cai graduated from Fudan University (18
B K&)in 1988 with a bachelor’s degree in mass communications. Mr.
Cai served as an executive chairman of Deutsche Bank ({2 = 5 E17)
in the Asia Pacific region, chairman of the investment banking division
of UBS AG in Asia, chairman of China of BNP Paribas Capital (Asia
Pacific) Limited (ZBIFE22E 2 (ZEK) B R A A), senior vice president
and managing director of banking division of Peregrine Investments
Holdings Limited (& & £)#% & #£77), member of the Overseas Listing
Team for Chinese Enterprises under the Restructuring Committee of
the State Council (Bt BIZR g ZE BI85 EThiEE/NE),
and the chairman of the Joint Committee of Board Secretaries for H
Share Companies in the PRC (FEBIHIE AR E S S WEBE S ). Mr.
Cai currently serves as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, the chairman and founding partner of AGIC (£/£&7K), an
independent director of COSCO SHIPPING Development Co., Ltd. (&
RBEERERMD AR AT, China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited
(PRERFTMERHDABEMRAR]), Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
Co., Ltd. (@ HRERIRITRNDBBRAF), China Southern Airlines
Company Limited (FBIE A MZERH AR F]), and a supervisor of
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.(FH R R1TA (D BR A 7).

Zhang Min

Mr. Zhang Min, aged 46, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, doctoral degree holder and professor of accounting. Mr.
Zhang graduated from Beijing Wuzi University (1t Z#& £63) in 1999
with a bachelor’s degree in management majoring in accounting, from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (FE & BUEAE) in
2005 with a master’s degree in management majoring in accounting,
from Renmin University of China (7 B A R KX 22) in 2008 with a doctor’s
degree in management majoring in accounting, and completed
his post-doctoral training in Peking University Guanghua School of
Management (1t R KE N EEILET) in 2010. Mr. Zhang currently
serves as an independent non-executive director of the Company, the
accounting professor, supervisor for Ph.D. candidates and accounting
director of Business School, Renmin University of China (FEIARX
E2pEA0) as well as an independent director of CSG Holding Co., Ltd.
(FEIRmEEE R, AR AF]), SDIC Capital Co., Ltd. (RREXRRKRHE
2 2 7)), and Beijing SPC Environment Protection Tech Co., Ltd. (1t &
BB R B R A A).
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Jiang Yan-bo

Mr. Jiang Yan-bo, aged 57, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, doctoral degree holder, professor of law. Mr. Jiang
graduated from Jiangxi College of Finance and Economics (JL78
B 2T (currently known as Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics ((T #8871 4¢ K E2)) with a bachelor's degree in economics in
1987, from China University of Political Science and Law (4 BIBUE R
2) with a second bachelor’s degree in law in 1989, and from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics (T 7848 K2 with a doctoral
degree in economics in 2007. Mr. Jiang is currently an independent
non-executive director of the Company, a professor at the Law School
of Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (JT 75 Ef 48 K 225K &2
Bt) and an independent director of Guangdong Dowstone Technology
Co., Ltd. (BREBER MM AR A F]), Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial
(Group) Corporation Limited (7318 RE & 2 (& B {H AR A F) and
Shenzhen Minkave Technology Co., Ltd. (&Y &K ERE D AR
72 A]) and non-executive director of Mubang High-tech Co., Ltd. (78
ABE R AR A F]) and an external director of Jiangxi Provincial
Water Conservancy Investment Group Co., Ltd. (TFHEKFIHRELE
AR AAED.

SUPERVISORS
Dong Jun-qing

Mr. Dong Jun-ging, aged 89, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, bachelor's degree holder, and a senior engineer
at professor level. Mr. Dong graduated from Non-Ferrous Metal and
Gold Faculty in Moscow, USSR (Bt EHi Rl E B BH =S 20t) in
1959, with a bachelor’'s degree majoring in aluminum and magnesium
metallurgy, and obtained the title of USSR engineer. Mr. Dong lectured
at Non-Ferrous Metallurgy Faculty of the Northeastern University (3t
KE) and researched at Beijing Non-Ferrous Research Institute (1t 5
BEELBIITER) and was engaged in research and development
work in the Group. He has been a Supervisor and the chairman of the
Supervisory Committee since June 2002.
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Li Yong-zhao

Mr. Li Yong-zhao, aged 62, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor’s degree holder, and a researcher level senior
engineer. Mr. Li graduated from Xi’an Institute of Technology (FA%
TZEB) in August 1982 with a bachelor’s degree in mechanical
manufacturing technology and equipment. Mr. Li worked as
technician, office head, deputy director, director, deputy plant
manager and held other posts in state-owned Factory 615 of China
Industries Group Corporation (B 28 T 2#5£E /2 7). He also acted
as the general manager of the Sino-foreign joint venture named
Baoji Xingbao Machinery & Electric Co., Ltd. (B#HETHELT)),
plant manager of state-owned Factory 843 of China Industries Group
Corporation (F B Z2: TEE£E A F]) since May 2002, vice general
manager of China North Industries Group Corporation (Fiit T ¥ & H
BPRAF]), executive director of Xi'an Northern Qinchuan Company
Ltd. (A&t HJIEBEBRAE]) since October 2010; member of
science and technology committee of China North Industries Group
Corporation (Fadt TEEE B R A F]) since June 2020; the executive
director, Party secretary of Xi’an Northern Qinchuan Company Ltd.
(AZAE)IEB AR AR since October 2020. Mr. Li retired in
October 2021. He is currently a Supervisor of the Company.
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Huang Jiang-feng

Mr. Huang Jiang-feng, aged 43, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, bachelor’s degree holder. Mr. Huang graduated
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (7 & 81 &8 BUA K E2)
in 2003 with a bachelor's degree in administration. Mr. Huang held
positions in Sinopec Chenzhou Petroleum Branch in Hunan (FBIA
1B m M AR 5 2 7)), Dongguan Hsu Fu Chi Foods Co., Ltd. (5e
BRI EMAMRAQTF) and Guangzhou Office (/N & 2 5F) of Guosen
Securities (B1{53%). He has been working in Youngy Investment
Holding Group Co., Ltd. (B & =R EE BB A A]) since August
2008, and has been a Supervisor of the Company since September
2014 and now serves as a director and Vice President of Youngy
Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. (Bi#EEEXREEHR AR, an
executive director and general manager of Shenzhen Qianhai Youngy
Financial Services Company Limited (ZJIFT/ERE S BIRFEER A
A]), manager of Guangdong Youngy Financing Service Company
Limited (BR B R E RSB R A 7)), a director and general manager
of Guangdong Youngy Financing Renting Company Limited (J& 3 g 5
B & EHBRAA]), an executive director and manager of Guangdong
Youngy Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (ER gt E#EES
R A 7]), a director of Anhui Youngy Investment Co., Ltd (Z# @
ZABRAR]), a director and general manager of Shenzhen Youngy
Asset Management Co., Ltd (RYIIgtEEEEE BR A7), chairman
of the supervisory committee of Youngy Co., Ltd (BERMNDBRA
A]), an executive director of Guangzhou Youngy Equity Investment
Co., Ltd (BMEiER R EGR A7), a director of Mangian Network
Technology Limited (& EIEIEREEBR A F]), an executive
director and manager of Kangding Tianjie Construction Material Co.,
Ltd (FRE M XEEM B R A F]), chairman of Chengdu Youngy Lithium
Technology Co., Ltd (BX#BEbFEEE 2RI AR A 7l), a director of Hefei
Youngy Metal Technology Co., Ltd (AERIEESEBRIFAR AR, a
supervisor of Guangzhou Classic Decoration Design Engineering
Co., Ltd (BN HE AT T2 AR A F)), a director of Wuhu Tianyi
Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (BHXCeLREHEL AR A H]), a director
of Youngy Education Technology Co., Ltd. (BiEH BRI BR A F))
and an executive director and manager of Guangdong Youngy Capital
Management Co., Ltd (BRBEEAEIEFRAA).
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Wang Zhen

Ms. Wang Zhen, aged 47, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor’s degree holder. Ms. Wang graduated from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (BERIMEINE AL2)
(formerly known as “Guangzhou Institute of Foreign Languages” (&N
SNEIFEEFR)) in the PRC in 1998, majoring in Spanish and obtained a
bachelor's degree. Ms. Wang joined BYD Battery in 1998 and served
as a manager in overseas Ministry of Commerce, Vice President of
Administrative Personnel of Shenzhen DENZA New Energy Automotive
Co., Ltd. (RYIEZ LR SEAR A R]), officer of the President’s
office, director of the rail transit industry office, Secretary-General
of BYD Charity Foundation and general manager of BYD Company
(Pingshan District). She is a Supervisor and the general manager of
Human Resources Office of the Company, a supervisor of Shantou
City Sky Rail Transportation Co., Ltd. CLLEEMEMRBAER A F]), a
supervisor of Jining City Sky Rail Transportation Co., Ltd. (B=mZ#),
RiBAR A A)) and the chairman of BYD Charity Foundation.

Tang Mei

Ms. Tang Mei, aged 40, is a Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas and a bachelor’'s degree holder. Ms. Tang graduated from
Central South University (FFEIAE2) in June 2005, with a bachelor’'s
degree in English. Ms. Tang joined the Group in 2005 and held
positions as secretary of the President, a manager in Cultural
Propaganda Department of the Group, a manager in reception center
of the Group, executive officer of BYD Charity Foundation, currently
the supervisor and deputy head of the Chief Executive Office.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Li Ke

Ms. Li Ke, aged 53, Chinese national with the right of abode in the US,
bachelor's degree holder. Ms. Li graduated from Fudan University (18
B KE) in 1992 with a bachelor's degree in statistics. Ms. Li worked
at Asia Resources (38/1&JR) and joined BYD Battery in September
1996. She served various positions including Marketing Manager and
General Sales Manager, executive director and chief executive officer
of BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited (k228 5 F(BIER)
APR/AF]) and is an Executive Vice President of the Company and
vice chairman of BYD Charity Foundation.
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Lian Yu-bo

Mr. Lian Yu-bo, aged 59, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master’s degree holder, and a professorate senior engineer.
Mr. Lian graduated from Nanjing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics (B R ZEMAKE) in July 1987, with a bachelor’s
degree majoring in aircraft manufacturing engineering. In September
2000, he obtained an EMBA degree from Nanjing University (B &= X
E2). Worked in China Automotive Research Center (ff BB IS D),
and served as the chief engineer of SAIC Motor Yizheng Automobile
Co., Ltd. (E)AEBEEBIIEAMRAF]), and executive deputy general
manager of Shanghai Tongji Tongjie Automotive Design Company
(L/BRERFEAERETAT), Mr. Lian joined the Group in February
2004 and is an Executive Vice President of the Company, president of
the Automotive Engineering Research Institute and chairman of Fudi
Jinggong Co., Ltd. (38348 TH PR A 7)), a director of BYD TOYOTA EV
Technology Co., Ltd. (tbani 2R EBHERHEL AR A F]) and Shenzhen
DENZA New Energy Automotive Co., Ltd. (RYIEFHEERSEBRE A
R]) and a director of BYD Charity Foundation.

Luo Hong-bin

Mr. Luo Hong-bin, aged 57, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master’s degree holder and a professorate senior engineer.
Mr. Luo obtained a master’'s degree in computer application. Mr. Luo
joined the Group in October 2003. He served various posts including
manager of the third Electronics Sub-division of Division 15, director
of the Institute of Electric vehicles, president of the Electric Power
Research Institute, general manager of Division 14, and general
manager of Division 17. He currently is a Senior Vice President of the
Company, the chairman of Fudi Power Co., Ltd. (@8 H AR A 7)),
the chairman of Shenzhen BYD Auto Industrial Co., Ltd. (&3l 38385
BEEARZAF]) and a director of BYD Charity Foundation.

He Zhi-qi

Mr. He Zhi-qi, aged 51, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master's degree holder. Mr. He graduated from Changchun
Institute of Applied Chemistry Chinese Academy of Sciences (%}
Pt RAERAMLCEMIITAT) in 1998, with a master’'s degree majoring
in inorganic chemistry, and then graduated from China Europe
International Business School (FREX T & &2 2k) with an MBA in
2010. Mr. He joined BYD Battery in July 1998 and served various
posts including central research manager, quality control manager,
general manager of Division 4 and general manager of Purchasing
Office of the Company. He currently is a Senior Vice President and
the COO of Passenger Car Division of the Company and a director of
Shenzhen DENZA New Energy Automotive Co., Ltd. (R #4ER
AEBRAA).
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He Long

Mr. He Long, aged 51, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master's degree holder. Mr. He graduated from Peking
University (It ARZ) in 1999 and obtained a bachelor’s degree
of science in applied chemistry, an LLB and a master’s degree in
inorganic chemistry. Mr. He joined BYD Battery in July 1999 and held
positions as quality control manager of Division 1 and Division 2,
deputy general manager of Division 2 and vice-chairman of Foshan
Jinhui Hi-Tech Optoelectronic Material Co., Ltd. (LT & E 5%}
KEMEBRAR]). He is a Senior Vice President of the Company,
chairman of FinDreams Battery Co., Ltd. (R#MEHEGR A F]), a
director of Tibet Zabuye Lithium Industry Co., Ltd. (78§ B & 8| 217 Bf
#EE SR AR AT]), a director of China Metallurgical New Energy
Technology Co., Ltd (FaIRARFTaEIRTEH B R A 7)) and a director of
BYD Charity Foundation.

Liu Huan-ming

Mr. Liu Huan-ming, aged 60, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master’'s degree holder, and a senior engineer. Mr. Liu
graduated from Northeastern Institute of Technology (31t T £5%)
(currently known as Northeastern University) in 1988 with a bachelor’s
degree and later a master’'s degree in Metallurgical physical
chemistry. Mr. Liu worked for the Iron and Steel Institute of Panzhihua
Iron and Steel Company in Sichuan (P0) |22 7E 80 X 7] 8 #5732kt
and Benxi Iron and Steel Company in Liaoning (EZEAZ A 7).
He joined BYD Battery in March 1997 and served as general manager
of the Human Resources Office, general manager of the Department
of New Energy Vehicle Direct Sale Management and general manager
of Division 3 of the Rail Department of the Company. He is currently
a Vice President of the Company, general manager of the Audit
Inspection Division, and a director of BYD Charity Foundation. He is
also in charge of the Intellectual Property and Legal Department and
the Information Center.

Wang Chuan-fang

Mr. Wang Chuan-fang, aged 62, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, is the elder brother of Mr. Wang Chuan-fu. Mr. Wang
joined BYD Battery in August 1996 and held positions including
Personnel Manager and Logistics Manager. He currently is a Vice
President of the Company, general manager of Logistics Division,
general manager of Division 22 and a director of Yinchuan Sky Rail
Operation Co., Ltd. (8R)IIZ8EZ ER A7) and a director of BYD
Charity Foundation.
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Ren Lin

Mr. Ren Lin, aged 56, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor's degree holder, and a senior engineer. Mr.
Ren graduated from Beijing Institute of Technology (1t 712 T K &)
in 1989, with a bachelor’s degree majoring in mechanical design,
manufacturing and automation. He went to Japan, Tsinghua University
(BE A 2) and Beijing Institute of Technology (1t 732 T A £2) for
multiple times for further study during his terms of office. Mr. Ren once
worked in Shaanxi Qinchuan Motor Co., Ltd. (BRFEZ)IJSEAREEA
7]). He joined the Group in January 2003 and held positions including
as executive Vice President of Automotive Engineering Institute (/5
B T 2BT). He currently is a Vice President of the Company, general
manager of Division 21 and a director of BYD Charity Foundation.

Wang Jie

Mr. Wang Jie, aged 56, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor’'s degree holder. Mr. Wang graduated from Xi'an
Institute of Gold Mining and Construction (FE% A& E ) (now
known as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology (7% &5
BHEKE)) in 1988 with a bachelor’'s degree in engineering, majoring
in Industry Enterprises Automatisation; Mr. Wang once worked in
Jiaxing Metallurgy Manufacture Factory of Metallurgy Department (&
& &5 H)R © M) and other institutions. Mr. Wang joined BYD
Battery in September 1996, and he served various positions including
sales manager, sales director and deputy general manager of the
Company’s Sales & Marketing Division, and the general manager of
Commercial Vehicles Division of the Company. He currently is a Vice
President of the Company and the general manager of Commercial
Vehicles Sales Division of the Company and a director of BYD Charity
Foundation.

Zhou Ya-lin

Ms. Zhou Ya-lin, aged 46, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor’'s degree holder. Ms. Zhou graduated from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics (JTFAEFAE A ER) in 1999, with
a bachelor’s degree in economics. Ms. Zhou joined BYD Battery in
March 1999 and is the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. She is also the chief financial officer of BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited (fbanz#E F(BIR)BRAF]), a
director of BYD Semiconductor Co., Ltd, chairman of BYD Auto
Finance Company Limited (tb283# /3% & /AR 72 Al), a supervisor of
BYD TOYOTA EV Technology Co., Ltd. (tkinii L HESHERFEARA
A]) and a supervisor of BYD Charity Foundation, etc.
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Yang Dong-sheng

Mr. Yang Dong-sheng, aged 44, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, master’'s degree holder, and a senior engineer.
Mr. Yang graduated from Northeastern University (1L AE) in
March 2005 with a master’'s degree. Mr. Yang joined the Group in
2005 and has held positions including senior engineer in Automotive
Engineering Research Institute, vice manager in the Chassis Division
of the Automotive Engineering Research Institute, senior business
secretary of the President, general manager of the Product and
Technical Planning Division. He is presently the Vice President of the
Company and the dean of Product Planning and New Automotive
Technology Research Institute.

Li Qian

Mr. Li Qian, aged 50, Chinese national with no right of abode overseas,
master’s degree holder. Mr. Li graduated from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics ((T AR 48 KE2) in 1997, with a bachelor’s
degree in economics. He graduated from Guanghua School of
Management of the Peking University (1t 2 K £ 3¢ E & 1B &) with an
EMBA in July 2016. Mr. Li served in PwC China (& # k& &M=
FT), Arthur Andersen (Z3Z{EG5HEI S AT) and ZTE Corporation (4
BB AR A R]). Mr. Li joined the Group in August 2005 and is
the secretary to the Board of the Company, Company Secretary and
general manager of Investment Department. He is also a member of
the tenth Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange, a member
of the first GEM Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange, a
joint company secretary of BYD Electronic (International) Company
Limited (FbZ2iE F(BIFR) B R A 7)), a director of BYD Semiconductor
Co., Ltd (Hapi@ =+ E M) BR A F]), chairman of Shenzhen BYD
Investment Management Co., Ltd. (RIJITHLL i EE B ER N F)),
chairman of Energy Storage Power Station (Hubei) Co., Ltd. (F&REE
UE(H4E)EBR A 7)), vice chairman of Allystar Technology (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. CRYNIZERIL AR5 B R A R]), a director of Qinghai Salt
Lake BYD Resources Development Co., Ltd. (5 /885 anm & R
FE B AR, a director of Chengxin Lithium Group Co., Ltd. (%1
$EEe =MD AR A A)), a director of Sichuan Road & Bridge Group
Co., Ltd. (I BBEZEERMHBRA7A]), a director of Advanced
Materials Technology & Engineering, Inc. (58X EFRIEBR A
7)), etc.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Name

HE

Position held within the Company

RAXRARENBEK

BREHRNES EENSREEASHRMN

Status of employment

ERRAE

Total remuneration

received from
the Company
(Unit: RMB’000)
RARESEH
BB

(B : ARBTF )

Wang Chuan-fu
IE®

Lv Xiang-yang
& k5

Xia Zuo-quan
EfER

Cai Hong-ping
Zhang Min
R

Jiang Yan-bo
BaR

Dong Jun-ging
Xl

Li Yong-zhao
FoKél
Huang Jiang-feng
=ik
Wang Zhen
B3

Tang Mei
=1

LiKe

i

Lian Yu-bo
BRI

Luo Hong-bin
BADH

Chairman, Executive Director and President

Bk WTES BH

Vice-chairman and non-executive Director
AEER  FRTES

Non-executive Director

FMTES

Independent non-executive Director

BIUFHMTES

Independent non-executive Director

BIUFMTES

Independent non-executive Director

BIUFMTES

Supervisor and chairman of the supervisory committee
EE EEELF

Supervisor

E=x

Supervisor

==E

Supervisor

==

Supervisor

==

Executive Vice President
HITRIBE

Executive Vice President

WATRIAE

Senior Vice President
BB

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

RIE

Incumbent

RIE

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

RIE

Incumbent

RE

Incumbent

R

Incumbent

R

6,147

200

200

200

200

200

100

100

100

3,579

1,346

9,602

8,825

8,870
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED)

BEHMRES ESVNEREEASHMH

(&)

Total remuneration

received from

the Company

(Unit: RMB’000)

RAREBH

Name Position held within the Company Status of employment B

i3] RERRBRENBE R R (B AR¥F )

He Zhi-qi Senior Vice President Incumbent 7,397
Bk ELEE BE

He Long Senior Vice President Incumbent 8,774
fAle ELEE BRI

Liu Huan-ming Vice President Incumbent 5,520
gl gl RiE

Wang Chuan-fang Vice President Incumbent 5,983
&AL gl BiE

Ren Lin Vice President Incumbent 5,728
EH Bl R

Wang Jie Vice President Incumbent 3,703
T Bl BE

Zhou Ya-lin Vice President Incumbent 5,761
J& 2R Bl BE

Chief Financial Officer Incumbent

B e B

Yang Dong-sheng Vice President Incumbent 5,860
R Bl BE

Li Qian Secretary to the Board, Company Secretary Incumbent 4,256
3 EEgWE  ROWE BHE

Total - - 92,651

HEt
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The Board believes that good corporate governance is a key element
in enhancing the confidence of current and potential shareholders,
investors, employees, business partners and the community as a
whole. To this end, the Company has been committed to promoting
and upholding the highest standard of corporate governance.

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
came into effect and the requirements under the Code will apply
to corporate governance reports for financial year commencing on
or after 1 January 2022. The Company has put in place corporate
governance practices to comply with all the provisions and most of
the recommended best practices of the Code except for the deviation
from the code provisions C.2.1 and C.1.6.

Code provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Wang Chuan-fu is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers that this
structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between
the Board and the management. The Board comprises experienced
and high-caliber members and meets regularly to discuss issues
affecting operations of the Group. The Board believes that this
structure is conducive to strong and consistent leadership, enabling
the Group to make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.
The Board has full confidence in Mr. Wang and believes that his
appointment to the posts of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is
beneficial to the business development of the Company.

Code provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and non-executive directors should attend general meetings.
Given some non-executive directors were unable to travel as a result
of COVID-19 prevention and control or had other important business
engagement during relevant periods, not all of them attended the
extraordinary general meeting held on 27 May 2022 and annual
general meeting held on 8 June 2022.

During the Reporting Period, except for the deviation from code
provisions C.2.1 and C.1.6 as explained above, the Directors are
of the opinion that the Company had complied with all applicable
provisions of the Code.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Accountable to the Shareholders, the Board is collectively responsible
for formulating the strategic business direction of the Group and
setting objectives for management, overseeing its performance and
assessing the effectiveness of management strategies. The Board is
also responsible for, and has during the Year performed the corporate
governance duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the Code
(including the determining of the corporate governance policy of the
Company).

DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six directors,
including one executive director who is the President, two non-
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.
Detailed biographies outlining each individual director’s range of
specialist experience and suitability of the successful long-term
operation of the Group are set out on pages 40 to 43 of this annual
report.

The Group believes that its executive and non-executive directors
composition is well balanced with each Director having sound
knowledge, experience and/or expertise relevant to the business
operations and development of the Group. All Directors are aware of
their collective and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and
have exercised their duties with care, skill and diligence, contributing
to the successful performance of the Group for the year under review.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent. As at the
date of this annual report, the years of service of all independent
non-executive directors are less than 9 years. Should the Board
wish to seek for the further appointments of any independent non-
executive directors serving more than 9 years from the Shareholders,
separate resolutions should be proposed to the general meetings
for consideration and approval and the reasons to justify their
independence despite of the length of their services will be contained
in relevant papers to the Shareholders in accordance with code
provision B.2.3 in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and Senior Management
with the extent of this insurance being reviewed each year.
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The Board held twelve meetings during this year to discuss the
Group’s overall strategy, operation, financial performance and review
the status of regulatory compliance. The Board also ensures that
it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary information in a
form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties.
All Board meetings adhere to a formal agenda in which a schedule
of matter is specifically addressed to the Board for its decision.
The matters discussed at these Board meetings include, among
others, quarterly, interim and annual results; recommendations on
the remuneration of Directors and Supervisors, recommendations of
auditors, approval of major capital projects; dividend policies; and
other significant operational and financial matters.

The Directors decide on various corporate strategies, approve overall
business plans and supervise the Group’s financial performance,
management and organization on behalf of the shareholders. Specific
tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’ s management included
the preparation of annual and interim accounts for the Board’s
approval before public reporting; implementation of strategies
approved by the Board; the implementation of internal control
procedures; and the ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory
requirements and other regulations and rules.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Newly appointed directors of the Company will be provided with
relevant induction materials to assist them to fully understand the
Company’s operations, business and governance policies and their
responsibilities and duties as a director under the requirements of
the relevant laws and regulations, such as the Listing Rules. They
will also be provided with materials to help them to gain insights in
the Company’s business and operation. In order to ensure adequate
performance of duties by the independent non-executive directors, the
Company will also arrange on-site visits and sufficient communication
with the management for the independent non-executive directors.
Pursuant to the corporate governance requirements, the Directors
participated in continuous professional development programme to
develop and update their knowledge and skills. The particulars of the
trainings of each Director are as follows:
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Training/
seminars
participated Reading
SEE materials
Name of Directors EEsR Eneg B ok
Executive Director BITES
Wang Chuan-fu T Vv Vv
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Lv Xiang-yang =R V Vv
Xia Zuo-quan Btkhz vV Vv
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Cai Hong-ping B vV Vv
Zhang Min R V Vv
Jiang Yan-bo BER v Vv

INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company has maintained various measures and mechanisms to
ensure that independent views and input are available to the Board.
For instance, in compliance with Code provisions C.5.6 and C.5.9
of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the Board and its committees
are provided with adequate information and have separate and
independent access to the senior management of the Company for
purpose of making informed decisions. In particular, all members
of the Board are entitled to have timely access to the information
of the Group (including but not limited to management accounts,
operational results and statistics, audit results and other relevant
industry and market information and forecasts), as well as assistance
of the Company Secretary and professional advice if necessary at
the expense of the Company. Besides, the audit committee of the
Company is also entitled to contact, and has discussed with, external
auditors of the Company on an annual basis to discharge its duties.
Board members are also encouraged to seek inputs from other
members, employees, other stakeholders as well as investors (via the
investor relations channels) in appropriate circumstances to ensure
that different perspectives are taken into account in the decision-
making process.

The implementation and effectiveness of the relevant measures and
mechanisms are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis. The
Board is satisfied that there are effective and sufficient formal or
informal channels in place to ensure that independent views and input
are reached at the Board level.
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BOARD MEETINGS Exeel

To ensure the highest attendance of Directors, written notices are sent AT REBEZSMEEHER  THEFee=N T
to all Directors 14 days before a regular board meeting; written notices PIXAIAZEEBMNZES BB EESHAMA
are sent to all Directors 2 days before a provisional board meeting. RIAZEEBMNEES - GRZ RN HBAESERE
The meeting agenda is set in consultation with members of the Board. & #|E - RS —FHBIT+_KEFSTH -
The Board held 12 meetings in 2022. The attendance of individual EEZEWR - Z-"FEEZLeZLBREARGHEAL
Director at the Board meetings as well as general meetings in 2022 is &R &HF|0T :

set out below:

Annual Extraordinary
Board General General
Meetings Meetings Meetings
Members of the Board EEgRE EEg8R2 RERBFERE BREAE
Executive Director HITES
Wang Chuan-fu FiERE 12/12 1/1 1/1
Non-executive Directors FYITES
Lv Xiang-yang = [R5 12/12 1/1 1/1
Xia Zuo-quan Bk 12/12 0/1 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHITESE
Cai Hong-ping B 12/12 1/1 1/1
Zhang Min KRB 12/12 1/1 1/1
Jiang Yan-bo BEK 12/12 1/1 1/1

In furtherance of good corporate governance, the Board has setupa AE—FSEHMRTFLEER  EFSDKIHEZ

number of committees, including: B

- the Audit Committee; - BERELZEE

- the Remuneration Committee; - FMEES

- the Nomination Committee; and - REZEE R
- the Strategy Committee. - BREES -

Each Committee reports regularly to the Board, addressing major ®JZE@THHNEZTSIEHRE  URESEARHE
issues and findings with valuable recommendations for the decision IREBESERHAHESSEHRTE - ZSZEemH
making of the Board. The particulars of these Committees are set out  [FEHFILAT ©

hereunder.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

One of the primary duties of the Audit Committee is to review the
financial reporting process and the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. As at 31 December 2022, the Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Mr. Jiang Yan-bo, and
a non-executive director, Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, with Mr. Zhang Min as the
chairman. Meetings were convened by the Audit Committee and the
Company’s auditors to review the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group and to discuss auditing, internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters before recommending
them to the Board for approval.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow the guidelines
set by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Listing Rules and the provisions of the Code.

The Audit Committee held five meetings in 2022 to review the internal
and external audit findings, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, Listing Rules and statutory compliance,
deliberate its relationship, remuneration and appointment terms and
independence with the external auditor with reference to its work
performance and to make recommendations to the Board regarding
the adoption of the China Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises, the cessation of appointment of the international auditor
and the reappointment of the external auditor, as well as to discuss
auditing, internal controls, risk management and financial reporting
matters (including auditing the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021, the three months ended 31 March 2022, the six
months ended 30 June 2022 and the nine months ended 30 September
2022), before recommending them to the Board for approval, and
performed its other duties under the Code. The individual attendance
of its members of the meetings is set out as follows:

BEREES

EVZBEMNTIEREZ —RENAKENM R
ERFALEBREREMARENGE R_FT=—
Ft-A=1t—8 BERZEEERE=ZR2BIIFH
TESE  AERFEL REEERBEREE
AR —ZIFRTEETaRBELE  MERSEEHE
IE -ARAMNBRZEQEZEMBITEE U
BWNASEMRANSABRREER  KIHRE
Z - MEREEE - R ERERPBHREEE  UAE
ERHERALE -

ERZERNREBECERET LSS
EHHES| - ERARRIRTRINBE -

RZEZZF -  BEZZEERITARNEH - UEH
WEf R INEREAZ M BT - N B FTIR AR 2 512 R
RER - BREMAARER - 2BINBAZ A AT
BITH T1E% » BinBINDIZEEMEEZR - Efe
NMEETAE R MBI - WSS — AR
Gt AR BB T R R AR B AMZ ERAD I &
MZEEIINBZBMAMESSROER  URFTWE
% AEEEE - RREELMBEREER(BEREZ
HEZZT-—F+-A=1+—HILFE #HEZZ
ZZF=ZRA=+—HAL=@R BEZZT-_Z—FX
AZ+HUERNERERBZE-_ZE-_—_FHLA=+HIt
NEAMEE®RE) - UMESSHBIE - RETT
TFRITHEMNBE - HKBHFEEREIWT -

Number of

Committee

Meetings
Attended Attendance
HEZEE Rate
Members of the Audit Committee EREEENE BERE HEE
Lv Xiang-yang &= A% 5 100%
Zhang Min (Chairman) RB(ETE) 5 100%
Cai Hong-ping ZOHL 5 100%
Jiang Yan-bo HEK 5 100%
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a Remuneration Committee on 27 June 2005.
The primary role of the Remuneration Committee is to regularly review
human resource management policies, make recommendations
on the remuneration packages, compensation and benefit plans of
Directors and senior executives, as well as setting performance goals
for senior management of the Group. As at 31 December 2022, the
Remuneration Committee comprises an executive director, Mr. Wang
Chuan-fu, a non-executive director, Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, and three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Cai Hong-ping,
Mr. Zhang Min and Mr. Jiang Yan-bo, with Mr. Cai Hong-ping as the
chairman.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed its terms of reference,
which is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, in 2022 to comply with the Code.

In terms of the summary of the work of the Remuneration Committee,
the Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2022 to, among
others, assess the performance of executive Directors and review the
remuneration of directors, supervisors and senior management of the
Company, and approve the 2022 Employee Share Ownership Plan
of the Company (including to consider the potential grant of share
awards to the eligible employees of the Group, taking into account,
among others, their achievement of targets for the preceding year, the
strategic goals of the Company, the terms of the aforesaid plan and
other recommendations from Senior Management of the Company),
to ensure that any potential grant is align with market practice, and
the grantees’ interests with those of the Group and the Shareholders.
Therefore, the senior management and/or supervisors of the Group
may be granted a certain number of share awards under the 2022
Employee Share Ownership Plan adopted by the Company from time
to time. Such awards may be granted upon the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee and approval by the Board. The attendance
rate of its members is set out as follows:

A\ W

TEERBRE

FHESS
EFGER-FTRFAA-TLARTHMER
® - HMERRNTEAMELTMRT AN DRE
BER - HEERERTRALORHES B
&@ﬂﬁ%ﬁm@#vu&mi¢%l%wﬁﬁA
BMERAR -R-F--F+-A=+—0 ¥
WEAREA ERGEFTEELL . &
TEREHR S REABTHERTEEEAT
Sk RS RIEEREE - MEDKT S
o

R-ZT-—F HFZEECas RSN E (KR
REERBEIARARRDRUERN) - LA T
U

YFNZEemERMATE  R-T-—F
i,\ SRITMAGH  WEFPERFHUTES

MERLEHARABES EENSREEAEN
BB ARR T —FBTIHKRFE(BEE

BREAMEENGERBEIRTRMNER HEhaH
%J‘E?MHLEXHI—EWET@‘ N E B B AR Bl
AFEGRARAREAEEENEMEZSFAR) -
HERIEREEN R THAMISED - I HE k()52
B BIE BB TAMEIA KRB MR A M & —
B Al SENSREEEN HEEAETL
ﬁ”FETF ANRERAN T - —FB T IHETSIE

—EHENRN R - WREBAREFMNE R
E.E’\JL.% WAKLEESHERET - ERBHF
TEHFIT

Number of

Committee

Meetings
Attended Attendance
HEZESY Rate
Members of the Remuneration Committee FHMZEERE =R YN HER
Wang Chuan-fu FiER& 2 100%
Xia Zuo-quan e 2 100%
Cai Hong-ping (Chairman) BEORT(ER) 2 100%
Zhang Min SR B 2 100%
Jiang Yan-bo PEE =D 2 100%
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REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual
performance as measured against the corporate objectives and the
Group’s operating results and taking into account of comparable
market conditions. For the remuneration of the executive Directors
and Senior Management, the Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and Senior Management (adopting
the model described in code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code)
which would then be reviewed and subject to approval by the Board.
The remuneration package of the executive Directors would also be
subject to approval by shareholders at general meetings. The principal
elements of the remuneration package of executive Directors include
basic salary and discretionary bonus. The remuneration of non-
executive directors includes mainly the Director’s fee. The Company
reimburses reasonable expenses incurred by Directors in the course
of their carrying out of duties as Directors.

Directors do not participate in decisions on their own remuneration.

The emoluments paid to each Director for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out on page 51 of this annual report.

EEFMER

AEEEHTEEFHBRRNEIZBRREARA
EBRATESNMERLFAARBEHBTER
AEREAKRENKLXEREE ARG EAL
BOTS GRS UWBERABRTES - SLTE
ERRRAEEEFHNS  FHEEenERES
ERIMITEE R RERERNFHIAES R EZH (R
M EERTRIBCEE..2(c) (1) R AR 30) 3 7%
HEFSFHLEMNILE  RERTEFTNOFHIA
EARBALBRIERGHE - ATESNHBHAES
ITEHBOVBRELAFTE WBELA - FRTEEN
FNETEEREFHEE BEFRETHFERESR
BERMELENMAY - ARREELABME -

EET2REETEARGOHMN -

HEZZ-__F+-A=+—HILFE ZHTF5
EENMSFNAFRESIA -

Remuneration of Senior Management During the Year FASREEASTHH
Number of Senior
Management
Remuneration by bands RERESTHHE SREEEAH
RMBO to RMBS5 million ARBEZ e ARK500& 7T 2
RMBS5 million to RMB8 million AR¥ES008 T E AR BEB00E 7T 7

RMB8 million to RMB1.1 million

AREEBO0E TE AKRKE1,1008 7T 4
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Group has established the Nomination Committee. As at 31
December 2022, the Nomination Committee comprises an executive
director, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, a non-executive director, Mr. Lv Xiang-
yang, and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Mr. Jiang Yan-bo, with Mr. Jiang
Yan-bo as the chairman. The Nomination Committee has been
delegated with the powers and authorities to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships and
Senior Management, appointment and reappointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors, assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors and determine the policy for the
nomination of Directors.

In terms of the summary of the work of the Nomination Committee,
the Nomination Committee held one meeting in 2022 to nominate
Ms. Song Yun as a candidate for the head of internal audit of the
Company. The attendance rate of its members is set out as follows:

N\

TEERBRE

REZE®

AEBEEKIREZEG RITZ-_—F+-H=
+—H REZESH—RBRITESTERELLE
—HERNTEEEMBLE  R=RBBUIFERNTE
BHEUFRL RGUEEREBERLEMEK M
EREEREF - REEZESCEERE N NER
NWENHEEEeMEE  REREK  BEESK
SREEEBRERIANRE  ZAREFZAESE RIS
EFTRNESSREER  TAERFGE IR
TEENBYERATESRENBUR -

REZEENBRBEATH  R-TB--F - £4%
ZEGRTREE  URBREXLTRLRFANE
BBEAREA - EREHLEXHINWT -

Number of

Committee

Meetings
Attended Attendance
HEZEE Rate
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEEEHE BRI HER
Wang Chuan-fu TEE 1 100%
Lv Xiang-yang &= A% 1 100%
Jiang Yan-bo (Chairman) BaK(ERE) 1 100%
Cai Hong-ping BT 1 100%
Zhang Min SREK 1 100%

The Nomination Committee is committed to promoting diversity in

our Company to the extent practicable by taking into consideration a

number of factors in respect of our corporate governance structure.

REZBERINBBERLEE RABNZ AR
= BEYBEATNERL MeER AR Z T
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The Nomination Committee has also adopted a nomination policy
(the “Nomination Policy”) which includes the selection criteria and
nomination procedures of new appointments and re-appointments
of directors. The selection criteria for assessing candidates include,
in particular, his/her educational background and professional
qualifications, experiences in the industry, personality and integrity, as
well as his/her contributions to the diversity of the Board according to
the Board Diversity Policy. In the case of re-appointment of Directors,
the Nomination Committee would take into account factors such
as contribution from the retiring Directors. Where the candidate is
appointed for the position of independent non-executive director, the
Nomination Committee will also assess his/her independence with
reference to the requirements set out in the Listing Rules. In appointing
a new Director, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board will
first identify potential candidates. After the Nomination Committee
evaluated the candidates based on the selection criteria, the
Nomination Committee will nominate one or more qualified candidates
for the Board’s consideration and the Board will determine and agree
on a preferred candidate. The Company and/or the Chairman of the
Board will then negotiate the terms of appointment with the preferred
candidate. Finally, the Chairman of the Board, in consultation with
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and the chairman of
the Nomination Committee, will then finalise a letter of appointment
for the Board’s approval. The Nomination Committee shall ensure the
transparency and fairness of the selection procedure and continue to
adopt diversified selection criteria during the appointment procedure,
taking into consideration a range of elements such as age, educational
background, professional experience, industrial skills and professional
knowledge. Since its establishment, the Nomination Committee has
assumed the role of reviewing such diversified selection policy at
the nomination level, maintaining a diversified spectrum of varying
perspectives, educational background and professional knowledge in
the Board.

REZEEMERA—BRZBER(REHED - 1
PO EERENEFES Z2BELERIRRERE
Fr o MARHEREANBEEABRE(LER) HE
BEERLEXER BITXRRZ&R%  mBEH
EREEEERNZTIBREMAREETE S TLIE
HER - EMZEEEIE  REZESRZSEN
REEREMELEMERER - MIxEARZEBEL
FRITEERL  REZEEH2ELTRAMSE
Pl BRFHE R B - EEENESH - 1%
ZEEN/REEERENEESANE - KREZ
B REBEIELRFGHREANR  REZEEHRE
FURZUEERFEAMESTSER  BEF
EHREWRAE —REBREA - KRAFR,HE
FRIRBESKEREAMBREZGNK - RE
EEgIREHATHEESIRIREAZESE:
FREEZERZEE  TEESHE REZESE
BRIERFEARDY  REEBRFHEFEA
ZULBBER  ARZEEFHK HAEES BX
KE - TERREREENBSZZHEEE - BRI
K RAZEECRARNERATERAZ T
BERRZEE BREFAAEZ TLEEBELTRE
HEESRREENH
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The Board’s Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy, which sets
out the approach to the diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises the importance of diversity to corporate governance and
an effective Board. The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the
approach to achieve Board diversity, so as to ensure that the Board
members possess appropriate skills, experience and diverse views
necessary for the business of the Company. In determining the Board
composition, the Board and Nomination Committee consider a range
of diversity elements, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based on
merit and objective criteria while taking into full account the interest of
the Board'’s diversity.

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
elements and measurable objectives which will be reviewed regularly.
Such measurable objectives shall include, but be not limited to,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and/or terms of service. The final
decision will be made according to the strengths of the candidate
and his/her contribution that would bring to the Board. Furthermore,
pursuant to code provision B.1.3 of the Code, the Board should
review the implementation and effectiveness of the issuer’s policy
on board diversity on an annual basis. The Nomination Committee
has performed the above duties in terms of selection of candidates
and review the implementation and effectiveness of the Company’s
diversity policy during the Year. Having considered the business
and development needs of the Company, the Nomination Committee
considers that the current Board is sufficiently diversified in terms of
its skills, experience, knowledge, length of service and independence.

There were female members in the previous sessions of the Board.
However, as at the date of this report, all members of the Seventh
Session (current session) of the Board are male. The Director for this
session of the Board were nominated by the Shareholders, and have
been considered and approved by the Nomination Committee and
the Sixth Session of the Board on 21 August 2020. In addition, they
were appointed after consideration and approval at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 8 September 2020
(collectively, the “Appointment Procedures for this Session of the
Board”). This session of the Board has a term of 3 years with effect
from 8 September 2020. During the implementation of the Appointment
Procedures for this Session of the Board, when appointing the
Directors, factors to be taken into consideration by the Company are
not limited to age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge, etc., and gender is not regarded as
an important restriction on the candidate selection for the Board.

CREARE

ESe2nbBE

EXECHEMEFESI LR HPHAESFS
Ltz 78t - ARBIRREZTEREZ TLH D
XEAREFETZARNERZNL  EFEKES
TEBRREEIHEREREFTEREZ T(LMEN
B7TEt  NEREFEREARAEHMHELRBE
B KBRRETTCEH EFERIREEE
CERTESENEHEAR  SRZITAEEES
gXEZTTL - BERETRRUER - Fik - R
HEES BELR BRERAB - -EFEMAZ
EHARAES BRA - WATEERZEAE -
FROBEREZEEZIT/LNES -

BEABBEN RN ZTBH LS EHREND
AFERRT - BUETFEERRFBETERER -
Fi - XEER HEER  FELR KA
AR RRBFRE - REERMEAENER R
HEBREFEWANBRMMIAELIRE < #H - RE
STRIEBASTANEX  EFEEREFRETAN
EEE2MEBRNERBEARBRME - RREE
SORTEFALARE  BRBEAERENR
ANESELTTIEBRRNERBERLRBERE - £F
BARREBLRERTFR REZEGA/RIE
FeERE KB AE - REFREBIETE
ANRBAEZHEAER -

FREEEETZRUHEENE - BEEARSEM
Z2H BrtEEEEFEKENASH - AEE
EeBELARERE R-ZE-_ZFENA-_+—H
KIRZZESGRBEANEESTTEZBR  WEXA
ARER-_Z_ZTFNLAN\BNEBEREAS LF
ZBERYFUZE(ABIAEESESZERER]
AEEEEKETHAEBE S -_ZEFNLANAR
ZF  c ARBRAEESSEIERFERME -
ZHEESZENAZBEEETRRFR - XXk
HEES FELR  HERNHME  AQFRITEK
BEREARFBREEZTSRRAAECNEER
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To comply with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Company is
contemplating to include a female director to join the Board by 31
December 2024 via different channels such as by engaging human
resources agencies to identify potential successors for the Board and
enhance gender diversity in the coming years, if necessary, and will
emphasize to include gender as a factor to be taken into consideration
for achieving the Board diversity.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity not only
within the Board but among its workforce generally. As at the date of
this report, the number of female employees of the Group accounted
for 30.47% of the total workforce. The Board is of the view that the
Group has achieved gender diversity among employees.

The Group’s recruitment strategy is underpinned by the appointment of
the right employee for the right position, in order to achieve employee
diversity for all employees (including the senior management) in terms
of gender, age, cultural and educational background, expertise, skills
and know-how.

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Group established the Strategy Committee on 20 March 2008.
As at 31 December 2022, the Strategy Committee comprises one
executive Director, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, two non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Lv Xiang-yang and Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, and two independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Cai Hong- ping and Mr. Zhang
Min, with Mr. Wang Chuan-fu as the chairman. The main duty of the
Strategy Committee is to consider and make recommendations on
the Company’s long-term development strategy and major investment
decisions.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Li Qian, Company Secretary of the Company, is a full-time staff
of the Group, and is familiar with the daily affairs of the Company.
During the financial year, the Company Secretary had complied with
the relevant professional training requirements under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the Company Secretary
are set out in the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

RET ETMRANB.92 ARREZER —F_MF
T-A=1T—BZA@BTRREWEBEANER
BEREZSMEEENEAALERREEFRNIE
MR ZTAEGER)) AR EEEMAEES
VEBHUERRAARRERELEGZ TN EE
REz—-

RRRBONREZESS HEEES THAMIER
Zft e RAREBH  AEELZMETINHED
H2BEETHAEMN3047%  EEERAEREHE
IBMERIEEREIMRZ T

AEENHEERE ARG ENEUBREENET
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BREES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS AND THEIR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total remuneration paid
to the independent auditor, Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP, was
RMB6,350,000 for audit services and non-audit services provided
for the Company and its subsidiaries. The audit fee was approved
by the Board. During the Reporting Period, the total remuneration in
respect of the non-audit services provided was RMB900,000. The
remuneration composition of the non-audit services is set out in the
table below.

N\

TEERBRE

¥ M A% BUED B H %7 A

BE-_Z-—H#+-_A=+—HItFE BIZEH
ML KERSMEBMEFREBEE) BEART
REFRARIREZE RS MIEZE RS F BT
ABARM6,350,0007T c ZHEBCDEESSHE -
RIBEERAN - REIFEZBREOTHNEREAEARE
900,0007T ° FEZEARFS A Z BN AR A0 TR DI o

2022 2021

Item EHA —E- —E-—
Review of interim results EHR S RMB900,000 RMB900,000
AR #900,0007T AR #900,0007T
Non-audit item JEZEUIRR - -

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the
section headed “Audit Report” in this annual report.

On 29 March 2022, the Board resolved to (1) cease to appoint Ernst
& Young as the international auditor of the Company; and (2) the
appointment of Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (being the Company’s
existing domestic auditor and one of the approved domestic
accounting firms) as the Company’s sole external auditor for the
preparation of the Company’s financial statements in accordance with
CASBE. The relevant resolutions were approved by way of ordinary
resolutions at the annual general meeting held on 8 June 2022. Ernst
& Young has confirmed that there are no circumstances in connection
with the above-mentioned cessation of appointment of international
auditor that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.
The Board and the audit committee of the Company confirmed that
there is no disagreement between the Company, the audit committee
of the Company and Ernst & Young regarding the above-mentioned
cessation of appointment of international auditor. Each of the Board
and the audit committee of the Company has further confirmed that
it is not aware of any matter in relation to the proposed cessation of
appointment of international auditor that needs to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders.

EERRREAEREARARE_E_—_F+=
A=t—HLFENEHUBEE -

ARBBIREBMABEHARBABRE_T_—
ToA=+T—HALFENAHUBRRNBREL
BB E - ERAFRHOEREIA

RIE-_—F=ZA-TNAB EFRINTHEZ
LK SR EBA AR A BERZEE « R(2)%
BLOKERSTMEBHIEREBAR) (BARF
BEBRANZEE RN B EBRZ ER
RARIME— NI AR BAD - UEARAREP H
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BSHAE - KGN EBMOERREARH Lt
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TERERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board confirms its responsibility for risk management and internal
control systems, and for reviewing their effectiveness through the
Audit Committee at least annually. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in performing its responsibilities for supervision and corporate
governance, covering financial, operational, compliance, risk
management and internal control, as well as internal audit functions of
the Company.

Various measures have been designed for safeguarding assets
against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining good
accounting records and for the reliability of financial data used
within the business or for publication. The Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
errors, losses or fraud. The Board considers that the Company is fully
compliant with the provisions of risk management and internal control
as set forth in the Corporate Governance Code.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Company’s risk management system is composed of a well-
established organizational structure as well as all-rounded policies
and procedures. The responsibilities of each business and functional
department are clearly defined to ensure effective balance. The
Company’s risk management and internal control structure comprises
of:

Board of Directors

o Evaluating and determining the nature and magnitude of the
risks to be assumed by the Company, to achieve its business
and strategic goals;

. Ensuring that the Company has established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems;

° Supervising the designing, implementation and inspection

of the risk management and internal control systems by the
management team.
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Audit Committee

Assisting the Board in performing its duties of risk management
and internal control systems;

Supervising the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis, to provide opinions
and suggestions with regard to the improvement of the risk
management and internal control systems;

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’ s risk
management and internal control systems at least once a year;

Ensuring that the Company has sufficient resources, staff
qualifications and experiences in accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, as well as those relating to the
Group’s environmental, social and governance performance
and reporting.

Management Team

Designing, implementing and inspecting the risk management
and internal control systems;

Identifying, evaluating and managing risks (including
environmental, social and governance risks) that may exert
potential impacts on major operational procedures;

Responding to and following up in a timely manner with regard
to the investigation results of risk management and internal
control issues raised by the Internal Audit Department;

Providing opinions to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the acknowledgment of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems.

Internal Audit Department

Reviewing the due effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

Reporting the audit results and making suggestions to the
Audit Committee, to improve major drawbacks of the systems
or identify the deficiency of the control.
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IDENTIFICATION, EVALUATION AND MANAGEMENT OF
MAJOR RISKS

The management team and relevant staff identify risks (including
environmental, social and governance risks) that may exert potential
impacts on the Company and its operation, and evaluate and monitor
risks in the environment and process. Through comparison of the risk
appraisal results and risk prioritization, risk management strategies
and internal control procedures are determined to prevent, avoid or
reduce risks.

Major risks (including environmental, social and governance risks)
and related control measures are reviewed and upgraded on an
ongoing basis to ensure proper internal control procedures in place.
Based on the testing results, persons in charge confirm with the
senior management that internal control measures have played
their roles as expected, their weakness identified in the control have
been corrected, and risk management policies and internal control
procedures have been revised, in the event of any major changes.
The Board and the Audit Committee supervise the control activities
of the management team to ensure the effectiveness of the control
measures.

Annual Assessment

In 2022, the Board reviewed the soundness and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, covering
financial, operational and compliance control, with a self-evaluation
report issued on the internal control. In addition, the Company
engaged an auditor to audit the effectiveness of the internal control
related to the Company’s financial reports, and to provide independent
and objective assessments and suggestions in the form of audit
report. The Board considers that the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit Department which, equipped with
an independent internal audit system, plays an important role in
the Group’s risk management and internal control framework. The
department reports directly to the Audit Committee. The annual and
quarterly work plans of the Internal Audit Department are reviewed by
the Audit Committee and reported to the Audit Committee regularly.
Major audit findings shall be reported on a timely basis. Based on
its consideration, the Audit Committee will provide advice to the
Board and the Senior Management, with subsequent follow-up
measures taken to review the implementation of the rectification and
improvement plans.

A AEREEEARE

ERENEBEE TR AR RELBKELE
FEZRRBERE HERERAR)  FhE
PBRFMRIZ T @A R o 88 B R AT L4
R PIARERRF - EERREIERE LA
EPRRER  ABTLE ~ RS RERR o

TEER(BRERE HE8RERRR) BABER
i BRERIMER - AERREEE AR
EERF - REBASGER REBRTANEREH
B AHENABEAEBRSEEEABERANBEE
B ERER B ERENEZESR T UM
T EBrERREERREANEERF EFEN
ERZEOEEEEENER R UBEREEN
BXRL

B

R F  EFeCHEENAREERARE
HER(BREME  KERAREFNREEZEME
BMMET TR XHEAETAMES B LT ER
& R ARERF T BEAMEARAMBRER
BRI BRI B BT RS - AER RENER
RUBURENFEERER -EF2RR - 27N
RREE R ARG ERERETD °

R EBEF&

AEBERABEAF > HITBILOABERHE
EASENRAREEMANEZEERDEREEA
e - ZAMEERNBEZZESER - NaEZE
MEE - FRIGHEBEZZESERN UT
HMEZZEeFHRE  E2ERERTLRER
T HEZZBEERRAEFTE  EEERLE
& WEBKRERMRN T RS BURGENERE
Mo



Annual Report 2022
SECCEFR

Corporate Governance Report

Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group has put in place a set of policy for the disclosure of inside
information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner
and in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Unless the inside information falls
within any of the safe harbors as permitted under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance, the Group is required to disseminate such
information through the electronic publication system operated by the
Stock Exchange to the public in a timely manner. All Directors, Senior
Management and relevant employees are required to take reasonable
precautions for preserving the confidentiality of inside information and
the relevant announcement (if applicable) before publication. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained, the Group will in a timely manner disclose the information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable. The policy and its
effectiveness are subject to review on a regular basis.

Whistleblowing and Anti-corruption Policy

The Company takes a zero-tolerance attitude toward corruption,
implements anti-corruption policies that apply to all staff, and rewards
the whistleblowers.

The Company formulated a series of rules and measures, including
such as the BYD Code of Conduct, BYD Employee Professional Ethic
Guidelines, and BYD Guidelines for Employee Business Activities
with External Entities, for purpose of strictly prohibiting any offering,
accepting or claiming bribery, gifts, hospitality and any other form of
activity intended to affect the Company’s relevant business decision
for abnormal or inappropriate advantages.

The Company also established BYD Whistleblower Protection and
Incentive Measures and opened special channels for honesty issues
reporting (including via telephone, email, WeChat official account)
to encourage whistleblowers to perform the honesty supervision
system of the Company, and actively report cases of embezzlement,
corruption and other violations of laws, regulations and the rules and
measures of the Company. These whistleblowing and anti-corruption
policies are reviewed on an annual basis.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Compliance
Operation and Business Ethics” in the 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by its Directors. Having
made specific inquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that
none of the Directors have purchased or sold any securities of the
Company and all Directors have complied with their obligations under
the Model Code during the Year.

Specified employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance with
the Model Code. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company in 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Under the Articles of Association, any one or more shareholders
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
considering any matters specified in such requisition.

Any shareholder holding not less than 1% of the paid-up share capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company may, as a proxy solicitor, publicly request, either by himself/
herself or by appointing a securities company or securities service
institute, the shareholders of the Company to authorize him/her to
attend general meetings and exercise the right to make proposals,
right to vote, and other rights of shareholders.

Any one or more shareholders holding not less than 3% of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company may make a provisional proposal and submit it in
writing to the convener of the meeting ten days prior to the date of the
general meeting. The convener shall, within two days upon receipt of
the proposal, issue a supplementary notice of the general meeting
announcing the contents of such provisional proposal.

Furthermore, a shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director at a general meeting. For such
purpose, the shareholder must send to the Board a notice in writing of
the intention to propose a person for election as a Director and notice
in writing by that person of his or her willingness to be so elected,
no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant
general meeting and not later than 7 days prior to the date appointed
for the relevant general meeting.
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Shareholders may send their requisitions and inquiries requiring
the Board’s attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1712, 17th Floor,
Tower 2 Grand Central Plaza, No. 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road,
New Territories, Hong Kong. Other general inquiries can be directed
to the Company through our Investor and Media Relations Consultant,
whose contact information is disclosed in the section headed
“Corporate Information” of this annual report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with investors is
essential for enhancing investors’ knowledge and understanding of the
Company. To achieve this, the Company pursues a proactive policy of
promoting investor relations and communications. The main purpose
of the Company’s investor relations policy, therefore, is to enable
investors to have access, on a fair and timely basis, to information that
is reasonably required for making the best investment decisions.

Information relating to the Group is mainly communicated to
Shareholders and investors through publication of notices,
announcements and circulars at the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange and despatch of interim reports, annual
reports and circulars to the Shareholders, as well as performance
presentations, investor surveys, and regular email/phone contacts,
where Shareholders’ inquiries will be answered. Shareholders’ general
meetings are held in compliance with the Listing Rules and other
legal requirements to ensure communication and interaction with
Shareholders.

The Board reviews the investor relations policy on an annual basis,
and makes any changes it considers necessary to ensure its
effectiveness and that the legal interests of Shareholders and investors
are substantially protected.

The Board has conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the investor relations policy of the Company. Having
considered the diverse channels of communication in place, the Board
is satisfied that an effective investor relations policy has been properly
implemented throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the Year, there was no material change to the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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The directors of the Company (the “Board”) agreed to hereby
submit the annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of BYD Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in automobiles and batteries
business, handset components and assembly services, while taking
advantage of its technological superiority to actively develop urban
rail transportation and other business segment. The activities of
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note VII.1 to the financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Further discussion and analysis of principal activities are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 16 to 39 of the annual
report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2022 by business and geographical segments of
operations is set out in note XIV.1 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements and their notes on pages
99 to 359 of this annual report.

Dividend Distribution Policy

) The Company’s profit distribution policy shall focus on providing
investors with reasonable investment returns as well as
maintaining the sustainable development of the Company. The
Company’s profit distribution shall not exceed the range of the
accumulated distributable profits or damage the Company’s
ability to continue operations. A sustained and steady profit
distribution policy shall be implemented.
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(V)

The Company may distribute dividends in cash, in shares
or in a combination of both cash and shares or as otherwise
permitted by the laws and regulations. When the conditions for
cash dividend are satisfied, cash dividend shall be the priority
method of profit distribution.

The Company’s profit distribution shall be prepared by
the Board of Directors in accordance with the Company’s
operating conditions and the relevant requirements of China
Securities Regulatory Commission and shall be considered
and approved at the shareholders’ general meeting.

After the profit distribution plan is approved at the general
meeting of the Company, the Board of Directors of the
Company shall complete the distribution of dividends within
two months after convening the shareholders’ general meeting.

The profit distributed by the Company in cash each year
shall not be less than 10% of the realized distributable
profit for the year, provided that the following cash dividend
conditions are satisfied and the capital needs for the normal
production, operation and development of the Company are
met. The cumulative profit for distribution in cash for any three
consecutive years shall not be less than 30% of the average
annual distributable profit for such three years:

(1) The distributable profit (i.e. the Company’s profit after
tax net of loss and contribution of reserve funds)
realized by the Company for the year or half year
is positive in value and the cash flow is sufficient.
The payment of cash dividends will not affect the
subsequent continuing operation of the Company;

(2) The cumulative distributable profit of the Company is
positive in value;

(3) The audit firm issues an unqualified audit report on the
financial report of the Company for the year.

The Board of Directors of the Company may propose the
Company to make interim cash distribution according to the
Company’s earnings and capital requirement conditions,
provided that the cash dividend conditions are satisfied.
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Depending on the profitability and business growth for the
year, the Company may distribute profits by way of shares to
match share capital expansion with business growth, provided
that the minimum cash dividend payout ratio and an optimal
share capital base and shareholding structure are maintained.
(VII)  When considering and conducting profit distribution, the Board
of Directors of the Company shall take into account certain
circumstances and factors as set out in the Company’s Articles
of Association.

(VIII)  The Company shall calculate, declare and pay dividends
and other amounts which are payable to holders of domestic
shares in Renminbi within the period as prescribed by the
Articles of Association. The Company shall calculate and
declare dividends and other payments which are payable to
holders of overseas-listed foreign shares in Renminbi, and shall
pay such amounts in the foreign currency within the period
as prescribed by the Articles of Association. The applicable
exchange rate shall be the average closing rate for the relevant
foreign currency announced by the People’s Bank of China of
the five working days prior to the announcement of payment
of dividend and other amounts. The Company shall pay
foreign currencies to holders of overseas-listed foreign shares
in accordance with the relevant foreign exchange control
regulations of the State. Authorised by general meetings,
the Board may determine to distribute interim dividends or
bonuses.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of final dividend
of RMB11.42 per 10 shares (including tax) for the year ended 31
December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021: the payment
of RMB1.05 per 10 shares (including tax)). If there is a change in
the total share capital of the Company on the date of registration of
the implementation of the equity distribution, the Company intends
to maintain the total distribution amount unchanged and adjusts
the distribution amount per share accordingly. The proposed
final dividend is subject to the consideration and approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”)
of the Company.

The Company will publish announcement, circular and notice
regarding the AGM in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
Articles of Association of the Company. The Company will also make
separate announcement regarding the record date and date of
closure of register of members for the payment of the final dividend to
the holders of H shares. It is expected that the final dividend will be
distributed before 31 August 2023.
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The final dividend will be denominated and declared in RMB. The
holders of A shares will be paid in RMB and the holders of H shares
will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate for the dividend
to be paid in Hong Kong dollars will be the mean of the exchange
rates of Hong Kong dollar to RMB as announced by the People’s Bank
of China during the five business days prior to the date of declaration
of the dividend at the extraordinary general meeting.

In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China and its implementation regulations which came into
effect on 1 January 2008, the Company is required to withhold and
pay enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-
resident enterprise shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members for H shares when distributing the cash dividends. Any
H shares not registered under the name of an individual shareholder,
including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, agents
or trustees, or other organisations or groups, will be deemed as
shares held by non-resident enterprise shareholders. Therefore, the
enterprise income tax will be withheld from dividends payable to such
shareholders. If holders of H shares intend to change its shareholder
status, please enquire about the relevant procedures with your
agents or trustees. The Company will strictly comply with the law or
the requirements of the relevant government authority and withhold
and pay enterprise income tax on behalf of the relevant shareholders
based on the register of members for H shares as at the record date
of the final dividend.

In accordance with the Circular on Certain Issues Concerning
the Policies of Individual Income Tax (Cai Shui Zi [1994] No. 020)
promulgated by the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration
of Taxation on 13 May 1994, overseas individuals are, temporarily,
exempted from the PRC individual income tax for dividend or bonuses
received from foreign-invested enterprises. In accordance with the
Letter of the State Administration of Taxation concerning Taxation
Issues of Dividends Received by Foreign Individuals Holding Shares
of Companies Listed in China (Guo Shui Han Fa [1994] No. 440) as
promulgated by the State Administration of Taxation on 26 July 1994,
dividends (capital bonuses) received by foreign individuals holding
B shares or overseas shares (including H shares) from Chinese
enterprises issuing such B shares or overseas shares are temporarily
exempted from individual income tax. Accordingly, in the payment of
final dividends, the Company will not withhold and pay the individual
income tax on behalf of individual shareholders when the Company
distributes the final dividend to individual shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of H shares of the Company.
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Shareholders are recommended to consult their tax advisor regarding
the ownership and disposal of H shares of the Company in the PRC
and in Hong Kong and other tax effects.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review set out on pages 18 to 25 of the annual report
shall form an integral part of this Report of the Directors.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Faced by the Group

Please refer to note VIII to the financial statements for details of the
main financial risks faced by the Group and the Group’s management
objectives and policies regarding such risks. In addition to such
financial risks, the Directors are of the view that any material change
in relevant government policies (such as the Chinese Government’s
policies on economic development and environmental protection) is
also one of the principal risks and uncertainties that may affect the
Group’s business.

Environmental Policies

The Group has been a positive respondent for environmental
protection. While helping reduce energy consumption through green
products, the Group also focuses on reducing the direct impacts
of its operation on the environment. By introducing an energy
management system, promoting the replacement of traditional
energy with renewable energy and saving energy through technical
and management means, BYD continues to reduce its own energy
consumption and carbon dioxide emissions.

Regulatory Compliance

BYD requires stringent compliance with laws, social norms,
professional ethics and internal regulations in its worldwide operations.
The Group has established the Risk Management Committee, the
Internal Control Committee and the Compliance Committee which
monitor, supervise and inspect, regularly and from time to time, the
management and implementation of laws and regulations in various
departments, and evaluate their implementation and compliance in
such areas. During the year of 2022, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.
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Relationship with Employees

Since employees are the foundation for development, the Group
adheres to the “people-oriented” principle in its human resources
management and practices equal employment opportunities
and prohibits any career discrimination. The Group reviews its
employee compensation policies on a regular basis and bonuses
and commission may be awarded to employees based on their
annual performance evaluation. Efforts have also been made to help
employees in the aspects of housing, transportation and children’s
education, etc.

Relationship with Customers and Suppliers

The Group strives to build and maintain long term and strong
relationships with customers. BYD has established a customer
satisfaction management system with a view to understanding and
fulfilling customers’ demands and enhancing their satisfaction. In
terms of suppliers, the Group’s objective is to keep mutually beneficial
and win-win partnerships with all suppliers. At the same time, the
Group regularly evaluates the performance of our suppliers including
suppliers’ social responsibility.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB71,045,000 (2021:
RMB47,552,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company are set out in note V.15 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note V.40 to the financial statements.

During the Year, save as disclosed in the section headed “Purchase,
Sale or Redemption of Shares” in this report, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022,
calculated under the relevant legislation applicable in the PRC,
the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to approximately
RMB3,451,208 (2021: RMB480,324,000).

BANK LOANS

As at 31 December 2022, details of bank loans of the Group are set
out in notes V. 24, 34, 36 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there is no similar restriction against
such rights under the laws of the PRC in respect of joint stock limited
companies, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 2 and 360 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report are:

— Executive Director:
Mr. Wang Chuan-fu

— Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lv Xiang-yang
Mr. Xia Zuo-quan

— Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cai Hong-ping
Mr. Zhang Min
Mr. Jiang Yan-bo
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

All existing Directors had signed or renewed their service contracts
or letters of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 8 September 2020.

All existing Supervisors had signed or renewed their service or
employment contracts with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 8 September 2020.

None of the above-mentioned contracts and letters of appointment are
determinable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangement or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and in which
a Director or Supervisor or an entity related to a Director or Supervisor
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each executive Director is based on (i) his
duties and responsibilities; (ii) prevailing market conditions; and (iii)
performance and profitability of the Company.

The emolument payable to each non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Director) is based on his responsibilities
and undertaking to the Board taking into account his experience and
market practice for such post.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out on page 51 of
this annual report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management of the Company are set out on pages 40 to 50 of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of each
of the directors, Supervisors and chief executives of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”))
which were required to be notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
which he is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered into the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange to be notified to the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (for this purpose, the relevant provisions
of the SFO will be interpreted as if they applied to the Supervisors)
were as follows:

A shares of RMB1.00 each

EE  EERRSITTHRAENES

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H ARAEF  E=
EERITRAESBRARRSHEMAEZE(T&
REBEDFESTIEFS MBEKRI(BEFRPEK
Bl EXVER) B ~ ARG RESTEERERE
F R EGPIEXVEE TR HAEMNE ARG RE
BEAERXSMARABI( BB TR XA
(BREREZEHFIAEGIEBIEFBIE G A%
EWER) - RIREF S R EIEEHIE 35214875 8%
RIEEERM - RBEEBHZAES LMAEAM
ITHRARESETEAR ZIMBETAEME AR
AIREBEZMNER ILENTE - FHRBE
BOIMMERG X EREABANES) T

BRARKK1.00T 2AR

Approximate

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total issued

percentage of
shareholding
in total issued
share capital

A shares (%) (%)

Number of BEREGEERT FREMGS BT

A shares ARREEE BAFEEEN

Name & AREE BA T 2 k(%) A H 2 (%)

Wang Chuan-fu TEE 513,623,850 (L) 28.33% 17.64%
(Director and President) (€555 9) (Note 1)
(HiaE1)

Lv Xiang-yang (Director) &= Abs (EE) 394,378,222 (L) 21.75% 13.55%
(Note 2)
(Hfax2)

Xia Zuo-quan (Director) BEhEE(ES) 82,635,607 (L) 4.56% 2.84%

(L) — Long Position

(L)- 2 &
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Notes: Btat

1. The 513,623,850 A shares did not include the 3,727,700 A shares 1. 1£5%513,623,850k A 2 # - TBE THEEL
held by Mr. Wang Chuan-fu in No.1 Assets Management Plan FRASHEAEN DB IR EAEEIEE
through E Fund BYD; BA 3,727, 700 B AR % 15

2. Of the 394,378,222 A shares, 239,228,620 A shares were held 2. 1£5%394,378,222% Al 2 /1 + 239,228,620%A

by Mr. Lv Xiang-yang in his personal capacity and 155,149,602
A shares were held by Youngy Investment Holding Group Co.,
Ltd. (ReFEIREEREEBR AR (“Youngy Investment”, formerly
known as Guangzhou Youngy Management & Investment Group
Company Limited). Youngy Investment was in turn held by Mr.
Lv Xiang-yang and his spouse as to 89.5% and 10.5% of equity
interests, respectively. Mr. Lv Xiang-yang was therefore deemed to
be interested in the 155,149,602 A shares under the SFO.

H shares of RMB1.00 each

A% B = AR5 S5 A LAELA B (9 158 155,149,602
AR B RMBEREEBRERER AR (BER
E pBARNREREEEEEERARE
o oRERERERBEEREREN B
B89.5% MM 2 10.5% A% + F UL IR I 75 % M A7
BIEH - B RE R ERIE AR 155,149,6020% A
B& e A e

FRAR®1.00T 2HR

Approximate

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total issued

percentage of
shareholding
in total issued
share capital

H shares (%) (%)
Number of BEREMLE BT EREMC BT
H shares HER B & RABEER
Name ®E HE B BB D (%) BHAE D (%)
Wang Chuan-fu FEE 1,000,000 (L) 0.09% 0.03%
(Director and President) (BEFEE)
Xia Zuo-quan (Director) BErEE(ES) 500,000 (L) 0.05% 0.02%
(Note)
(Hat)
(L) — Long Position (L) -2 &
Note: Btet -

Of the 500,000 H shares, 195,000 H shares were held by Mr. Xia Zuo-
quan as a beneficial owner and 305,000 H shares were held by Sign
Investments Limited, which was wholly-owned by Mr. Xia Zuo-quan.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
directors, supervisors or chief executives of the Company had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be
(a) recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO; or (b) notified to the Company and the Hong

F57H 195,000 HM%

M500,000HKF  EEELEEUNERBBEATND
MEBEEELESEHEAFHSIgN

Investments Limited 81435 305,000% HA% ©

Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, to the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company, the following persons (other than the directors, supervisors
and chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or were required to be entered in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

1. A shares of RMB1.00 each

BAATHAERENRR

e

FT-A=+—H
A ATALTEREARRES -

RARAEER
EH B STH

AB)RAER ARG MR R AR IRE S R B
EEPIEXVELE 23D ZBEM AR R R B BB AT

BREIREES MG

MECMOERSIORR

1. BRARM1.00THAR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total issued

SR PISE336IRBM AR R B FE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total issued
share capital

A shares (%) (%)

Number of BRELE BT FREMGS BT

A shares ARREEE BAAEEEN

Name ®H AR E B E 5D (%) A E 5 (%)
Youngy Investment (Note) RO E (K1at) 155,149,602 (L) 8.56% 5.33%

(L) — Long Position
Note:
Youngy Investment is owned by Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, a non-executive

Director, as to 89.5%. Mr. Lv is therefore deemed to be interested in the
155,149,602 A shares held by Youngy Investment under the SFO.
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2, H shares of RMB1.00 each 2, TR ARY1.007THIHAR
Approximate
Approximate percentage of
percentage of shareholding
shareholding in total issued
in total issued share capital
H shares (%) (%)
Number of BREND BT BREMD BT
H shares HER B & RAEEER
Name S HREE BB D (%) BT D (%)
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. (Note 1) Berkshire Hathaway 164,093,000 (L) 14.94% 5.64%
Inc. (A1zE1)
Berkshire Hathaway Berkshire Hathaway 164,093,000 (L) 14.94% 5.64%
Energy Company Energy Company
(Note 1) (HteE1)
Western Capital Group LLC Western Capital 164,093,000 (L) 14.94% 5.64%
(Note 1) Group LLC (#/7%1)
BlackRock, Inc. (Note 2) BlackRock, Inc. 63,159,810 (L) 5.75% 217%
(H17t2) 548,500 (S) 0.05% 0.02%

(L) = Long Position (L) -4 &

(S) — Short position (S) - KE

Notes: Btet -

1. According to the disclosure of interests notice filed on 13 1. BER-_ZT-__FF+_A+=ZBEXH
December 2022, Berkshire Hathaway Inc. and Berkshire Hathaway % # 7 i MBerkshire Hathaway Inc. &
Energy Company (formerly known as MidAmerican Energy Berkshire Hathaway Energy Company ([R%
Holdings Company) were deemed to be interested in 164,093,000 AMidAmerican Energy Holdings Company)
H shares (L) held through Western Capital Group LLC, its ARG ABERARZEENAGREERER
indirectly controlled corporation and wholly-owned company, for A]Western Capital Group LLCFrEZE# AR
164,093,000 H shares directly held by it, respectively. 164,093,000& HA% + 7164,093,000A% HA% (L) 2

hEERER -

2. The interests of BlackRock, Inc. were held through its various 2. BlackRock, Inc.FUEZ Tl id B S 6l A adF

controlled corporations, and of which 363,500 shares (L) were
cash settled unlisted derivatives, and 548,500 shares (S) were
cash settled unlisted derivatives.

The total issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2022 was RMB2,911,142,855, divided into 1,813,142,855 A shares of
RMB1.00 each and 1,098,000,000 H shares of RMB1.00 each, all fully
paid up.

B Ed363,500 R AR EEIEETITAE
T A - %548,5000 4R AR EEIELTITE
TH-

RZZE-_—F+=-A=Z+—8  ARFEETHEAK
@wrE A AR 911,142,8557T © 99 41,813,142,855
f& & EE AREA1.007TA AN K 1,098,000,0000%
FREEARE1.00TTHHE - 23 ABRER -
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this report,
there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for
the benefit of any of the directors of the Company (whether made by
the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the
Company).

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company
may take out liability insurance for the Directors and other senior
management members with the content of the shareholders’ general
meeting to provide appropriate cover for them.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year, no director acquired benefits by engaging in
business that competes with that of the Company or its subsidiaries.

In September 2009, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, the controlling shareholder of
the Group, signed the Non-competition Undertakings to confirm with
the Company that he would abide by the undertaking of not engaging
in business that competes with that of the Company. Directors,
including independent non-executive directors, have examined his
compliance and confirmed that the controlling shareholder has abided
by all the undertakings.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

Currently, all PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes (the “Schemes”) launched by local
provincial and municipal governments in China, pursuant to which the
Group makes contributions to the Schemes in accordance with the
applicable percentage of the salary of eligible staff. Local government
authorities assume the obligation in respect of all the pensions
payable to retired staff.

Save for the above contributions, the Group does not have any other
major payment obligation in respect of pension benefits.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year ended 31
December 2022 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and
customers are as follows:

Purchases RigsE

- the largest supplier —&RHER

~ the five largest suppliers combined — AU AHERE ST
Sales SHER

- the largest customer —BEAEP

- the five largest customers combined —hfimKREFART
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TREFRHESD

rEENTEHERAREPHHE_ZS-__F+=
AZ+—BIEFENREBLEEEAa LT

10.44%
22.08%

11.26%
18.86%

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholder
(who, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had an interest in any of the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group
during the Year is set out in note X. Related Parties and Related
Party Transactions to the financial statements. Such related party
transactions did not constitute connected transactions of the Group
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

There was no connected transaction entered into by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022 which is required to be disclosed
under the Listing Rules, and the Group has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant subsequent events of the Group are set out in
note XllI of the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors as at the date of this report,
the Directors confirm that the Company had sufficient public float as
required by the Listing Rules.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each independent non-executive director has provided a written
statement confirming his/her independence to the Company pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company assessed that each
independent non-executive director continues to be independent.

AUDITORS

During the Year, Ernst & Young had ceased to be the international
auditor of the Company, and Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (being
the Company’s pre-existing domestic auditor) was appointed as the
Company’s sole external auditor. The term of Ernst & Young Hua
Ming LLP, the Company’s auditor, is about to expire. Resolutions will
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM for Shareholders to consider
and approve the appointment of Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP as
the auditor of the Company for 2023. Save as disclosed above and
detailed in the section headed “Independent Auditors and Their
Remuneration” in this report, the Company did not replace its auditor
in the past three years.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Chuan-fu
Chairman

Shenzhen, PRC, 28 March 2023

BB M

BUBYIFRTEFCRHEMERL - BRER
BLEMHRAIFEIABRHAE - HARAWBILIE - &
R ARFRBRBBUFENTERTHRBIA
=+ o

B BAEm

FAR - RGN EBATBREERRRBEEZE
Bh - ZOKERAGIMEEMEREBARE) (RAR
7R A Bl N BLEm) 1 R 7R A B RE — SN ERAZ 2RAD
ARBZZBE L K ERGHMEBAEREEBE
B)ZERKER - SN BRNBRBFAE Ld®
BEZKERASHMEBMBREBER) REAR
AT =FEEHE o R EXAERAREE
SIAZERED R B H B — PR AL E 2SN - AR ERE
E=FRBEEHRZEE -

AEFEW
T
IER

FREY  —E-=F=A=+/\H



Annual Report 2022
SECCEFR

Report of the Supervisory Committee

In 2022, in accordance with the principle of being accountable to
all shareholders, the Supervisory Committee of the Company fully
complied with the duties to supervise and ensure that the resolutions
as passed in general meetings were consistently implemented, the
legal interest of shareholders was protected and the duties conferred
under the Articles of Association and in the general meetings were
completed in accordance with the Company Law, the Articles of
Association and the relevant provisions, facilitating a disciplined
operation and sustainable development of the Company.

1. MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD AND
RESOLUTIONS PASSED IN SUCH MEETINGS

On 29 March 2022, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the annual
report of the Company for 2021 was considered and approved
accordingly.

On 22 April 2022, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the 2022
Employee Share Ownership Plan of the Company was
considered and approved accordingly.

On 27 April 2022, the Supervisory Committee convened its
meeting at the office of the Company, where the first quarterly
report of the Company for 2022 was considered and approved
accordingly.

On 29 August 2022, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the interim
report of the Company for 2022 was considered and approved
accordingly.

On 28 October 2022, the Supervisory Committee convened its
meeting at the office of the Company, where the third quarterly
report of the Company for 2022 was considered and approved
accordingly.

On 15 November 2022, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the relevant
issues in relation to the termination of spin-off and listing of
BYD Semiconductor on the ChiNext Board was considered
and approved accordingly.
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2. PROGRESS OF THE WORK OF THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

During the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee of the
Company performed its supervisory functions in a fiduciary
manner. The Supervisory Committee duly supervised and
examined the Company’ s financial situation, the Board of
Directors’ execution of the resolutions passed in general
meetings, operational decisions of the management, the
operations of the Company in compliance with the laws, the
acts of the Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management of
the Company, and the related party transactions entered into
with its controlling shareholder. The Supervisory Committee
considered that:

@) The operating activities of the Group in 2022 did not
violate the Company Law, the Articles of Association,
financial accounting procedures and the laws and
regulations of the PRC.

(2) During the discharge of their duties in 2022, the
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management of
the Company fulfilled their fiduciary duties by acting
lawfully, regularized management, explored for
innovation, with discipline to protect the interests of all
the shareholders of the Company. None of the parties
named above was found in breach of the Company
Law, the Articles of Association or the laws and
regulations of the PRC.

(3) The auditor presented an unqualified auditor’s report.
The report indicates that the financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial status and operating
results of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is confident in the prospect of the
Company and will proceed to carry out effective supervision on
the operation of the Company to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the Company as a whole.

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
Dong Jun-ging

28 March 2023
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Ernst & Young Hua Ming (2023) Shen Zi No. 60592504_HO01

To the shareholders of BYD Company Limited:

AUDIT OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of BYD Company
Limited which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated
and company income statements, statement of changes in
owners’ equity and cash flow statement for the year ended 31
December 2022 and notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of BYD
Company Limited have been prepared in accordance with
the PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (the
“PRC ASBEs”) in all material aspects and give a fair view of the
consolidated and company financial position of BYD Company
Limited as at 31 December 2022 and the consolidated and
company results of operation and cash flows of BYD Company
Limited for 2022.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Auditing
Standards for Certified Public Accountants of China. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the section headed “Certified Accountants’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” of our report. We are
independent of BYD Company Limited in accordance with
the Code of Ethics for PRC certified accountants and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the section
headed “Certified Accountants’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements” of our report, including those
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide
the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial
statements as a whole.

FEREARROER

BPRR T BEEM st RaT B R EHR
11T TIE - B HRENEM S HE
BHRREFANET B E—PEA T HRME
BLEATEME - RIBPEEM S 5HA R
FEETR - BB LRLE AR BRA
A WETTREERTENEMEE - &
FiMEME - RAEDNEFEERRED BE
B RBEREBABRREMHRTER -

REEITEE

RRETFEHERMARBEREAE  RRY
AP B HRREBARREENTH - FLF
RS AR IS R BB TR WK
BEABRAER BT THELERFEFE
RER - BAETAE-—FRERATEN
Al EE AL AL BB 5 -

RPEEETT T AREEME A0S 7 %R
REMNETIBOMIENERE  BREGE
R BT FHEAABANERT - HEM - R
Ei THRERATRBREFENMBRRE
RiERARTRFHOBRA RS - HPIMITE
AIEFMAER  BREY TABREFR
FTITERR - REBRRBREERRTE
SERH T &R/ -



Key audit matter:
BRETEE

Annual Report 2022
SECCEFR

Audit Report
EirHRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:
ZBEAEETHRNTEY

Revenue recognition

The operating revenue of BYD Company Limited is mainly
from the sales of automobiles and related products
and other products, and mobile handset components,
assembly services and other products. In 2022, BYD
Company Limited recorded revenue from operations of
RMB424.1 billion in the consolidated financial statements,
which mainly included revenue from the sales of
automobiles and related products and other products of
RMB324.7 billion and revenue from the sales of mobile
handset components, assembly services and other
products of RMB98.8 billion. The total operating revenue
increased by RMB207.9 billion as compared to 2021,
representing an increase of 96%.

bR AR AR X WA EERENITE - HEM
MERREMED  FHEISM  AEREMER - —T=
ZHEE HDEBROERIAREHTBHRRFEZERAS
BAARE4L 2418 TBREARE - AEHABERK
HMERBEERAARK3 247E T MFHEIMH - HER
HERIEEWAARKIBSET - EEWABBER T
T FEEMARE2079ET  BREEIE% o

LON

The audit procedures performed in relation to the revenue
recognition in our audit mainly included:

HERTBEPHRABRATNTNETEFIEEHE

o Understood, assessed and tested the effectiveness
of the design and operation of internal controls
related to revenue recognition;

o« TH - RERARREEUABEONBEHNSR
SRR

° Obtained main sales contracts, checked and
identified the terms and conditions in the contracts
which were related to the transfer of control and
revenue recognition, and assessed whether the
accounting policies on revenue recognition had
been compliance with the requirements of with the
PRC ASBEs;

e ERTEMNHEAR  REMBHIEZHIEEB R
WA RER AR & RGN - ST ERARRY
B BERENA XS ERNENR

° Confirmed on a sample basis the current sales
with major customers in line with confirmation of
accounts receivable, and conducted alternative test
on samples without reply;

e HABWERNRHE  UHEITARIEZERSKE
HISHER - BRE AT E RO

° Selected samples from goods sales around the
balance sheet date and checked supporting
documents such as outbound delivery orders
and logistics documents to assess whether
relevant revenue had been recognised during the
appropriate accounting period;

e HNEERBRANKRNEERMIZEDNRAL @ &
EHEEMYMRERSTFEXF - SHERRBEA
RN IR E RS HME
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Key audit matter:
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:
ZBEAEETHRNTEY

Taking into consideration that there was a significant
increase in revenue during the Year, inappropriate
recognition of revenue might have a material effect on the
financial statements. Therefore, revenue recognition was
identified as a key audit matter.

ZRIAFWRABRERKA - WANTEE ERE BB HRE
BEATE - At - HPEBAERBNSBERESE
F o

For the disclosures of this accounting policy,
significant accounting judgements and estimates, as
well as relevant financial statements, please refer to
notes lll. 24 and 34 and notes V. 46

BEREER EASTTHENMGTUAREEMBRRFE
BEAME= 24 34 URKER 46

. Conducted detailed test on revenue recognition
and checked supporting documents such as
outbound delivery orders, logistics documents and
sales invoices;

o HITWARBNAHAIR  BREHEE MRER
HEBRZE TR

° Conducted analytical review procedures to compare
the movements of various revenues and gross profit
margins and analyse the reasonableness of the
movements;

o MOHITEBHER - Y ERBIRAREHE
RHER - SITRAREHERDHATIE

° Checked whether there was any significant reversal

of revenue or sales return after the Reporting
Period;

. REREMRELFEERAR AT EHAREREHN

R

° Reviewed the disclosures of operating revenue in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements;

o BERAVMBHRERMETEREREANKE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter:
ZBEAEETHRNTEY

Expected credit losses on trade receivables, contract
assets and long-term receivables

BYD Company Limited recorded a balance of trade
receivables of RMB38.8 billion, a balance of contract
assets of RMB13.6 billion and a balance of long-
term receivables of RMB1.1 billion as at 31 December
2022 in the consolidated financial statements, which
accounted for a significant portion of the total assets in
the consolidated financial statements.

BE-Z- "+ -_A=+—H HLGHEROHBERIF
EHMBERRTEUREASRBERAREISET  GRE
ERER/ARK136ET REBEFHBER/ARKEIE
T HEHMBRREEEMEBEK -

BYD Company Limited applied a simplified measurement
method which grouped different portfolios based on
their risk characteristics, and used a credit risk matrix to
assess the impairment of the financial instrument above.
Management’'s estimate of expected credit losses has
taken into consideration all reasonable and reliable
information, including the credit ratings of customers,
aging of closing balance, existence of disputes and
historic payments, as well as forward-looking information
in line with expected macro-economic environment and
other factors.

LEl AR ARERBLENE  BRREAR RS
DTRAER  RAGEHAREEY SR T RAMREE
TR - EEEHEMERBANGHAZERMEAERA
WENES  BEREFPEANE  BIRSKENREK 28
FHEAGUARBELEARBEREES ER2ECTENEE
RERBEAREEABEMERES -

EBYEHE  aREENRBEBRRNERERELX

The audit procedures performed in relation to the
expected credit losses on trade receivables, contract
assets and long-term receivables in our audit mainly
included:

BPIEETEEPHEKER - A REEMRHELGRD
BEHERBRRABITHESF TIFE 2R

° Understood, assessed and tested the effectiveness
of the design and operation of key internal controls
related to the estimates of expected credit losses;

. TR FHEMR A EERERBRA G AR RE
2R ETAETR AL

° Discussed with management on the groupings
of credit risk characteristic and the estimates of
expected credit losses, assessed their accuracy
based on historical loss rate, and evaluated the
reasonableness of management’s expected
credit loss model considering current economic
conditions;

e HEBREIWERRBRIEMASENNE D - M
ERBARXNGE  REBEELIBREFMHEL LR
- WEESERTEEAR R EEIEEEMRNESR
ERBARRINEEMN ;
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Key audit matter:
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

ZBEAEETHRNTEY

As the groupings of trade receivables, contract assets
and long-term receivables with different credit risk
characteristics by management and the estimates of
expected credit loss rates involved significant judgements
and estimates, this matter was considered as a key audit
matter.

EEEH R - AREENRABEGHTRAERE
REBAESERNE D  EHMERBEAERNEIEFEE
REVHE MG - AR MR A% TR RMRETEE -

For the disclosures of this accounting policy,
significant accounting judgements and estimates, as
well as relevant financial statements, please refer to
notes IIl.9, 25 and 34 and notes V. 3, 8, 10.

BEFEER EASTHENMGT UARAEMBRRFEE
BHEME=-9-25-34 URHEFRE-3-8-10¢

° For trade receivable with individual bad debt
provision, discussed with management on the
reasonableness of identification and analysed the
recoverability of such receivables;

o  HERFREREBNEKE  HEEETRS
DIRENEEMEL HZERAN A DU MEETD
#r

° For trade receivables for which provision for bad
debts has been made on group basis by credit risk
characteristics, evaluated the reasonableness of
key assumptions for expected credit loss based on
the nature of customers and historical loss rate;

o HRRERRBRFEAESFREREMNEKR
REBEPUHENRELIBAXRFEFERMERRE
RHBAREBROAIEN ;

° Recalculated the calculation of expected credit
losses on trade receivables, contract assets and
long-term receivables and reviewed the amounts of
impairment provision.

o  EHMAERKIR  AREBEEMEHEYEGIESE
RBRNETEBRIE  BROREERNSHE -



OTHER INFORMATION

The management of BYD Company Limited are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT AND
THE GOVERNANCE BODY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The management are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a fair view in accordance with the
PRC ASBEs and for the design, execution and maintenance of
such internal control as is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the management are
responsible for assessing BYD Company Limited’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless there are plans for liquidation or
cessation or there are no other realistic alternatives.

The governance body is responsible for overseeing BYD
Company Limited’s financial reporting process.
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VL.

CERTIFIED ACCOUNTANT’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our audit opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with audit
standards will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with audit standards, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

@) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

(2) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances.

(3) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on BYD
Company Limited’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
issue a qualified opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause BYD Company Limited to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within BYD Company Limited to
express an audit opinion on the financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the governance body regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the governance body with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the governance body,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our audit report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP
PRC certified public accountant:
Li Jianguang (ZE&I3)

(Partner in charge)

PRC certified public accountant:
Zhang Linghui (GR¥% )

Beijing, the PRC
28 March 2023

A ERRBNERT - HIAIEER L
FHRHUAMYBRIBATRER - AMBE
Rt ES E R - RAEFEF RETHAE
LETR - [RIDEBERBLEAHARRELS
B REGDEBELT  REEBRHESE
AAmETABRXEREKNNBERREBE
RENm T EELENmE - RPIEE T EE
B HETERZEE -

OKERETMELA(FRERER)
Bl & ETED

FRINX

(EEARA)

GleEdi S
FHRE

4R
—E-=F=ZA=+)\H



Assets

Annual Report 2022
SECCEFR

Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000

AREETFTT

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

Note V +=A +=A

BE oz Er=[E =+—H

Current assets RBEE

Monetary funds BEEge 1 51,471,263 50,457,097
Financial assets held for trading RGMEEREE 2 20,626,930 5,606,052
Trade receivables JE U BR X 3 38,828,494 36,251,280
Receivables financing U GRIE R & 4 12,894,284 8,743,126
Prepayments TERTFIE 6 8,223,567 2,036,577
Other receivables b MR 5 1,910,009 1,410,751
Inventories FE 7 79,107,199 43,354,782
Contract assets ERIEE 8 13,552,998 8,493,382
Long-term receivables due within one year ~ —F R Z|Hi 8 K Hi E UK 10 1,052,562 1,231,667
Other current assets HEfnsEE 9 13,136,201 8,525,475
Total current assets RBBEART 240,803,507 166,110,189
Non-current assets FREBEE

Long-term receivables RHEARE MR 10 1,118,637 1,170,058
Long-term equity investments REIRERE 11 15,485,402 7,905,001
Other equity instrument investments HiiER T BIRE 12 4,418,584 2,913,836
Other non-current financial assets HEMEREemEE 13 2,147,140 233,972
Investment properties WEMEEHE 14 85,005 87,500
Fixed assets BEEE 15 131,880,369 61,221,365
Construction in progress fEETR 16 44,621,935 20,277,309
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 3,137,327 1,573,232
Intangible assets EEEE 18 23,223,497 17,104,942
Development expenditures FES 19 1,683,000 2,605,031
Goodwill EE 20 65,914 65,914
Long-term deferred expenditures REFHER 21 458,108 77,432
Deferred tax assets FEIEFTISTHEE 22 3,686,905 1,913,316
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 23 21,045,316 12,521,050
Total non-current assets IEMBEESEE 253,057,139 129,669,958
Total assets BELRGT 493,860,646 295,780,147

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial 12 Bf % R & M 5 A AN B 75 R 3% B0 4B Ak BF

statements
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

31 December 2022
—E--F+=ZA=+—H

RMB’000
AREETF T
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note V +=A +=A
Liabilities &8 iy Er=0 =t+—H
Current liabilities REBAE
Short-term borrowings EHIE K 24 5,153,098 10,204,358
Financial liabilities held for trading RepEEREE 25 54,605 -
Bills payables FE IR 26 3,328,419 7,331,459
Trade payables FERTERFR 27 140,437,310 73,160,167
Payments received in advance TEMF IR 28 = 1,300
Contract liabilities AREE 29 35,516,571 14,932,576
Employee benefits payables R {<F B8k 357 E 30 12,037,011 5,848,870
Tax payables ERBE 31 4,326,394 1,779,018
Other payables HMERAR 32 122,123,841 41,348,102
Provision ErtBE 33 1,287,452 2,355,564
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FRIEBNIERSAS 34 6,464,828 12,983,416
Other current liabilities HivnghaE 35 2,615,032 1,359,114
Total current liabilities MEBAEASR 333,344,561 171,303,944
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Long-term borrowings RHIER 36 7,593,596 8,743,519
Bond payables ERES 37 = 2,046,439
Lease liabilities HEAE 38 2,617,274 1,415,291
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFEHAaE 22 2,018,530 609,566
Other non-current liabilities Hin3Emena & 39 26,896,848 7,417,179
Total non-current liabilities BB EESE 39,126,248 20,231,994
Total liabilities aEast 372,470,809 191,535,938

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements

18 P B 765 S 3% PI R A AN B TS SR O AL RE 2
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SECCEFR

Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
AREETFTT
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—®—= —T-—fF
Note V +=A +=A
Shareholders’ equity BRER M aE Ear=0F =+—H
Shareholders’ equity RERER
Share capital f& A 40 2,911,143 2,911,143
Capital reserve /N 41 61,705,893 60,807,219
Less: treasury shares B TR 42 1,809,920 -
Other comprehensive income H R A W 43 428,332 (124,055)
Special reserve HIARK 12,078 10,369
Surplus reserve ek YN 44 6,838,541 5,009,088
Undistributed profit KRB FE 45 40,943,232 26,455,907
Total shareholders’ equity attributable to GEREARRREREET
the parent company 111,029,299 95,069,671
Non-controlling interests DEIS R AE S 10,360,538 9,174,538
Total shareholders’ equity fR R & 5t 121,389,837 104,244,209
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMBRRESAT 493,860,646 295,780,147
The financial statement was signed by the following persons: WEBMERBUATATEE
Legal representative: Chief Financial Officer: Head of Accounting Department:
EEREKRA FEEFHIIEBEA : FITHEBRA
Wang Chuan-fu Zhou Ya-lin Liu Hui
FEE JE SR 2=

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
statements

18 P B 75 S R PI e A AN A S SRR O AL BE 2>
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Consolidated Income Statement

& Gt RE &
Year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

RMB’000
ARMBFT
Note V 2022 2021
s et : 3 “T—F
. Operating revenue - EEWA 46 424,060,635 216,142,395
Less: Operating costs W EERR 46 351,815,680 187,997,689
Tax and surcharge B R 47 7,267,110 3,034,878
Selling expenses HEER 48 15,060,676 6,081,678
Administrative expenses EEBMH 49 10,007,370 5,710,193
Research and development HEER
expenses 50 18,654,453 7,990,974
Finance expenses FHER 51 (1,617,957) 1,786,927
Including: Interest expenses B FIEBH 1,316,350 1,907,642
Interest income FMBWA 1,829,617 631,841
Add: Other income me Eplkhes 52 1,721,136 2,270,196
Investment loss REBELR 53 (791,903) (57,134)
Including: Investment losses in Hep : HEE b ENEE
associates and joint PERNREEREX
ventures (685,885) (145,295)
Loss on derecognition of financial DESRKAHENSRERE
assets measured at amortised RIFFERIBR
cost (22,719) (88,765)
Gains from changes in fair value NIRRT L6 54 126,098 47,356
Impairment losses on credit ERRERK 55 (989,521) (388,074)
Impairment losses on asset EERERX 56 (1,386,458) (857,475)
(Losses)/gains from disposal of EERE(8K)
assets 57 (10,836) 77,067
Il.  Operating profit - EEANE 21,541,819 4,631,992
Add: Non-operating income M EEINRA 58 526,974 337,654
Less: Non-operating expenses B EEINTH 59 989,064 451,643
ll.  Total profit = Fim#sm 21,079,729 4,518,003
Less: Income tax expenses B FIGHER 61 3,366,625 550,737
IV.  Net profit M EAE 17,713,104 3,967,266
V.  Classified by continuity of operation I EEEREHNIE
Net profit from continuing operations HELEFNE 17,713,104 3,967,266
VI.  Classified by ownership N RFEEREBAE
Net profit attributable to Shareholders GBREARMAEER
of the parent company el 16,622,448 3,045,188
Non-controlling interests DEREBR 1,090,656 922,078
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SECCEFR

Consolidated Income Statement

& O R H 3R

Year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_T-—_F+-A=1+—HIFE
RMB’000
ARMBFTT
Note V 2022 2021
% ZBCCF —ZT--F
VI.  Earnings per share (RMB/share) t BREEGZR/R 62
Basic earnings per share EARGRIYE 5.71 1.06
Diluted earnings per share mEekkE 5.71 1.06
VIIl. Other comprehensive income N Hipgahs 43 546,230 427,766
Other comprehensive income that cannot TEENEERRNEM
be reclassified to profit or loss fRE s
Changes in fair value of other equity HigEmTARER A EEZE
instrument investments 852,068 533,089
Income tax impact 2 (204,001) (73,867)
648,067 459,222
Other comprehensive (losses)/income that BENBEBRNEMRE
will be reclassified to profit or loss (B8, Wz
Changes in fair value of receivables N ERER A EEE
financing (30,653) 42,702
Provision for credit impairment of [ENIER B A EEE
receivables financing 2,463 (5,888)
Exchange difference on foreign currency INERFITEEE
translation (67,490) (64,025)
(95,680) (27,211)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income attributable  SEBRDEIR L H 474 (8518) /U
to non-controlling interests, net of tax Big % (6,157) (4,245)
IX. Total comprehensive income e GREWZAE 18,259,334 4,395,032
Among which: He
Total comprehensive income attributable BERERRAIRRN GRS K REE
to shareholders of the parent company 17,174,835 3,477,199
Total comprehensive income attributable BERNVERRNGE K GER
to non-controlling interests 1,084,499 917,833

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements

18 P B 75 S 3R P R A3 AN B TS R O AR RE 2
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

EHBEERER
31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
AREETF T
Note V 2022 2021
g —E-= —EC-—4F
.  Cash flows from operating activities: — = ZETHELNRERE :
Cash received from sales of goods and SHEMM - RESZHFUEID
provision of services Be 413,209,226 202,666,455
Tax rebates received WR MR ERE 7,628,162 4,855,421
Cash received from other activities W B H At BRAS 8 TR B B AR
relating to operations Re 63 20,542,599 5,896,932
Sub-total of cash inflows from operating RIS A NG
activities 441,379,987 213,418,808
Cash paid for goods and services BEED  BEXBBIEH
e 220,842,504 104,399,121
Cash paid to and on behalf of TG ITA R BB TS
employees Be 53,519,728 28,759,751
Cash paid for various types of taxes YRS EHRE 18,537,188 7,805,152
Cash paid for other activities relating ST E MBS E B AR
to operations He 63 7,642,910 6,988,102
Sub-total of cash outflows from A TRENIR R AT
operating activities 300,542,330 147,952,126
Net cash flow from operating activities KETEEELAMIBEREFE 64 140,837,657 65,466,682
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SECCEFR

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

EHBEETRER

31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
AREETFTT
Note V 2022 2021
opziy === -
. Cash flows from investing activities: = - REFHELENRESHRE :
Cash received from disposal of WEREW R HRE
investments 13,779 -
Cash received from disposals of BEEE S E AR TR R
associates or joint ventures e 95,800 -
Cash received from gains in investment REHRERRKE RS 129,333 203,886
Net cash received from disposals of BB FARRHAMEFEEN
subsidiaries and other operating WEIRIR € 558
entities - 222,329
Net cash received from disposals of EEERTEE  EFEEMN
fixed assets, intangible assets and HEfREEEWREBD
other long-term assets REFH 268,237 826,389
Cash received from other activities W B H Ath 8245 & TR E) B B R
relating to investments e 63 12,803,494 11,469,422
Sub-total of cash inflows from investing BEEBESHANT
activities 13,310,643 12,722,026
Cash paid for purchase and BRETEE BREEEMN
construction of fixed assets, Hin REAEEZ T8
intangible assets and other Re
long-term assets 97,456,862 37,343,609
Cash paid for investments BES RS 10,572,908 3,526,828
Cash paid for other activities relating SR MBS EE B AR
to investments e 63 25,876,870 17,255,581
Sub-total of cash outflows from BEEESRES LG
investing activities 133,906,640 58,126,018

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

KREZSEANASRE
FER

(120,595,997)

(45,403,992)
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

EHEETRER
31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
AREETF T
Note V 2022 2021
g =Z== —E-—F
lll. Cash flows from financing activities: = EBEEHELNRERE :
Cash received from capital injection R E W R KR & 507,625 37,313,719
Cash received from borrowings WEERKEIANEE 27,635,948 32,872,379
Cash received relating to other WR W EMmEEE EBEEN
financing activities e 3,031,473 -
Sub-total of cash inflows from BHEFEHHSIMANDE
financing activities 31,175,046 70,186,098
Cash paid for repayment of debts BEEBINHRS 44,048,894 49,878,805
Cash payments for distribution of DELARF] ~ FESKERFE
dividends, profits or interest XAMRE
expenses 1,632,852 2,619,303
Including: Dividends and profits paid Hep: FREIINGBIH
to minority shareholders AR A IRF - FIE
by subsidiaries 79,464 185,931
Interest paid for other YRMEMEZTA
equity instruments AE - 61,600
Cash paid for redemption of BRKEBELZHES
perpetual bonds - 1,100,000
Cash paid relating to other financing LI EMEEEESFRIN
activities He 63 4,981,983 525,473
Sub-total of cash outflows from FEEHHS LA
financing activities 50,663,729 54,123,581
Net cash flows (used in)/from EEEBER),EEN
financing activities REeEREFHE (19,488,683) 16,062,517
IV. Effect of foreign exchange rate . EXSBHHRERASEEY
changes on cash and cash WEe
equivalents 609,620 (43,845)
V. Netincrease in cash and cash i RERBRESEEWEENE
equivalents 1,362,597 36,081,362
Add: cash and cash equivalents at m: FYHekBAeSED
the beginning of the year BREE 64 49,819,860 13,738,498
VI. Cash and cash equivalents R FERELRESEEYHE
at the end of the year 64 51,182,457 49,819,860

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements

18 P B 75 S 3R P 2 AR AN B TS R O AR AF 2
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SECCEFR

Company Balance Sheet

AAEEREER

31 December 2022

—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
AREETFTT
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note XV +=A +=A
Assets &= W+ Er=[E =+—H
Current assets RBEE
Monetary funds HEES 7,490,515 17,800,277
Financial assets held for trading RHECmERE 300,462 -
Trade receivables FEUBR FR 1 1,556,885 3,451,114
Receivables financing U GRIE R & 3,215 62,914
Prepayments TERTFIE 10,075 4,452
Other receivables H A & WK 2 5,835,397 11,040,851
Inventories FE 37,559 71,789
Other current assets HMRsEE = 254,837
Total current assets MENEEAR 15,234,108 32,686,234
Non-current assets FREBEE
Long-term equity investments RAEIRERE 3 54,895,715 45,323,795
Other equity instrument investments Hip s T RIEE 4,026,536 2,674,760
Other non-current financial assets HMIERBSRMEE 769,304 70,405
Investment properties KREMNEHE 53,950 55,559
Fixed assets Ehak=y3 822,594 830,448
Construction in progress EEIR 13,906 813
Right-of-use assets EREEE = 9,488
Intangible assets BmVAE 412,234 271,816
Other non-current assets HMIEREEE 22,280 9,351
Total non-current assets FMEBEESE 61,016,519 49,246,435
Total assets BEAG 76,250,627 81,932,669

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements

18 P B 765 S 3R P R A AN B TS SR O AL BF 2
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Company Balance Sheet

AAIEERER

31 December 2022

—E--F+=ZA=+—H

RMB’000
AREFIT
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
s —E-—F
+=A +=A
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMBRRER E=[ =+—H
Current liabilities REBEE
Short-term borrowings EHAfE K 1,500,917 100,656
Bills payables EREE 2,291 521
Trade payables FETER K 1,264,904 3,385,078
Contract liabilities ERAE 46,071 21,970
Employee benefits payables JE A~ B T 7 B 57,949 55,717
Tax payables JERTE 5,019 1,690
Other payables E b EA R 1,477,222 716,118
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FRBENERB A E 4,352,942 9,621,849
Other current liabilities HEMRsas 807 310
Total current liabilities mEaEas 8,708,122 13,903,909
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Long-term borrowings RHIfE 4,202,873 5,234,536
Bond payables JERTES = 2,046,439
Lease liabilities HEaE = 341
Deferred tax liabilities BEFEHAE 312,666 75,541
Other non-current liabilities HEM3EneaE 818 251,278
Total non-current liabilities FERBBEEAR 4,516,357 7,608,135
Total liabilities BEEE 13,224,479 21,512,044
Shareholders’ equity IR
Share capital [N 2,911,143 2,911,143
Capital reserve ERNIE 56,567,975 56,037,659
Less: treasury shares B TR 1,809,920 -
Other comprehensive income HEbira s 760,310 210,129
Surplus reserve Vel YN = 1,145,432 781,370
Undistributed profit R ERFHE 3,451,208 480,324
Total shareholders’ equity attributable HERESARRRERS
to the parent company 63,026,148 60,420,625
Total shareholders’ equity RS A 63,026,148 60,420,625
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMAR R s B ET 76,250,627 81,932,669

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements

18 P B 75 S 3R P 2 AR AN B TS R O AP AR 2
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SECCEFR

Company Income Statement

NI B
31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000

AREETFTT

Note XV 2022 2021

Wa+a —E-CfF —E-—F

Operating revenue EERA 4 7,707,006 8,258,719
Less: Operating costs o EERA 4 6,041,303 7,458,971
Tax and surcharge Fis MM 13,184 31,501
Selling expenses HEEBR 10,790 10,636
Administrative expenses EREHA 236,647 258,726
Research and development expenses HEER 102,668 62,964
Finance expenses B%ER 37,225 750,905
Including: Interest expenses Hep: FIEEA 501,534 925,958

Interest income FEWA 447,966 249,106

Add: Other income e HEtlks 8,885 16,441
Investment income BEW 5 1,950,851 790,667

Including: Investment income in Hi - HEEENEEREN
associates and joint ventures & W 582,746 7,701
Loss on derecognition of AR AR 2R 2 Rl
financial assets measured BEKIEHERERX

at amortised cost - (8,270)

Gains from changes in fair value AR EEEHKE 467,087 18,902
Impairment losses on credit ERRAERX 6,580 2365
Impairment losses on asset BERBEEX (135) (1,806)
(Losses)/gains from disposal of assets BERE(BX), M (436) 1,313
Operating profit EERE 3,698,021 512,898
Add: Non-operating income M EEINEA 13,949 6,358
Less: Non-operating expenses W EENT 9,055 1435
Total profit FBazE 3,702,915 517,821
Less: Income tax expenses W SR ER 62,299 5,925
Net profit FRE 3,640,616 511,896
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BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Company Income Statement
2 7] F E &

31 December 2022
—E--F+=ZA=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFT
Note XV 2022 2021
it —BCCF —E-—F
Classified by continuity of operation RREREMEDE
Including: Net profit from continuing operations Heb B 5FE 3,640,616 511,896
Other comprehensive income Hitnm &Mz 550,181 456,511
Other comprehensive income that cannot be T EDBEERNEMES E
reclassified to profit or loss
Changes in fair value of other equity instrument ~ EiER T EREQA A BEE
investments 733,004 526,114
Income tax impact FTiSHiz 2 (183,251) (69,617)
549,753 456,497
Other comprehensive income that will be HENBERENE MRS K
reclassified to profit or loss
Changes in fair value of receivables financing JEWGRIBRE AR BEE 477 245
Provision for credit impairment of receivables [EW R IER B E R EER
financing (49) (231)
428 14
Total comprehensive income REWBHBE 4,190,797 968,407

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial 125} Bf 7 3R 3k M 5 A AN B #5 R 3% 60 4B Ak BF

statements
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Company Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity

AERREDB IR

31 December 2022

—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
AREFTT
2022 —Eg-=
Less: Other Total
Share Capital treasury  comprehensive Surplus  Undistributed shareholders’
capital reserve shares income reserve profit equity
8 Ete Y iy
ke EA0R EHR ks  BRAR  AORAE it
. Closing balance for the previous - LEERRAEENHE
year and opening balance for the year 2,911,143 56,037,659 - 210,129 781,370 480,324 60,420,625
Il Amount of change in the current year I FEEFEYLE
() Total comprehensive income (=) GabngE - - = 550,181 - 3640616 4,190,797
() Capital contribution and reduction (2) BRERATMHLER
by shareholders
1 Share-based payment 1 ROZHFARR
recognized in EafeE
shareholders’ equity - 506,057 - - - - 506,057
2 Effectof the grant of restricted 2 RTRNRE
shares HEe - - 1,809,920 - - - (1,809,920)
3 Others 3 Hf - 24,259 S S = S 24,259
() Profit distribution (2) MEAR
1 Appropriation to surplus reserve 1 ROBBLE - = = = 364,062 (364,062) =
2 Distribution to shareholders 2 HRENHE
(note V. 45) (iz - 4) - - - - - (305,670)  (305,670)
Il Closing balance for the year = MEERHE 291,143 56,567,975 1,809,920 760310  1,145432 3,451,208 63,026,148

113



114

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Company Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity

AERREDB IR

31 December 2022
—E--F+=ZA=+—H
RMB’000

ARETTT
2021 —E-—F
QOther
Qther comprehensive Total
Share equity Capital (loss)/ Surplus Undistributed  shareholders'
capital  instruments reserve income reserve profit equity
Hits Hithsa e
o IE  ERRE (BB)/ME BRRE  AORNE At
. Closing balance for the previous - LEERRAFENHE
year and opening balance for the year 2,728,143 1094592 19,971,885 (246,382) 730,181 504,666 24,783,085
Il Amount of change in the current year o FEHERHEE
() Total comprehensive income (=) GakaeE - - - 456,511 - 511,896 968,407
() Capital contribution and reduction (2) REBRANELER
by shareholders
1 Capital contributed by 1 BRERAER
shareholders 183,000 - 36,048,731 - - - 36,231,731
2 Capital reduction by holders of 2 HtERIAHEE
other equity instruments AR - (1,09459) (5,408) - - = (1,100,000)
3 Others 3 Ef - - 2,451 - - - 20,451
(I Profit distribution (2) #EE
1 Appropriation to surplus reserve 1 REOEHLE - - - - 51,189 (51,189) -
2 Distrioution to shareholders 2 HRENHE
(note V. 45) (Wita - 45) - - - - S (434d9)  (423449)
3 Distribution to holders of other 3 HEBEGIA
equity instruments BEENDE - - - - - (61,600) (61,600)
lll. Closing balance for the year = TEERHE 291,143 - 56,037,659 210,129 781,370 480324 60420,625

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements
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31 December 2022
—EF+=-A=+—H
RMB’000

ARBEFIT

2022 2021
— g2 —FEF-—

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from sales of goods and
provision of services

Tax rebates received

Cash received from other activities
relating to operations

RETDHEENRSRE :

HEmM - RHAEBREINES

10,950,688 8,182,207
RN BRE 90,967 9,214
W B H b B &R BN BRI IR G

10,737,163 16,768,298

Sub-total of cash inflows from operating LRI RANG

activities 21,778,818 24,959,719
Cash paid for goods and services HEER  BEIXBBIANEe 8,960,770 6,811,873
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees IHEBIARABTIINMRS 357,963 281,412
Cash paid for various types of taxes IANMEERE 21,609 71,718

Cash paid for other activities relating to
operations

XEMELEESHHABNRSE
3,417,639 5,750,858

Sub-total of cash outflows from operating
activities

RERBRE /T
12,757,981 12,915,861

Net cash flow from operating activities

&

WEEHEANE S REFH 9,020,837 12,043,858
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Company Cash Flow Statement
NARERER
31 December 2022

B _F+-HA=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFT
2022 2021
—Eg-— T
Il. Cash flow from investing activities: RETHELENRESRE .
Cash received from disposal of investments WEHREKEINIES = 80,800
Cash received from gains in investment SR E W W EIMIR S 32,270 722,675
Net cash received from disposals of fixed REETEE MEEEMEM
assets, intangible assets and other REBEEWNE AR SFE
long-term assets 24,382 18,279
Net cash received from disposals of BETARREMEFEAER
subsidiaries and other operating entities e TR = 270,000
Cash received from other activities relating WEIE M B &) E B AR S
to investments 19 3,737,332
Sub-total of cash inflows from investing wEEESRSMANET
activities 56,671 4,829,086
Cash paid for purchase and construction BRETEE  BEEEM
of fixed assets, intangible assets and EmRPEEZNNER S
other long-term assets 221,844 109,856
Cash paid for investments KREINRE 9,643,496 24,952,407
Cash paid for other activities relating to SNEMEREEEHEENRS
investments 45,625 3,737,332
Sub-total of cash outflows from TEEBHR @M/ NG
investing activities 9,910,965 28,799,595
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEEZHEANREREFH (9,854,294)  (23,970,509)
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Company Cash Flow Statement
ARAIRERER

31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
ARMBFTT
2022 2021
—E-= —F -
lll. Cash flows from financing activities: = EEFREENERLSRE:
Cash received from capital injection R % & W B §38 & = 36,371,791
Cash received from borrowings BiSEFKE RS 6,400,000 5,251,751
Sub-total of cash inflows from financing SHEEHREBMANDE
activities 6,400,000 41,623,542
Cash paid for repayment of debts BEEHAIXANES 13,161,584 11,841,751
Cash payments for distribution of dividends, SECARH] ~ FESE R LR ZTH
profits or interest expenses RE 972,440 1,619,644
Including: Interest paid for other equity He - I EMERT AR E
instruments - 61,600
Cash paid for redemption of perpetual bonds BREXEEZNHBRE = 1,100,000
Cash paid relating to other SN EMEEE RS EEN
financing activities e 1,817,079 150,689
Sub-total of cash outflows from financing EEFHRE R NG
activities 15,951,103 14,612,084
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing EEFH(FER),/ ELENEERE
activities R (9,551,103) 27,011,458
IV. Effect of foreign exchange rate changes - ERSHURESRESEEYN
on cash and cash equivalents 24 36,255 (58,606)
V. Net (decrease)/increase in cash and I BRERBESEENEGRED)
cash equivalents g (10,348,305) 15,026,201
Add: cash and cash equivalents at the m: FYReRESSEMRE
beginning of the year 17,800,277 2,774,076
VI. Cash and cash equivalents at the end N ERESRBESESENHE
of the year 7,451,972 17,800,277

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial &M B RRM E AR SRR AR LD
statements
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Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M RE

31 December 2022

T F+ZHA=+—H
RMB’000

AREETF T

Note:

Iltems in the notes to the financial statements marked with #
are supplemental disclosures provided in compliance with the
Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Listing Rules of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE BACKGROUND

BYD Company Limited (the “Company”) is a joint stock
company incorporated in Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China with limited liability. The Company, formerly
known as Shenzhen BYD Battery Company Limited (&3l
ML E AR AR, was approved by the former State
Economic and Trade Commission in 2002, as evidenced by the
approval document “Reply of Consenting to the Establishment
of BYD Company Limited” (Guo Jing Mao Qi Gai [2002]
No.153) and the approval document “Reply of Consenting to
the Adjustment of Capital Structure of BYD Company Limited”
(Guo Jing Mao Ting Qi Gai [2002] No.348). Shenzhen BYD
Battery Company Limited (F3IITLLaniEE B R A F]) was
overall restructured into the Company on 11 June 2002 based
on the audited net assets value as at 30 April 2002. The
Company currently holds the Enterprise Legal Person Business
License issued by Shenzhen Administration for Market
Regulation (unified social credit code: 91440300192317458F)
and is domiciled at 1 Yan’ An Road, Kui Chong Street, Dapeng
New District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, with an office
address at No. 3009, BYD Road, Pingshan New District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province.

When the Company was overall restructured into a joint stock
company, its registered capital was RMB390,000,000, and its
total number of share capital was 390,000,000 shares with a
par value of RMB1 per share.

Pursuant to the resolution of the extraordinary shareholders
meeting of the Company held on 12 June 2002 and with the
approval of the former State Economic and Trade Commission,
as evidenced by the approval document “Reply of Consenting
to the Transforming of BYD Company Limited into an Overseas
Public Subscription Company” (Guo Jing Mao Qi Gai [2002]
No.423) and the approval document “Reply of Consenting
to the Issuance of Overseas Listed Foreign Shares by BYD
Company Limited” (Zheng Jian Guo He Zi [2002] No.19)
issued by the CSRC, and as approved by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, the Company made an initial overseas
offering of 149,500,000 overseas listed foreign shares with a
par value of RMB1 per share on 31 July 2002. The registered
capital of the Company was increased to RMB539,500,000
after the issuance of overseas listed foreign shares.

HBHREMETRLRFNHD REREEE
(RBHEPD) ME B S R ZACEMRAD FE
MR EE -

BEAXRER

LM AR AR (ARAF])E—RER
EAREMEAERAFMAZIORGER
DA ARBHEAFINTHEHEXS
RAE —ET_FERBAREEZ UA(H
REEBZR L THEOBERAGINILE)
(BB M [2002]1539) U ECERREE
bR AR AR AR AN EENE K
(F&LZE A R[2002]348%%) #E & - S®YITH
T EEBR AN _ZEE _FIA=
THEEANFEEAER RZZT=
FRAAT " HEBEERIARTF - AR
BERBARNTMSEEEERBEN
(PEEANEERR) (LS EANRE
91440300192317458F) » X Fr A EREA FI
MABH EEFHELELEA - # Mt
RERE RY T 1L ¥ b 28 8 BR 300998 ©

AATEEETARMAFBHEMELRS
AR#390,000F 7t + B2 A 42 %8 A390,000F
f% - BEREEAREIT -

K-_ETZ_FNA+T _HABENKRRQ AR
BRRAGRE  TEREAREEZ(ERRA
BB ER AR EAEIINEENRAIN
7B (B & Z (P k[2002]4235%) Al A B 75 BS
C(EARREL AN B R AR ETHEIN
EINEREHETE) (B BB & F[2002]195%)
S E - BB BB ATILE © RN F]
RIZEE—F+LAZ+BHESEIINEREE
BN EmANE R 149,500 F % - HREIEA
R o AR REATIHIN ETHINE R BT
&A= ARS39,500F 7T °
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CORPORATE BACKGROUND (CONTINUED)

As approved by the “Reply of Consenting to the Increase
of Share Capital of BYD Company Limited by the Ministry
of Commerce” (Shang Zi Pi [2008] No. 490) issued by the
Ministry of Commerce, the “Reply of the Increase of Share
Capital of BYD Company Limited” (Shen Mao Gong Zi Fu [2008]
No. 1240) issued by Shenzhen Bureau of Trade and Industry
and the Company’s 2008 first extraordinary general meeting
held on 20 March 2008, the creation of 28 ordinary shares for
every 10 shares by way of capitalisation of capital reserves,
representing a total increase of 1,510,600,000 shares with a
par value of RMB1 per share based on the Company’s total
share capital of 539,500,000 shares as at 30 June 2007. The
total share capital was increased from RMB539,500,000 to
RMB2,050,100,000 upon completion of the capitalisation.

As approved by the “Reply of Approval for the Issuance of
Additional Overseas Listed Foreign Shares by BYD Company
Limited” (Zheng Jian Xu Ke [2009] No0.643) issued by CSRC,
the Company issued additional 225,000,000 overseas
listed foreign shares with a par value of RMB1 per share to
MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company on 30 July 2009. As
approved by the “Reply of the Capital Increase by Foreign
Investment Enterprises in BYD Company Limited” (Shen Mao
Gong Zi Fu [2009] No. 1715)” issued by Shenzhen Bureau of
Trade and Industry, the total share capital of the Company was
increased from RMB2,050,100,000 to RMB2,275,100,000 and
its industrial and business change registration was completed
in September 2009.

As approved by the “Reply of Approval for the Initial Public
Offering of Shares by BYD Company Limited” (Zheng Jian Xu
Ke [2011] No. 881) issued by CSRC, the Company initially
issued domestically listed shares targeting the public (A
shares). The shares issued were ordinary shares with a par
value of RMB1 per share, and the number of shares issued was
79,000,000 shares at an issue price of RMB18.00 per share.
On 30 June 2011, the A shares of the Company were listed
and commenced trading on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

B % R AR MR

31 December 2022
—E--F+-A=1+—8H
RMB’000
AREETFTT
HEARER (58
KEBH(ABHBERRE L EERD
PR B8 I A% AN @9 #HE 78 ) (7 & 41E[2008]490
) FYNMESTERCER L DMk
MBERARIGNEAME) FEIEE
[2008]12405%) AR A AR ZEENF=A =
THBAMNZEENFF - ABERIERE
o MZZEZREF A= THARTLRK
539,500 F R AEE - LEAXRAEZE0
[ 4EIE08R% 7 75 TG INAARR AN+ FhEHEE I A%
781,510,600 F 3% - BRREEAREIT @ &
IREEIE TR R - IRARREE R ARMS539,500
FoigaE AR%?2,050,100F 7T °

P EFEe(EN L BB M ARA
BIEEIEAN EHINERMALE) (BEFA
[2009]1643%%) #L /& - "R B R T NF
t A=+ BAEPERFIZR AR TR
225,000 F B3IBHN ETHANE R - BEREEA
REAT - RV TEIR(ENINE D E
LR B ERAREENSEE) (FEIE
E[2009]171550) #L/fE + R AR A 4B AR
AR#2,050,100F mig = AR 2,275,100
Fo  TRZZEZNAFNAEKNIBETE
Ele

KhBAFES(ERZ AL TERDBR
RABRAFABTRENIE) (BERA
[2011]8815R) 1% + R AT & REITIRRA
e BB AR) - ZXBETHRESR
BREEBARBITHTAER  B1THEA
79,000 F % - #HITEBLAERARE18.00
Lo MRZE——FRNAZ+TH ARAAK
BREERINEHR DR ETRS -
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31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H
RMB’000

AREFIT

As approved by the “Reply of Approval for the Issuance of
Additional Overseas Listed Foreign Shares by BYD Company
Limited” (Zheng Jian Xu Ke [2014] No. 466) issued by
CSRC, the Company completed the issuance of additional
121,900,000 overseas listed foreign shares with a par value of
RMB1 per share on 30 May 2014. As approved by the “Reply
of the Capital Increase by BYD Company Limited” (Shen Jing
Mao Xin Xi Zi Zi [2014] No. 542)” issued by Shenzhen Bureau
of Trade and Industry, the total share capital of the Company
was increased from RMB2,354,100,000 to RMB2,476,000,000
and its industrial and business change registration was
completed in July 2014.

As approved by the “Reply of Approval for the Non-Public
Issuance of Shares by BYD Company Limited” (Zheng Jian Xu
Ke [2016] No. 176) issued by CSRC, the Company completed
the non-public issuance of 252,143,000 A shares with a par
value of RMB1 per share on 25 July 2016. As approved by
the “Reply of the Capital Increase by BYD Company Limited”
(Shen Jing Mao Xin Xi Zi Zi [2016] No. 536) issued by
Shenzhen Bureau of Trade and Industry, the total share capital
of the Company was increased from RMB2,476,000,000 to
RMB2,728,143,000 and its industrial and business change
registration was completed in July 2016.

As approved by the “Reply of Approval for the Issuance of
Overseas Listed Foreign Shares by BYD Company Limited”
(Zheng Jian Xu Ke [2021] No. 83) issued by CSRC, the
Company completed the issuance of additional 133,000,000
overseas listed foreign shares with a par value of RMB1 per
share on 28 January 2021. With the approval of Shenzhen
Administration for Market Regulation, the total share capital
of the Company was increased from RMB2,728,143,000 to
RMB2,861,143,000 and its industrial and business change
registration was completed in February 2021. The Company
completed the issuance of additional 50,000,000 overseas
listed foreign shares with a par value of RMB1 per share on 9
November 2021. With the approval of Shenzhen Administration
for Market Regulation, the total share capital of the Company
was increased from RMB2,861,143,000 to RMB2,911,143,000
and its industrial and business change registration was
completed in December 2021.

As of 31 December 2022, the total accumulated issued share
capital of the Company amounted to 2,911,143,000 shares.

L CORPORATE BACKGROUND (CONTINUED) — - EBEXER(E)

CHRBEFES (R ZEL TR MERD
AIEBEIRIN EMINERMALTE) (BB A
[2014]4665)#E - RARR_ZZ—MFh
A=+ HBEMIGE RN ETINE 121,900
T SREBEAREIT - ©FXYMEL
RN B MmN ERAGIEENIE)
(REE 1z BE F[2014]54255) b )ff - ARA A
AR EZE R A R #2354 100 F ot AR
2,476,000F 7T * WAZZT—MNF+/THKLT
SR

whEFEe(ERZALTBRRHABR
ANEFEAHABITRENIE) (BEFT
[2016]1765R) /& - RARINZZE—RF L
AZ+HBEREKIEAFAEITAR252,143F
B SREEBAREIT - KRINTELR
(AR ERHBRARIBENIE) OF
KE{E BB F[2016]5365%) Htf + AR EK
RNEFER ARYE2,476,000F TIRE AR
2,728143F L WRZZE—AFELAZKT
P B e

wHEFEe(ERZELTERHDBRA
BIETRINLEMINEROAE) (BEFT
[20211835%) 1% * AARIN=—_E=—F—A
Z+)\B TR EEIFE SN T ANE IR 133,000
Tt BREEAREAT - £FYIMHE
EETERZE  ARARNHBEAARE
2,728,143 F Lt = ARM2,861,143F 7L
VWAZZEZ—F_AZKIEEEELD - &
RANZEZ—F+— AL HEKIEEIRI
EWINE 50,000 F % - B EEAREA
T RV TS EBEEERZE AAF
fin 42 5Em A RE2,861, 143 T LB EARE
2911,143F 0 TR=ZE=——F+=-A%K
TR EEL -

BHE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—H ARQ#AZ
TR AL E 2,911,143 FR% -
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CORPORATE BACKGROUND (CONTINUED)

The principal operating activities of the Group are:
manufacture and sale of lithium batteries and other batteries,
chargers, electronic devices, appliances and instruments,
flexible printed circuits, hardware products, handset
components, molds, medical devices, industrial protective
equipment, plastic products and relevant accessories; import
and export of commodities and technologies (excluding
distribution of imports); general road freight transportation;
research, development, production and sales of 3D eye
glasses and global positioning system (“GPS”); acting as the
General Distributor of BYD Auto Co., Ltd. to engage in the
sales, wholesale and exports of passenger vehicles, electric
vehicles and their components under the BYD brand and to
provide after-sales services; sales of battery management
system, converter cabinet, inverter cabinet/device, junction
box, switchboard, energy storage unit; research and sales
of electric vehicle components; research and development
of key components of new energy vehicles, and research,
development and sales of the key parts and units of the
aforesaid components; research, development, design,
sales, leasing and after-sale services of rail transportation
equipment (including rail vehicles, engineering machines,
various mechanical and electrical equipment, electronic
equipment and parts, electrical and electronic components,
signal systems of rail vehicles, communication and integrated
monitoring systems and devices) (excluding products
managed by State operated enterprises; application shall
be made in accordance with relevant state regulations for
products subject to quota or authorisation requirements or
other specially-regulated products); research, development,
design and sales of rail beams and pillars; leasing of self-
owned properties; design, production, agency services and
publication of advertisements; information and technology
consulting services, technology services.

The Company'’s direct largest shareholder and ultimate largest
shareholder is Wang Chuan-fu, a natural person, with a
shareholding percentage of 17.81%.

BYD Company Limited, established in the PRC, is the parent
company and ultimate parent company of the Group.

The financial statements were approved by the board of
directors of the Company by way of resolution on 28 March
2023. According to the Articles of Association, the financial
statements will be submitted to the general meeting for
approval.

B % R AR MR

31 December 2022
—E--F+-A=1+—8H
RMB’000
AREETFTT
BEA&RAER (48)
AEBZTELEES A BB TEMURE
HEM TER EFTEM: BEREX - Z
MRER Ae®m FESEMG EE -
BERW - LEMERR - ZBEMKEE
BAMHmEE B8 EMEEMEL A
(TEEODH)  BELAREE  3DRE
GPSEMEMMITE « AEREE  EAL
A BEAR AR MM EEAE &
BWBLHEHE NELALEOERASE -
EHERETHEM S  EMLA
RIEEERE  BHOEERS  BRRE ¥
BN, 2% - [EmAE - FARIE - REREEAEREY
B ABEEFREME - HE  MERAE
FARTEHHHEAR T HNERT
% BHEOWE - HE  REIRERRE
(EHERESER - TEEW  SEBRER
B EBEFRERTHH BEFERHG - 91E
RiBERRES BEMMIEEZERFEIE)
e - A - HE - HEHEHEERBNY
MEEESERYm PN TAEE
BREMEBEENEDR  REREBHTE
PHERE)  BUBRENE - RE - HE
BEMERE  ESHRE 2F - REBRE
5 (5B EBRMHNH - RRS -

ARFEEE —ABRRMEL S —ARRS
REAANTEE  BREGIB17.81% -

AEBNBRRMKEGRE BN EKL
Bt R BIR AR

AP BHMRELARBAEFTEN _T_=F
AT NBREME - REARAER
KM BHREGERBRRAREEZ °
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31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H
RMB’000

AREFIT

The consolidation scope for consolidated financial statement
is determined based on the concept of control. For details of
changes during the year, please refer to Note VI.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the “Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises- Basic
Standard” issued by the Ministry of Finance and the specific
accounting standards, application guidelines, interpretations
and other relevant regulations issued and revised thereafter
(collectively known as the “ASBE”).

The Company has historically adopted Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards for the preparation of financial statements
for information disclosure on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). According
to the “Consultation Conclusions on Acceptance of Mainland
Accounting and Auditing Standards and Mainland Audit Firms
for Mainland Incorporated Companies Listed in Hong Kong”
published by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in December
2010, the Company has decided to prepare financial
statements in accordance with Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises and related provisions issued by the
Ministry of Finance of China for information disclosure on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange since this financial year.

The financial statements are prepared on going concern basis.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current liabilities
of RMB92,541,054,000. In view of such circumstances, the
management of the Company has given consideration to the
future liquidity and financial resources available to the Group,
which mainly include the net cash flows generated from the
Group’s operating activities and sufficient financial credit
facilities, in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the management of the Company is of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

In the preparation of the financial statements, all items are
recorded by using historical cost as the basis of measurement
except for some financial instruments. Impairment provision
is made according to relevant regulation if the assets are
impaired.

L CORPORATE BACKGROUND (CONTINUED) — - EBEXER(E)

BOHM IR S G E AR B B R
E o AFEEBERS RMEN -

MBBRORRER

R BEHRIZBM BE M (DE ST E
A - EAREL) AR EILRMG REFTH AR
SRHER - ERER - BEAREMHERER
EmREIEEEERDRR -

ARAAE-ERAEBPEREERRE
HPBHRRBIEEBTERERZAARIDA
([EEBIMDNESKE - REFEBR
R —ZT—FTF+ - FREN(ERAERH®
B TR AMEMRIZ AR ERA AL
VAT 2E R DA K B R A & 5T A S5 7% B B
AR BRMIBEERRG  AABRE
PR IR B B DR M KR R ERD
KA ERAEMBRRBIEERT BB
M= BRE -

R BMERIANFEL S BEMY|H - BEZ
ToF+ZA=+—H8 XEEFRFE
BEAARMI2 541,054F L ERERES
N AR EREANEASEEESSAHR
AP BERNFELER  BEZERAEED
KEBBESHRAARATEAOTEER
TEBRASEELE EHEENESRETF
BENEEARHESREERE  T2lH%
EESHERMEREEFELE T ENMN
Al ARRIEEBRAEUBERLE R
AEMREAMBHREZEEN -

BT HHRAE - BRRLESRTAN - 5
MESL KA RTERA - BEMRE LR
18 - AIRRARAER RAAEARESERE -
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The specific accounting policies and accounting estimation
prepared by the Group based on actual production and
operation characteristics mainly include revenue recognition
and measurement, provisions for expected credit losses on
financial instruments and contract assets, amortisation of
intangible assets, research and development expenses and
other capitalisation conditions, and impairment of non-current
assets, etc.

Statement of compliance with ASBE

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the ASBE, and presented truly and completely the
financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31
December 2022 and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for the year 2022.

Financial year

The financial year of the Group is from 1 January to 31
December of each calendar year.

Reporting currency

The Company’s reporting currency and the currency used
in preparing the financial statements were Renminbi. The
amounts in the financial statements were denominated in
thousands of Renminbi, unless otherwise stated.

The Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
determine their reporting currency according to the major
economic environment in which they operate the business,
and translate into Renminbi when preparing the financial
statements.

Business combination

Business combinations are classified into business
combinations involving entities under common control and
business combinations not involving entities under common
control.

Business combinations involving entities under common
control

A business combination involving entities under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
entities are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties
both before and after the business combination, and that
control is not transitory.

B % R AR MR

31 December 2022
—EF+=-A=+—H
RMB’000

AREETFTT

EEEBERRE

AEERBEREELLERHGIETARS

BRI E TR T ERBEERANER
M2  eMIAENMAREERHEREL
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Business combination (continued)

Business combinations involving entities under common
control (continued)

Assets and liabilities obtained by combining party in the
business combination involving entities under common control
(including goodwill arising from the acquisition of the merged
party by the ultimate controller) are recognised on the basis
of their carrying amounts at the combination date recorded on
the financial statements of the ultimate controlling party. The
difference between the carrying amount of the consideration
paid for the combination (or aggregate face values of the
shares issued) and the carrying amount of the net assets
obtained is adjusted to capital reserves. If the capital reserve is
not sufficient to absorb the difference, any excess is adjusted
to retained profits.

Business combinations not involving entities under common
control

A business combination not involving entities under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
entities are not ultimately controlled by the same party or
parties both before and after the business combination.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition
date.

The excess of the sum of the consideration paid (or equities
issued) for business combination and equity interests in the
acquiree held prior to the date of acquisition over the share
of the attributable net identifiable assets of the acquiree,
measured at fair value, was recognised as goodwill, which is
subsequently measured at cost less cumulative impairment
loss. In case the fair value of the sum of the consideration
paid (or equities issued) and equity interests in the acquire
held prior to the date of acquisition is less than the fair value
of the share of the attributable net identifiable assets of the
acquiree, a review of the measurement of the fair values of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the
consideration paid for the combination (or equity issued) and
the equity interests in the acquiree held prior to the date of
acquisition is conducted. If the review indicates that the fair
value of the sum of the consideration paid (or equities issued)
and equity interests in the acquiree held prior to the date of
acquisition is indeed less than the fair value of the share of
the attributable net identifiable assets of the acquiree, the
difference is recognised in profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Business combination (continued)

Business combinations not involving entities under common
control (continued)

In a business combination involving entities not under
common control achieved in stages, the Group remeasures
its long-term equity interest in the acquiree held before the
acquisition date at the fair value of the equity interest at
the acquisition date. The difference between the fair value
and the book value is recognised in the profit or loss. Other
comprehensive income recognised on the long-term equity
interest in the acquiree held before the acquisition date under
the equity method is accounted for on the same basis as the
investee directly disposes of relevant assets or liabilities, and
changes in shareholders’ equity other than the net profit or
loss, other comprehensive income and profit distribution are
transferred to the profit or loss at the acquisition date. For
the equity investment instrument of the acquiree held before
the acquisition date, the fair value changes of the equity
investment instrument accumulated in other comprehensive
income before the acquisition date are transferred to retained
profit or loss.

Consolidated financial statements

The consolidation scope for consolidated financial statement
is determined based on the concept of control, including
the Company and all subsidiaries’ financial statements.
Subsidiaries are those enterprises or entities which the Group
has control over (including enterprises, separable components
of investee units and structured entities controlled by the
Company).

The consolidated financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. Where the accounting
policies adopted by subsidiaries are probably inconsistent
with those of the Company, appropriate adjustments are
made to the subsidiaries’ financial statements in accordance
with the accounting policies of the Company. All assets,
liabilities, equities, income, costs and cash flows arising from
intercompany transactions, and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Consolidated financial statements (continued)

The excess of current loss attributable to minority shareholders
of a subsidiary over their entitlements to the opening balance
of shareholders’ equity shall be charged to minority interests.

For subsidiaries obtained through a business combination
not involving entities under common control, the operating
results and cash flows of the acquirees will be recognised in
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group
effectively obtains the control until the date that control is
terminated. When consolidated financial statement is prepared,
the subsidiaries’ financial statements will be adjusted based
on the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities at the acquisition date.

For subsidiaries obtained through a business combination
involving entities under common control, the operating result
and cash flow of the party being combined will be recognised
in consolidated financial statement from the beginning of
the current period during which the combination occurs. In
preparing the comparative consolidated financial statements,
adjustments were made to relevant items in financial
statements in previous periods as if the reporting entity formed
after the consolidation had been in existence since the ultimate
controlling party started to exercise effective control.

In the event of the change in one or more elements of control
as a result of changes in relevant facts and conditions, the
Group reassesses whether it has control over the investee.

Where there is no loss of control, the change in minority
interests is accounted for as equity transaction.

Classification of joint venture arrangements and joint
operation

Joint venture arrangements are in the form of joint operation
or joint venture enterprise. A joint operation is a joint venture
arrangement under which the joint venture parties are entitled
to assets and undertake liabilities under the arrangement. A
joint venture enterprise is a joint venture arrangement under
which the joint venture parties are only entitled to the net
assets under such arrangement.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Classification of joint venture arrangements and joint
operation (continued)

The following items should be recognised by a joint venture
party in relation to its share of profit in the joint operation:
solely held assets, as well as jointly held assets according to
its share; solely assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed
liabilities according to its share; income derived from its
entitled share of production of the joint operation; income
derived from the sales of production of the joint operation
according to its share; solely incurred expenses, as well as
expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its share.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and deposits readily available
for payments. Cash equivalents represent short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash, and subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Foreign currency translation

For foreign currency transactions, the Group translates the
foreign currency into its functional currency.

Upon initial recognition, foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency using the median
exchange rate published by the PBOC at the beginning of
the month in which transactions occur. At the balance sheet
date, foreign currency monetary items are translated using the
spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date. The translation
differences arising from the settlement and foreign currency
monetary items, except those relating to foreign currency
monetary items eligible for the capitalisation shall be dealt
with according to the principle of capitalisation of borrowing
costs, are recognised in profit or loss. The foreign currency
monetary items designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s
net investment of a foreign operation are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which the cumulative amount is reclassified to the profit
or loss for the current period. Also at the balance sheet date,
foreign currency non-monetary items measured at historical
cost continue to be translated using the spot exchange rate
at the dates of the transactions and it does not change its
carrying amount in functional currency. Foreign currency non-
monetary items measured at fair value are translated using
the spot exchange rate. The differences arising from the
above translations are recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income according to the nature of foreign
currency non-monetary items.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

The Group translates the functional currencies of foreign
operations into Renminbi when preparing the financial
statements. Asset and liability items in the balance sheet are
translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing at the balance
sheet date. Owners’ equity items, except for “undistributed
profits”, are translated at the spot exchange rates at the date
when such items arose. Income and expense items in the
income statement are translated using the average exchange
rate for the periods when transactions occur (unless the
adoption of such exchange rate is considered inappropriate
owing to exchange rate fluctuations, in which case the spot
exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaction shall be
adopted). Translation differences arising from the aforesaid
translation of financial statements denominated in foreign
currency shall be recognised as other comprehensive income.
When foreign operations are disposed, other comprehensive
income relating to the foreign operation is transferred to
profit or loss. Partial disposal shall be recognized on a pro-
rata basis. For foreign currency monetary items that are not
repayable in the foreseeable future and that in substance
constitute a net investment in a foreign subsidiary and are
reflected in a currency other than the reporting currency of
the parent subsidiary, management eliminates the exchange
differences arising from such foreign currency monetary items
of the parent subsidiary and the difference is included in
exchange difference on foreign currency translation.

Cash flows denominated in foreign currencies and foreign
subsidiaries’ cash flows are translated using the average
exchange rate for the period when cash flows occur (unless the
adoption of such exchange rate is considered inappropriate
owing to exchange rate fluctuations, in which case the spot
exchange rate prevailing on the date on which the cash flow
is incurred shall be adopted). The impact on cash by the
fluctuation of exchange rates is presented as a separate line
item of reconciliation in the cash flow statement.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial instruments refer to the contracts which give rise to
a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument in another entity.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability
when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.

A financial asset (or part of it, or a part of a group of similar
financial asset) is derecognised when one of the following
criteria is met, that is, when a financial asset is written off from
its account and balance sheet:

1) The right of receiving the cash flow generated from the
financial asset has expired;

2) The right of receiving cash flow generated by the
financial assets is transferred, or an obligation of
paying the full amount of cash flow received to third
parties in a timely manner has been undertaken under
“pass-through” agreements, where (a) substantially
all risks and rewards of the ownership of such type of
financial assets have been transferred, or (b) control
over such type of financial assets has not been retained
even though substantially all risks and rewards of the
ownership of such type of financial assets have been
neither transferred nor retained.

If the obligation of financial liability has been fulfilled, cancelled
or expired, the financial liability is derecognised. If the present
financial liability is substituted by the same debtor with another
liability differing in substance, or the terms of the present
liability have been substantially modified, this substitution or
modification is treated as derecognition of the present liability
and recognition of a new liability with any arising differences
recognised in profit or loss.

Conventional dealings in financial assets are recognised
or derecognised under the trade day accounting method.
Conventional dealings refer to the receipt or delivery of
financial assets within periods stipulated by the law and
according to usual practices. The trade day is the date on
which the Group undertakes to buy or sell a financial asset.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and valuation of financial assets

At initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets
into: financial assets at amortised cost, financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, or financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss according to the Group’s
business model for managing financial assets and the contract
cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Only if the
Group changes its business model for managing financial
assets, all affected related financial assets can be reclassified.

Financial assets are measured at fair value at initial
recognition, provided that trade receivables or bills receivable
not containing significant financing components or for which
financing components of not more than 1 year are not taken
into consideration shall be measured at their transaction prices
at initial recognition.

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the
relevant transaction costs are directly recognised in profit or
loss; for other financial assets, the relevant transaction costs
are recognized in their initial recognition amount.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets is dependent
on its classification:

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Financial assets fulfilling all of the following conditions are
classified as financial assets at amortised cost: the objective
of the Group’s business management model in respect of such
type of financial assets is to generate contract cash flow; the
contract terms of such type of financial assets provide that
cash flow generated on specific dates represents interest
payment in relation to principal amounts based on outstanding
principal amounts only. Interest income from such type of
financial assets are recognised using the effective interest
rate method, and any profit or loss arising from derecognition,
amendments or impairment shall be charged to profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and valuation of financial assets (continued)

Debt instrument at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets fulfilling all of the following conditions are
classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income: the objective of the Group’s business
management model in respect of such type of financial assets
is both to generate contract cash flow and to sell such type of
financial assets; the contract terms of such type of financial
assets provide that cash flow generated on specific dates
represents interest payment in relation to principal amounts
based on outstanding principal amounts only. Interest income
from this type of financial assets are recognized using the
effective interest rate method. Other than interest income,
impairment loss and exchange differences which shall be
recognised as profit or loss, other fair value changes shall be
included in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition
of the financial assets, the cumulative gains or losses
previously included in other comprehensive income shall be
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss.

Equity instrument investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The Group irrevocably chooses to designate certain non-
trading equity instrument investments as financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and only the relevant dividend income (excluding dividend
income explicitly recovered as part of investment cost) is
included in profit or loss for the period. Subsequent changes
in fair value are included in other comprehensive income with
no impairment provision required. When the financial assets
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred
from it and included in retained earnings.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and valuation of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets other than the above-mentioned financial
assets measured at amortised cost and financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. For such financial assets, fair value is used for
subsequent measurement, and all changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss for the period.

Classification and valuation of financial liabilities

Except for financial guarantee contracts signed, the Group
classifies its financial liabilities at initial recognition: financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and financial
liabilities at amortised cost. For financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, the relevant transaction costs are directly
recognised in profit or loss; for financial liabilities at amortised
cost, the relevant transaction costs are recognised in their
initial recognition amount.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities is
dependent on its classification:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading (comprising derivatives
classified as financial liabilities) and financial liabilities
designated at initial recognition to be measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial liabilities held for trading
(comprising derivatives classified as financial liabilities) are
subsequently measured at fair value, and all changes in fair
value are included in profit or loss. The Group subsequently
measures financial liabilities that are designated at fair value
through profit or loss at fair value. Except that changes in fair
value arising from changes to the Group’s own credit risks
are recorded in other comprehensive income, other changes
in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. Unless inclusion
of changes in fair value arising from changes to the Group’s
own credit risks in other comprehensive income will cause or
expand accounting mismatch in the gains or losses, the Group
records all changes in fair value (including affected amount of
changes to the own credit risks) in the profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and valuation of financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial instruments

The Group performs impairment assessment on financial
assets at amortised cost, debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts based on expected credit losses and
recognises provision for impairment losses.

For receivables and contract assets that do not contain
significant financing components, the Group adopts a
simplified measurement method to measure provision for
impairment losses based on an amount equivalent to expected
credit losses for the entire period.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

For financial assets and financial guarantee contracts other
than those measured with simplified valuation methods, the
Group evaluates at each balance sheet date whether its credit
risk has significantly increased since initial recognition. The
period during which credit risk has not significantly increased
since initial recognition is considered the first stage, at which
the Group shall measure impairment loss provision based
on the amount of expected credit loss for the next 12 months
and shall compute interest income according to the book
balance and effective interest rate; the period during which
credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition
although no credit impairment has occurred is considered the
second stage, at which the Group shall measure impairment
loss provision based on the amount of expected credit loss
for the entire valid period and shall compute interest income
according to the book balance and effective interest rate; The
period during which credit impairment has occurred after initial
recognition is considered the third stage, at which the Group
shall measure impairment loss provision based on the amount
of expected credit loss for the entire period and shall compute
interest income according to the amortised cost and effective
interest rate. For financial instruments with relatively low credit
risk at the balance sheet date, the Group assumes its credit
risk has not significantly increase since initial recognition.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

The GroupMassessed the expected credit losses of the credit-
impaired financial assets on the individual basis;@assessed
the expected credit losses of the financial assets on the
individual basis in case a modification or re-negotiation of a
contract between the Group and a counterparty may result in
a change to the contractual cash flows without resulting in the
derecognition of the financial assets;@assessed the expected
credit loss of other financial assets based on their aging
portfolio.

For the Group’s criteria for judging whether credit risks have
significantly increased, the definition of assets subjected to
credit impairment, please refer to Note VIII. 4.

The Group’s measurement of ECL of financial instruments
reflects factors including unbiased probability weighted
average amount recognized by assessing a series of possible
results, time value of money, reasonable and supportable
information related to historical events, current condition and
forecast of future economic position that is available without
undue cost or effort at the balance sheet date.

When the Group no longer reasonably expects to be able
to fully or partially recover the contract cash flow of financial
assets, the Group directly writes down the book balance of
such financial assets.

Offsetting of financial instruments

If the following conditions are met, financial assets and
financial liabilities are presented in the balance sheet with
the net amount after offsetting each other; there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amount; net
settlement, or simultaneous realisation of the financial assets
and settlement of the financial liabilities is planned.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract under which the
issuer shall indemnify the contract holder suffering losses with
a specified amount in the event that the debtor fails to repay
its debt in accordance with the terms of the debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are measured at fair value at
initial recognition, other than financial guarantee contracts
designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss after initial recognition, other financial guarantee contracts
shall be subsequently measured at the higher of the amount
of provision for expected credit loss determined as at the
balance sheet date and the amount at initial recognition less
the cumulative amortised amount determined in accordance
with revenue recognition principles.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Profit or loss arising from changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments shall be directly recognised in profit or loss.

Transfer of financial assets

If the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards associated with the ownership of a financial asset to
the transferee, the asset should be derecognised. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
financial asset, the asset should not be derecognised.

When the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, it may either derecognise the financial asset
and recognise any associated assets and liabilities if control
of the financial asset has not been retained; or recognizes the
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in
the transferred financial asset and recognises an associated
liability if control has been retained.

B % R AR MR

31 December 2022
—EF+=-A=+—H
RMB’000

ARBEFIT

EEETRERE A (8

ERMIA@E
MBERE

MBRERAEF - REBEEHAZHTER
REGLAGKENERE  BTHRARE
BRNARKAEARNEESENGR - &
BERERAENKBAFLZBA A EBER
E BREERUNAAEEAEEEZHTA
EHESNERBENMBERARN - H
HRUBEREFENRERARRBREERE
F AEE A ERBRERS BN E
B BENRR 1R IR U A R R A R E 1) R 5H
HRENHREMENAREETRETE -

PTEZHITA

AEEFERTASHIA - TESRTAY
WBMAMTER AR E BN AR BEET
AR UUHEAARBEETERENE - AR
BEAREBNTESRIARRAR —BE
E - ARBERRBNERS—HAE-

MTETAAABEEHELNNERIERE
EETAEHER -

EHEEBE

AEBECHEREEMGR LETMENR
BINHMEBRBATN  KRILERZ SR
BE RETLZREEMBELETRAN
B MR - TR ILFERZEREE °

AEBBREEBHRERESRMEENA
BLEAFHRAENRBRMRMN - 25T
MBI METHZEMEEREHN - &1L
HRZEMEEYHRELNEEMEE
AMBEHZEREEZGN  RREEREY
AMBECREENEEEREHERE
= WiREERAREEAE -

135



136

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M RE

31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H
RMB’000

AREETF T

10.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Transfer of financial assets (continued)

Assets formed by the continuing involvement by way of the
provision of financial guarantee in respect of the transferred
financial assets shall be recognised as the lower of the
carrying value of the financial asset and the amount of
financial guarantee. The amount of financial guarantee means
the maximum amount among considerations received to be
required for repayment.

Inventories

Inventories include raw materials, work-in-progress, finished
goods and turnover materials, etc.

Inventories are initially recorded at costs. Inventories’ costs
include purchasing costs, processing costs and other costs.
Actual costs of goods delivered are recognised using the
weighted average method. Turnover materials include packing
materials and moulds held for production. Packing materials
are amortised at one-off write-off amortization method when
fetched; Moulds held for production are included in the costs
and expenses based on the estimated times of use.

Inventories are valued using the perpetual inventories stock-
take system.

Inventories at the balance sheet date are stated at the lower
of cost or net realisable value. Provision for impairment of
inventories is made and recognised in profit or loss when the
net realisable value is lower than cost. Net realisable values
represent estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion, estimated selling expenses
and relevant tax amounts. For finished goods, provision for
impairment of inventories is made on an item-by-item basis.
For raw materials, work-in-progress and turnover materials,
provision for impairment of inventories is made on the basis of
individual categories.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Long-term equity investments

Long-term equity investments include equity investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

Long-term equity investments were recorded at initial
investment cost on acquisition. For long-term equity
investments acquired through the business combination of
entities not under common control, the initial investment cost
shall be the cost of combination (for business combinations
of entities not under common control achieved in stages
through multiple transactions, the initial investment cost shall
be the sum of the carrying value of the equity investment in
the acquired party held prior to the date of acquisition and
new investment cost incurred as at the date of acquisition),
which shall be the sum of assets contributed by the acquiring
party, liabilities incurred or assumed by the acquiring party
and the fair value of equity securities issued. Upon disposal
of the investment, other comprehensive income recognised
under the equity method held prior to the date of acquisition
shall be dealt with on the same basis as if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of directly by the investee.
Shareholders’ equity recognised as a result of changes in
shareholders’ equity other than the set-off of profit and loss,
other comprehensive income and profit allocation of the
investee shall be transferred to profit or loss upon disposal
of the investment. Items which remain long-term equity
investments after the disposal shall be accounted for on a pro-
rata basis, while items reclassified as financial instruments
following the disposal shall be accounted for in full. The
initial investment cost of long-term equity investments other
than those acquired through business combination shall
be recognised in accordance with the following: for those
acquired by way of cash payments, the initial investment cost
shall be the consideration actually paid plus expenses, tax
amounts and other necessary outgoings directly related to
the acquisition of the long-term equity investments. For long-
term equity investments acquired by way of the issue of equity
securities, the initial investment cost shall be the fair value of
the equity securities issued.
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11.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Long-term equity investments (continued)

In the financial statements of the Company, the cost method is
used for long term equity investments in investees over which
the Company exercises control. Control is defined as the
power exercisable over the investee, the entitlement to variable
return through involvement in the activities of the investee and
the ability to influence the amount of return using the power
over the investee.

When the cost method is used, long-term equity investments
are measured at initial cost on acquisition. When additional
investments are made or investments are recouped, the
cost of long-term equity investments shall be adjusted. Cash
dividend or profit distribution declared by the investee shall be
recognised as investment gains for the period.

The equity method is used to account for long-term equity
investments when the Group can jointly control and has
significant influence over the invested entity. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
Significant influence means having the authority to take part in
the decision over the financial and operational policies but not
the authority to control or jointly control with other parties the
formulation of such policies.

Under the equity method, any excess of the initial investment
cost over the Company’s share of the fair value of the
investment’s identifiable net assets is included in the initial
investment cost of the long-term equity investment. When the
carrying amount of the investment is less than the Company’s
share of the fair value of the investment’s identifiable net
assets, the difference is recognised in profit or loss of the
current period and debited to long-term equity investment.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Long-term equity investments (continued)

Under the equity method, after the long-term equity
investments are acquired, investment gains or losses and
other comprehensive income are recognised according to the
entitled share of net profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the investee and the carrying amount of the long-
term equity investment is adjusted accordingly. When
recognising the Group’s share of the net profit or loss of the
invested entity, the Group makes adjustments based on fair
values of the investees’ identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy and accounting period to investee’'s net profits,
eliminating pro-rata profit or loss from internal transactions with
joint ventures attributed to investor (except that loss from inter-
group transactions deemed as asset impairment loss shall
be fully recognised), provided that invested or sold assets
constituting businesses shall be excluded. When the invested
enterprise declares profit appropriations or cash dividends, the
carrying amount of investment is adjusted down by the Group’s
share of the profit appropriations and dividends. The Group
shall discontinue recognising its share of the losses of the
investee after the long-term equity investment together with any
long-term interests that in substance forms part of the Group’s
net investment in the investee are reduced to zero, except to
the extent that the Group has incurred obligations to assume
additional losses. The Group also adjusts the carrying amount
of long-term equity investments for other changes in owner’s
equity of the investees (other than the net-off of net profits or
losses, other comprehensive income and profit allocation of
the investee), and includes the corresponding adjustment in
equity.
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11.

12.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Long-term equity investments (continued)

On disposal of the long-term equity investments, the difference
between carrying value and market price is recognised in profit
or loss for the current period. For long-term equity investments
under equity method, when the use of the equity method
is discontinued, other comprehensive income previously
accounted for under the equity method shall be dealt with
on the same basis as if the relevant assets or liabilities were
disposed of directly by the investee. Shareholders’ equity
recognised as a result of changes in shareholders’ equity
other than the net-off of profit and loss, other comprehensive
income and profit allocation of the investee shall be transferred
in full to profit or loss. If the equity method remains in use,
other comprehensive income previously accounted for under
the equity method shall be dealt with on the same basis as
if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of directly
by the investee and transferred to profit or loss on a pro-rata
basis. Shareholders’ equity recognised as a result of changes
in shareholders’ equity other than the net-off of profit and
loss, other comprehensive income and profit allocation of the
investee shall be transferred to profit or loss on a pro-rata
basis.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation, which included buildings leased to
other parties.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost.
Subsequent expenses relating to the investment properties
are charged to investment property costs if there is a probable
inflow of economic benefits relating to the asset and its cost
can be reliably measured; otherwise, those expenditures are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group uses the cost model for subsequent measurement
of investment properties.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties (continued)

For an investment property that is subsequently measured
using the cost model, refer to Note V. 14 for the test for
impairment and recognition of provision for impairment.

Buildings in investment properties are depreciated using
the straight-line method, with estimated useful life of 30-50
years. The useful lives, estimated net residual values and
depreciation methods of investment properties are reviewed
and adjusted as appropriate at least at each year-end.

Fixed Assets

A fixed asset is recognised when, and only when, it is
probable that future economic benefits that are associated
with the fixed asset will flow to the Group and the cost can
be measured reliably. Subsequent expenditures related to a
fixed asset are recognised in the carrying amount of the fixed
asset if the above recognition criteria are met, and the carrying
value of the replaced part is derecognised; otherwise, those
expenditures are recognised in profit or loss as incurred

Fixed assets are initially recognised at cost. Cost of purchased
fixed assets includes purchasing price, relevant taxes, and
any directly attributable expenditure for bringing the asset to
working conditions for its intended use.
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13.

14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

EEETRERE A (8

Fixed Assets (continued) 13. RBEEEEE)
Except freehold lands account no depreciation and except BRok A M L 3 NEHR T DA R B M B3 2R 5
moulds in machinery equipment are depreciated on a unit of FMERERTESETEN - ARHOERAF
production method, others are all depreciated on a straight- fRFI9ERT IR - B FRFETENE T
line basis. The estimated useful lives, estimated residual value BEMMGEAFR B FREXREN
ratio and annual depreciation rates of the fixed assets that are EXxmT:
depreciated on a straight-line basis are as follows:
Estimated
residual
Estimated useful life value ratio  Annual depreciation rate
fEETEAFER EEREREER FIER
Buildings 10-70 years 0%—5% 1.4%-10.0%
FENZEY 10-70%F
Machinery equipment 3-12 years 0%—5% 7.9%-33.3%
HESRRIB 3-12%F
Motor vehicles 3-5 years 0%—5% 19.0%-33.3%
BHITE 3-5%F
Office and other equipment 5 years and below 0%—5% 19.0% and 19.0% above
Wn R B AR A SERSEUT 19.0% % 19.0% LA £
The Group reviews, at least at each year end, useful lives, REEZLREFEERT -  HETEED
estimated residual values and depreciation methods of fixed FRED - EJr FEEEMTE R AETE
assets and makes adjustments if necessary. % WEREITHE -
Construction in progress 14. HEEIR

Construction in progress is measured at the actual construction
expenditures, including necessary project work expenses
incurred during the period while construction is in progress,
borrowing costs subject to capitalisation before they can be
put into use and other related fees.

Construction in progress is transferred into fixed assets when it
is ready for its intended use.

ERTRERARERIEIERTE 85T
EHRZEENSALBETRE - TRES
BERMEAMERHETER O ERER
AR EMBRERE -
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of assets qualified for capitalisation, i.e., fixed
assets, investment properties and inventories that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Other borrowing costs are charged to profit or loss.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs begins where:

1) Capital expenditure has already happened;

2) Borrowing expenses has already incurred;

3) Purchasing or production activities to get the assets
ready for their intended use or sale have already
happened.

The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Borrowing costs incurred afterwards are recognised in profit or
loss.

During capitalisation, interest of each accounting period is
recognised using the following methods:

1) Where funds are borrowed specifically, costs eligible
for capitalisation are the actual costs incurred less any
income earned on the temporary investment of such
borrowings;

2) Where funds are part of a general pool, the eligible
amount is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditure on that asset. The capitalisation rate
will be the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the general pool.

Except for expected suspension under normal situation of
qualifying assets, capitalisation should be suspended during
periods in which abnormal interruption has lasted for more than
three months during the process of acquisition, construction
or production. The borrowing cost incurred during interruption
should be recognised as expenses and recorded in the
income statement until the construction resumes.
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16.

17.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets

At the inception of a lease term, the rights to use lease assets
during the lease term is recognised as right-of-use assets,
initially measured at cost. Right-of-use assets include: the
initially measured amount of lease liabilities; the lease payment
incurred at or prior to the lease inception date, less the lease
incentive amount received where applicable; initial direct
expenses incurred by the lessee; estimated cost to be incurred
by the lessee for demolishing and removing lease assets,
restoring the premises at which the lease assets are located or
restoring the lease assets to the agreed state under the lease
terms. If the Group remeasures lease liabilities due to changes
in lease payments, the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset is adjusted accordingly. In subsequent measurement,
the Group provides depreciation of the right-of-use assets
using the averaging method over the lease term. Where it can
be reasonably ascertained that the ownership over the lease
assets can be obtained upon the conclusion of the lease term,
depreciation is provided over the remaining useful life of the
lease assets. Where the acquisition of the ownership over the
lease assets upon the conclusion of the lease term cannot
be reasonably ascertained, depreciation is provided over the
lease term or the remaining useful life of the lease assets,
whichever is shorter.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised only when it is probable that
economic benefits relating to such intangible assets would
flow into the Group and their cost can be reliably measured.
Intangible assets are initially measured at cost, provided
that intangible assets which are acquired in a business
combination involving parties not under common control and
whose fair value can be reliably measured shall be separately
recognised as intangible assets at fair value.

Useful life of an intangible asset is determined by the period
over which it is expected to bring economic benefits to the
Group. For an intangible asset with no foreseeable limit to the
period over which it is expected to bring economic benefits
to the Group, it is treated as an intangible asset with indefinite
useful life.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (continued)

Useful life of respective intangible assets is as follows:
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Category Estimated useful life
Bh ERSE®
Land use rights 30-99 years
+ b A 30-994F
Industrial property rights and proprietary technologies 2-10 years
TEERIERZM 2-10%F
Non-patented technologies and software 1-5 years
FES N Bl e ey

Land use rights acquired by the Group are normally accounted
for as intangible assets. Land use rights and buildings relating
to plants constructed by the Group are accounted for as
intangible assets and fixed assets, respectively. The costs for
acquiring land and buildings are apportioned between the
land use rights and buildings, or accounted for as fixed assets
if they cannot be apportioned.

Intangible assets formed by new energy vehicle R&D
expenditures are amortised by the output method, and other
intangible assets with definite useful life are amortised over
the useful life on the straight-line basis. The Group reviews, at
least at each year end, useful lives and amortisation method
for intangible assets with definite useful lives and makes
adjustments when necessary.

The Group classifies the expenses for in-house research and
development as research costs and development costs. All
research costs are charged to the profit or loss as incurred.
Development costs are capitalised only when all the following
conditions are met: the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale; its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset; how the asset will generate economic
benefits (including demonstration that the product derived
from the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself will be
marketable or, in the case of internal use, the usefulness of
the intangible asset as such); the availability of technical and
financial resources to complete the project and procure the
use or sale of the intangible asset; and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during the development. Development
costs which do not meet these criteria are recorded in profit or
loss when incurred.
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17.

18.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (continued)

Corresponding projects that meet the above conditions in the
Group are initiated after technical feasibility and economic
feasibility studies. Then, those projects are progressed into
the development phase. Capitalised development costs are
stated as development expenditures in the balance sheet and
transferred to intangible assets at the date when the items are
ready for the intended use.

Impairment

The Group assesses impairment of assets other than
inventories, contract assets and assets related to contract
costs, deferred tax assets and financial assets, using the
methods described below:

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount and performs a test of impairment for the
asset. For goodwill generated from business combination,
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use, tests for impairment are
performed at least annually regardless of whether there are
indications of impairment.

Recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and the present value of its estimated future
cash flows. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of
individual assets on item-by-item basis. When it is difficult
to estimate individually, the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit which the assets belong to will be estimated.
The definition of a cash generating unit (CGU) is determined
on the basis of whether the primary cash inflows generated
by that group are independent of those from other assets or
CGUs.

When the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down
to the recoverable amount, and the amount of write-down
is recognised in profit or loss, with provision for impairment
provided accordingly.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Impairment (continued)

In connection with impairment tests for goodwill, the carrying
amount of goodwill arising from business combination is
allocated to relevant CGUs from the date of acquisition on a
reasonable basis. If it is difficult to allocate such amount to a
relevant CGU, it should be allocated to a relevant CGU group.
A relevant CGU or CGU group is defined as one which can
benefit from the synergies of the business combination and
is not larger than the reporting segments determined by the
Group.

In connection with impairment tests for CGUs or CGU groups
that comprise goodwill, where indications of impairment exist
in a CGU or CGU group related to goodwill, impairment tests
should be performed first on CGUs or CGU groups that do
not comprise goodwill to recognise impairment loss after
estimating the recoverable amount. Then impairment tests
on CGUs or CGU groups that comprise goodwill should be
performed, and the carrying amount and recoverable amount
should be compared. Where the recoverable amount is lower
than the carrying amount, the impairment loss should first be
offset against the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to
CGUs or CGU groups and then against the carrying amount of
other assets in the CGUs or CGU groups other than goodwill in
proportion to the weighting of these assets.

Previously recognised impairment losses are not reversed in
subsequent periods.

Long-term deferred expenditures

Long-term deferred expenditures are expenses which the
Company has paid and carries a term of more than one year,
including improvement costs incurred on fixed assets acquired
by operating lease, amortised on straight-line basis as follows.
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20.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Employee remuneration

Employee remuneration includes all kinds of rewards or
compensation incurred by the Group in exchange for service
rendered by employees or in the termination of employment.
Employee remuneration includes short-term remuneration,
post-employment benefits, termination benefits and other long-
term employees’ benefits. Benefits provided by the Group to
the spouses, children and dependents of employees, families
of deceased employees and their other beneficiaries are also
a part of employee remuneration.

Short-term remuneration

For accounting periods during which services are rendered by
employees, short-term remuneration incurred is recognised as
liability and included in profit or loss or related asset costs.

Post-employment benefits (defined contribution scheme)

The Group’s employees are participants of the pension
and unemployment insurance schemes managed by local
governments, and the relevant expenses are recorded in
related asset costs or profit or loss when incurred.

Post-employment benefits (defined contribution scheme) —
other regions

The Group’s employees in regions other than Mainland China
are participants of the pension schemes managed by local
governments, and the relevant expenses are recorded in
related asset costs or profit or loss when incurred.

Termination benefits

Where termination benefits are provided to employees, liabilities
in employee remuneration are recognised in profit or loss
when: the company is not in a position to withdraw termination
benefits provided under termination plans or redundancy
plans, or costs or expenses relating to the restructuring
exercise which involves the payment of termination benefits
are recognised, whichever is earlier.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Lease liabilities

At the inception of a lease term, outstanding lease payments
are recognised as lease liabilities at their present value,
with the exception of short-term leases and low-value asset
leases. The lease payments comprises fixed payments and in-
substance fixed payments less any lease incentives, variable
lease payment that depends on an index or a rate, amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, and
it also comprises exercise price of a purchase option or
payments required to be made under an option to terminate
the lease, provided that the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option or the lease term reflects the Group is
going to exercise an option to terminate the lease.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
adopts the implied interest rate as the discount rate or the
incremental loan interest rate for the lessee as the discount
rate where the implied interest rate cannot be ascertained.
Interest expenses on lease liabilities over the respective
periods of the lease term are based on fixed cyclical interest
rates and charged to profit or loss, except the presentation
in related asset costs required by other standards. Variable
lease payments not included in lease liabilities are charged to
profit or loss as and when incurred, except the presentation in
related asset costs required by other standards.

After the commencement date of the lease term, the Group
increased the carrying amount of lease liabilities when it
recognizes the interests, and decreases the carrying amount
of the lease liabilities when it makes lease payments. Where
there are changes in the substantial fixed payment amount,
changes in amounts payable expected of the remaining value
of guarantees, changes in the index or ratio used to determine
lease payment amounts, and changes in the assessment
outcome relating to or actual exercise of the call option,
renewal option and termination option, the Group re-measures
the lease liabilities based on present value of the modified
lease payment.
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23.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

Other than contingent consideration and assumed contingent
liabilities in a business combination involving parties not
under common control, the Group recognises as provision an
obligation that is related to contingent matters when all of the
following criteria are fulfilled:

(1) the obligation is a present obligation of the Group;

(2) the obligation would probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits from the Group;

(3) the obligation could be reliably measured.

Provisions are initially valued according to the best estimate
of expenses for performance of present obligations, taking
account of the risk, uncertainty and time value of the currency
that are associated with contingent matters. The carrying
amount of the provisions would be reassessed on every
balance sheet date and adjusted to the best estimated value
if there is certain evidence that the carrying amount cannot
reflect the best estimate.

A contingent liability of the acquiree gained in a business
combination not involving entities under common control is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of the amount that would be recognised on the
basis of estimated liabilities, or the balance of cumulative
amortization amount determined in the principle of the amount
initially recognised less revenue.

Share-based payments

Share-based payments can be distinguished into equity-
settled share-based payments and cash-settled share-
based payments. Equity-settled share-based payments
are transactions of the Group settled through the payment
of shares or other equity instruments in consideration for
receiving services.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments made in exchange for
services rendered by employees are measured at the fair value
of equity instruments granted to employees. Instruments which
are vested immediately upon the grant are charged to relevant
costs or expenses at the fair value on the date of grant and the
capital reserve is credited accordingly. Instruments of which
vesting is conditional upon completion of services or fulfillment
of performance conditions are measured by recognising
services rendered during the period in relevant costs or
expenses and crediting the capital reserve accordingly at
each balance sheet date during the vesting period, based on
the best estimate of the quantity of equity instruments that are
exercisable and the fair value at the grant date. The fair value
of equity instruments is determined by the binomial pricing
model, with details set out in Note XI.

No cost or expense is recognised for awards that are not
ultimately vested due to non-fulfillment of nonmarket conditions
and/or service term conditions. When the share-based
payment agreement specifies market conditions or non-vesting
conditions, the awards are treated as vested provided that all
of other performance conditions and/or service term conditions
are satisfied, irrespective of whether or not the market
conditions or non-vesting conditions are fulfilled.

Where the terms of an equity-settled share-based payment are
modified, as a minimum, services obtained are recognised as if
the terms had not been modified. In addition, any modification
that increases the fair value of the equity instrument granted
or is beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification is recognised as increment of services obtained.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had been vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
Where employees or other parties are permitted to choose
to fulfill non-vesting conditions but have not fulfilled such
conditions during the vesting period, equity-settled share-
based payments are deemed cancelled. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated
as a replacement award on the date when it is granted, the
new award is treated as if it was a modification of the original
award.
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24,

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises its revenue upon the fulfilment of
performance obligations under a contract, namely, when
the customer obtains control over the relevant products or
services. The acquisition of control over relevant products or
services shall mean the ability to direct the use of the products
or the provision of the services and receive substantially all
economic benefits derived therefrom.

Contract for the sales of products

The product sales contract between the Group and its
customers typically includes contractual performance
obligations for the transfer of products. The Group typically
recognises its revenue at the time of fulfilling each performance
obligation, taking into account the following factors: the
acquisition of the current right to receive payments for the
products, the transfer of major risks and rewards of ownership,
the transfer of the legal title of the products, the transfer of the
physical assets of the products, and customers’ acceptance of
the products.

Contract for the rendering of services

For the performance obligations under the contracts for
rendering of services between the Group and its customers,
the Group considers them as performance obligations to be
fulfilled over a period of time and recognises the revenue
according to the progress of performance (except when the
performance progress cannot be reasonably determined),
if customers are able to obtain and consume the economic
benefits brought by the Group’s contractual performance when
the Group performs the contracts and the Group has the right
to receive payments for the performance part that has been
completed so far in the whole contract period. The Group
determines the performance progress for the services provided
in accordance with the input method. When the performance
progress cannot be reasonably determined, the revenue will
be recognised based on the amount of costs incurred if such
costs incurred by the Group are expected to be compensated,
until the performance progress can be reasonably determined.
In addition, for contracts whose performance obligations are
performed at a point in time, the Group recognises revenue at
the time when services are provided.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Construction contract

The construction contracts entered into between the Group
and its customers usually include performance obligations
such as construction services. As the services the Group
provides during the performance of contracts are irreplaceable
and the Group has the right to receive payments for the
performance part that has been completed so far in the whole
contract period, the Group considers these obligations as
performance obligations to be fulfilled over a period of time
and recognises the revenue according to the progress of
performance (except when the performance progress cannot
be reasonably determined). The Group determines the
performance progress for the services provided in accordance
with the output method and on the basis of completion stage
measured practically. When the performance progress cannot
be reasonably determined, the revenue will be recognised
based on the amount of costs incurred if such costs incurred
by the Group are expected to be compensated, until the
performance progress can be reasonably determined.

Variable consideration

Rebates and other arrangements that lead to changes of
agreed considerations under certain contracts between the
Group and its customers will result in variable considerations.
The Group determines the best estimates of variable
considerations based on the expected value or the most
probable amount, provided that transaction prices that include
the variable considerations shall not exceed the cumulative
amount of recognised revenue upon the removal of relevant
uncertainties, in connection with which a significant reversal is
highly unlikely.

Significant financing component

Where a contract contains a significant financing component,
the Group determines the transaction price based on
amounts payable assumed to be settled in cash by customers
immediately upon the acquisition of control over the products
or services. The difference between such transaction price and
contract consideration is amortised over the contract period
using the effective interest rate method based on a ratio that
discounts the nominal contractual consideration to the current
selling price of the products or services.
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24,

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Significant financing component (continued)

The Group shall not give consideration to any significant
financing component in a contract if the gap between the
customer’s acquisition of control over the products and
payment of consideration is expected to be less than one year.

When there is a time gap between the transfer of products
to customers and the payment of customers, the Group shall
judge whether the contract contains a significant financing
component by considering whether the difference between the
contract consideration and the current selling price is caused
by other factors other than the provision of financial benefits to
customers or the Group.

Warranty obligation

The Group provides quality assurance for products sold in
accordance with contract terms and laws and regulations.
The accounting treatment of quality assurance in the form
of warranty assuring customers that products sold are in
compliance with required standards is set out in Note I,
22. Where the Group provides a service warranty for a
standalone service in addition to the assurance of compliance
of products with required standards, such warranty is treated
as a standalone contractual performance obligation, and a
portion of the transaction price shall be allocated to the service
warranty based on a percentage of the standalone price for
the provision of product and service warranty, with the revenue
recognised when the customer acquires control of the service.
When assessing whether a warranty is rendering a standalone
service in addition to providing guarantee to customers that all
the products sold are in compliance with required standards,
the Group considers whether or not such warranty is a
statutory requirement, the term of the warranty and the nature
of the Group’s undertaking to perform its obligations.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Principal/agent

The Group sells products to a customer who is also the supplier
of key materials used in the manufacturing of products. After
acquiring control over these materials from the customer, the
Group provides critical services to integrate these materials
with other products and services to make a combined output
and transfers such output to the customer. In this arrangement,
the Group is deemed as the principal, recognising revenue
by total consideration received or receivable. Otherwise, the
Group is considered as the agent, recognising revenue by
the amounts of commissions or service charges it is expected
to receive, which is the net after deducting the fees paid to
other related parties from the total consideration received or
receivable or is determined by the agreed commission amount
or rate.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

The Group presents contract assets or contract liabilities
on the balance sheet according to the relationship between
contractual performance obligations and customer payments.
Contract assets and contract liabilities under the same contract
are presented on a net basis after set-off.

Contract assets

Contract assets represent the rights to receive considerations
for the transfer of products or services to customers, which are
dependent on factors other than the passage of time.

For details of the Group’s determination and accounting
treatment of expected credit losses from contract assets,
please refer to Note IlI. 9.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer
products or services to customers for the considerations
received or receivable from customers, for instance, amounts
received prior to the transfer of agreed products or services.
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26.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Assets relating to contract costs

The Group’s assets relating to contract costs include contract
acquisition costs and contract performance costs, presented
respectively under inventories, other current assets and other
non-current assets according to their liquidity.

Where the Group expects the incremental costs for acquiring a
contract to be recoverable, such contract acquisition costs are
recognised as an asset (unless the amortisation period of the
asset is not more than one year).

Costs incurred by the Group for the performance of a contract
are recognised as an asset as contract performance costs if
they do not fall under the scope of the relevant standards for
inventories, fixed assets or intangible assets but meet all the
following conditions:

1) they are directly related to a current or anticipated
contract, including direct labour, direct materials,
manufacturing expenses (or similar expenses), to
be borne by customers as specifically stipulated,
and otherwise incurred solely in connection with the

contract;

2) they increase the resources to be utilised in the
Company’s future performance of its contractual
obligations;

3) they are expected to be recoverable.

The Group amortises assets relating to contract costs on the
same basis as that for the recognition of revenue relating to
such assets and recognises the amortised assets in profit or
loss.

For assets relating to contract costs whose carrying amount
is higher than the difference between the following two items,
the Group makes provision for impairment for the excess to be
recognised as asset impairment losses:

(1) the remaining consideration expected to be obtained
as a result of the transfer of goods or services relating
to such assets;

(2) estimated costs to be incurred in connection with the
transfer of relevant goods or services.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. The grant is measured as
the amount received or receivable where it takes the form
of a cash asset, or at fair value where it is not a cash asset.
Where the fair value cannot be reliably obtained, it should be
measured at the nominal value.

In accordance with the stipulations of the government
instruments, government grants applied towards acquisition or
the formation of long-term assets in other manners are asset-
related government grants; grants with unspecific reference
in government instruments and requiring the exercise of
judgement based on the basic conditions for receiving such
grants are treated as asset-related government grants that take
acquisition of long-term assets or formation in other manners
as essential condition; otherwise, grants are recognised as
income-related government grants.

Income-related government grants, if applied to make up
for related costs or losses in future periods, are recognised
as deferred income and recorded in profit or loss in the
period when relevant costs or losses are recognised; if
applied to make up for related costs or losses that have been
incurred, recognised directly in profit or loss. Asset-related
government grants are recognised as deferred income and
included in profit or loss over the useful life of relevant assets
by reasonable and systematic instalments. Government
grants measured at nominal value are directly recognised in
profit or loss. Where the assets concerned are disposed of,
transferred, retired or damaged prior to the end of the useful
life, the balance of the deferred income yet to be allocated is
transferred to the profit or loss for the period when the assets
are disposed of.

For loans provided to the Group at policy-based favorable
interest rates by banks, which are supported by the financial
authorities with discount interest rate funds, the fair value of
borrowings is recognised as the book value, and the borrowing
costs are calculated by the effective rate method, with the
difference between the amount actually received and the fair
value of borrowing recognised as deferred income and the
effective rate method adopted for amortisation during the loan
term to write off borrowing costs. If discount interest rate funds
are directly offered to the Group, the Group shall adopt the
corresponding discount interest to write off relevant borrowing
costs.
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28.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax

The Group recognises deferred taxes by balance sheet liability
method and according to the temporary difference between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities as at the balance
sheet date and the tax base, and the temporary difference
between the carrying amount of items that have not been
recognised as assets and liabilities but of which the tax base
can be determined and the tax base.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

1) where the taxable temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

2) in respect of the taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

1) where the deductible temporary difference arises
from transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

2) where deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are recognised when all following conditions
are met: it is probable that the temporary differences
will be reversed in the foreseeable future, and it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax (continued)

As at the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured in accordance with relevant tax laws at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the assets
are realised or the liabilities are settled, and the Group reports
the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which
the Group expects, at the balance sheet date, to recover the
assets or settle the liabilities.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at
the balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset and
presented as a net amount if the Group has the legal right to
set off deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority, but the taxable entity concerned intends
to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

28.

B % R AR MR

31 December 2022
—E-F+=-A=+—H

RMB’000
ARBET T
EEETRERE A (8
IETE PR 55 ()
AEEREERERA  HRNETHMERE

EMREFAEHAE  KETRERE 2R
BEHREZEESFEZ B ERENERR
KB YRMEEABRAFHMKOEE
HEEEBETANAEHTE

REEREBEXRA  AEBEHETEHMEREE
HREEEETERZ - WRRKRHAMRATAE
EXESREANEANTAGSERNEIRLT
PRSI EENTE  HCELEMESHEER
REEE REEREBERA  AEEEHF
HARBEANELERSEHEE - ERULER
T SEY FE AT P 1S B R A P A SR AR D IR ST T
GHEEBRNRER  BRELEMEHE
o

INRFERNFEEERIEMSHEENET
FRSH B EROAERN - RIRERSHER
— AR EBME — B EE #BFIAER - B
EARRE-EEEZUMRELERSHEEM
BEXEFGEHRAGESEMMEAR - PR

BEEAFEEEEHMMEREEREH
SR EARRAKNEEE  FEREY
A EEFT S E EMEL ISR B E K
FHIRH)FERTIR

159



160

BYD Company Limited
LeEERBBRAT

Notes to Financial Statements

B % ¥R AR M RE

31 December 2022

T F+ZHA=+—H
RMB’000

AREETF T

29.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. If one party to the contract
conveys a right to control the use of one or more identified
assets for a period of time in exchange for consideration, such
contract is, or contains, a lease.

As a lessee

The Group recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets, and accounting treatment is set out in Note Ill. 16 and
Note IlI. 21.

If a contract contains lease components and non-lease
components at the same time, the Group will allocate the
consideration in the contract to each component on the basis
of their respective relative stand-alone price.

Short-term lease and low-value asset lease

A lease with a term of not more than 12 months at the inception
of the lease term and without any call option is recognised
as a short-term lease; lease comprising an individual lease
asset worth not more than RMB30,000 or USD5,000 in brand
new condi